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Cautionary Note Concerning Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including any documents that may be incorporated by reference, may contain forward-looking statements. Forward looking statements can be identified with
words such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “project,” “forecast,” “target,” “outlook,” “may,” “should,” “could,” and similar expressions, as well as statements written in the
future tense. These statements, as well as any other written or oral forward-looking statements we may make from time to time in other SEC filings or other public communications are intended to
qualify for the “safe harbor” from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You should not consider forward-looking statements as guarantees of future
performance or results. When made, forward-looking statements are based on information known to management at such time and/or management’s good faith belief with respect to future
events. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements. Important
factors, assumptions, uncertainties, and risks that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to:
•

duration and severity of a pandemic caused by a novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19”), and its ultimate impact across our business;

•

future economic conditions and trends in the industries we serve;

•

customer capital budgets and spending priorities;

•

the effect of changes in tax law;

•

projections of revenues, income or loss, or capital expenditures;

•

our plans for future operations, growth and services, including contract backlog;

•

our plans for future acquisitions, dispositions, or financial needs;

•

expected benefits and synergies of businesses acquired and future opportunities for the combined businesses;

•

anticipated outcomes of contingent events, including litigation;

•

availability of capital;

•

restrictions imposed by our credit agreement;

•

use of our cash flow to service our debt;

•

potential liabilities and other adverse effects arising from occupational health, safety, and other regulatory matters;

•

potential exposure to environmental liabilities;

•

determinations as to whether the carrying value of our assets is impaired;

•

assumptions relating to any of the foregoing;

•

other risks outlined in our periodic filings with the SEC; and

•

other factors that are discussed within Item 1. Business, Item 1A. Risk Factors and Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. We do not undertake to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances arising after the date of those statements or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events.
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Available Information
Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports are available, free of charge, on our website,
www.dycomind.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after we file these reports with, or furnish these reports to, the SEC. All references to www.dycomind.com in this report are inactive textual
references only and information contained at that website is not incorporated herein and does not constitute a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the SEC maintains a website that
contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers, where you may obtain a copy of all of the materials we file publicly with the SEC. The SEC website
address is www.sec.gov.

PART I
Item 1. Business.
Dycom Industries, Inc. (“Dycom”, the “Company”, “we”, or “us”) is a leading provider of specialty contracting services throughout the United States. Since our incorporation in the State of
Florida in 1969, we have expanded our scope and service offerings organically and through acquisitions. Our geographic presence and substantial workforce provide the scale needed to quickly
execute on opportunities to service existing and new customers. Our consolidated contract revenues for fiscal 2021 were $3.2 billion.
We supply telecommunications providers with a comprehensive portfolio of specialty services, including program management; planning; engineering and design; aerial, underground, and
wireless construction; maintenance; and fulfillment services for telecommunications providers. Additionally, we provide underground facility locating services for various utilities, including
telecommunications providers, and other construction and maintenance services for electric and gas utilities. We supply the labor, tools, and equipment necessary to provide these services to our
customers.
Engineering Services. We provide engineering services to telecommunications providers, including the planning and design of aerial, underground, and buried fiber optic, copper, and coaxial
cable systems that extend from the telephone company hub location, or cable operator headend, to the consumer’s home or business. We also plan and design wireless networks in connection with the
deployment of new and enhanced macro cell and new small cell sites. Additionally, we obtain rights of way and permits in support of our engineering activities and those of our customers as well as
provide program and project management and inspection personnel in conjunction with engineering services or on a stand-alone basis.
Construction, Maintenance, and Installation Services. We also provide a range of construction, maintenance, and installation services, including the placement and splicing of fiber, copper, and
coaxial cables. We excavate trenches in which to place these cables; place related structures, such as poles, anchors, conduits, manholes, cabinets, and closures; place drop lines from main distribution
lines to the consumer’s home or business; and maintain and remove these facilities. We provide these services for both telephone companies and cable multiple system operators in connection with
the deployment, expansion, or maintenance of new and existing networks. We also provide tower construction, lines and antenna installation, foundation and equipment pad construction, and small
cell site placement for wireless carriers, as well as equipment installation and material fabrication and site testing services. For cable multiple system operators, we install and maintain customer
premise equipment such as digital video recorders, set top boxes and modems. We also perform construction and maintenance services for electric and gas utilities and other customers. In addition,
we provide underground facility locating services for a variety of utility companies, including telecommunications providers. Our underground facility locating services include locating telephone,
cable television, power, water, sewer, and gas lines.
Business Strategy
Capitalize on Long-Term Growth Drivers. We are well-positioned to benefit from the increased demand for network bandwidth that is necessary to ensure reliable video, voice, and data services.
Developments in consumer and business applications within the telecommunications industry, including advanced digital and video service offerings, continue to increase demand for greater wireline
and wireless network capacity and reliability. Telecommunications network operators are increasingly deploying fiber optic cable technology deeper into their networks and closer to consumers and
businesses in order to respond to consumer demand, competitive realities, and public policy support. Additionally, wireless carriers are upgrading their networks and contemplating next generation
mobile solutions in response to the significant demand for wireless broadband, driven by the proliferation of smart phones, mobile data devices and other advances in technology. Increasing wireless
data traffic and emerging wireless technologies are driving significant incremental wireline deployments in many
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regions of the United States. Furthermore, significant consolidation and merger activity among telecommunications providers can also provide increased demand for our services as networks are
integrated.
Selectively Increase Market Share. We believe our reputation for providing high quality services and the ability to provide those services nationally creates opportunities to expand market share.
Our decentralized operating structure and multiple points of contact within customer organizations positions us favorably to win new opportunities and maintain strong relationships with existing
customers. We are able to address larger customer opportunities due to our significant financial resources that some of our comparatively more capital-constrained competitors may be unable to take
on. We do not intend to increase market share by pursuing unprofitable work.
Pursue Disciplined Financial and Operating Strategies. We manage the financial aspects of our business by centralizing certain activities that allow us to leverage our scope and scale and reduce
costs. We have centralized functions such as information technology, risk management, treasury, tax, the approval of capital equipment procurements, and the design and administration of employee
benefit plans. In contrast, we decentralize the recording of transactions and the financial reporting necessary for timely operational decisions. Decentralization promotes greater accountability for
business outcomes by our local managers. Our local managers are responsible for marketing, field operations, and ongoing customer service, and are empowered to capture new business and execute
contracts on a timely and cost-effective basis. Executive management supports the local marketing efforts while also marketing at a national level. This operating approach enables us to benefit from
our scale while retaining the organizational agility necessary to compete with smaller, regional and privately owned competitors.
Pursue Selective Acquisitions. We pursue acquisitions that are operationally and financially beneficial for the Company as they provide incremental revenue, geographic diversification, and
complement existing operations. We generally target companies for acquisition that have defensible leadership positions in their market niches, profitability that meets or exceeds industry averages,
proven operating histories, sound management and certain clearly identifiable cost synergies.
Fiscal Year
In September 2017, our Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from the last Saturday in July to the last Saturday in January. The change better aligned our fiscal
year with the planning cycles of our customers. For quarterly comparisons, there were no changes to the months in each fiscal quarter. We use a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in
January. Fiscal 2021 consisted of 53 weeks and fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 consisted of 52 weeks of operations.
We refer to the period beginning January 26, 2020 and ending on January 30, 2021 as “fiscal 2021”, the period beginning on January 27, 2019 and ending on January 25, 2020 as “fiscal 2020”,
the period beginning on January 28, 2018 and ending January 26, 2019 as “fiscal 2019”, and the period beginning July 30, 2017 and ending January 27, 2018 as the “2018 transition period”.
Acquisitions
Fiscal 2019. During March 2018, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of a provider of telecommunications construction and maintenance services in the Midwest and
Northeast United States for a cash purchase price of $20.9 million, less a working capital adjustment estimated to be $0.5 million. This acquisition expands our geographic presence within our
existing customer base.
Customer Relationships
We have established relationships with many leading telecommunications providers, including telephone companies, cable multiple system operators, wireless carriers, telecommunication
equipment and infrastructure providers, as well as electric and gas utilities. Our customer base is highly concentrated, with our top five customers during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, for
approximately 74.1%, 78.4%, and 78.4%, of our total contract revenues, respectively. During fiscal 2021, we derived approximately 18.8% of our total contract revenues from Verizon
Communications, Inc., 16.9% from Lumen Technologies Inc. (formerly CenturyLink Inc.), 16.7% from AT&T Inc., 16.7% from Comcast Corporation, and 5.0% from Windstream Holdings, Inc. We
believe that a substantial portion of our total contract revenues and operating income will continue to be generated from a concentrated group of customers.
We serve our markets locally through dedicated and experienced personnel. Our sales and marketing efforts are the responsibility of the management teams of our subsidiaries. These teams
possess intimate knowledge of their particular
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markets, allowing us to be responsive to customer needs. Executive management supports these efforts, both at the local and national levels, focusing on contacts with the appropriate managers within
our customers’ organizations.
We perform a majority of our services under master service agreements and other contracts that contain customer-specified service requirements. These agreements include discrete pricing for
individual tasks. We generally possess multiple agreements with each of our significant customers. To the extent that such agreements specify exclusivity, there are often exceptions, including the
ability of the customer to issue work orders valued above a specified dollar amount to other service providers, the performance of work with the customer’s own employees, and the use of other
service providers when jointly placing facilities with another utility. In many cases, a customer may terminate an agreement for convenience. Historically, multi-year master service agreements have
been awarded primarily through a competitive bidding process; however, occasionally we are able to negotiate extensions to these agreements. We provide the remainder of our services pursuant to
contracts for specific projects. These contracts may be long-term (with terms greater than one year) or short-term (with terms less than one year) and often include customary retainage provisions
under which the customer may withhold 5% to 10% of the invoiced amounts pending project completion and closeout.
Cyclicality and Seasonality
The cyclical nature of the industry we serve affects demand for our services. The capital expenditure and maintenance budgets of our customers, and the related timing of approvals and seasonal
spending patterns, influence our contract revenues and results of operations. Factors affecting our customers and their capital expenditure budgets include, but are not limited to, overall economic
conditions, the introduction of new technologies, our customers’ debt levels and capital structures, our customers’ financial performance, and our customers’ positioning and strategic plans, and any
potential effects from a pandemic caused by COVID-19. Other factors that may affect our customers and their capital expenditure budgets include new regulations or regulatory actions impacting our
customers’ businesses, merger or acquisition activity involving our customers, and the physical maintenance needs of our customers’ infrastructure.
Our contract revenues and results of operations exhibit seasonality as we perform a significant portion of our work outdoors. Consequently, adverse weather, which is more likely to occur with
greater frequency, severity, and duration during the winter, as well as reduced daylight hours, impact our operations during the fiscal quarters ending in January and April. In addition, a
disproportionate number of holidays fall within the fiscal quarter ending in January, which decreases the number of available workdays. Because of these factors, we are most likely to experience
reduced revenue and profitability or losses during the fiscal quarters ending in January and April compared to the fiscal quarters ending in July and October.
Backlog
Our backlog is an estimate of the uncompleted portion of services to be performed under contractual agreements with our customers and totaled $6.810 billion and $7.314 billion at January 30,
2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively. We expect to complete 40.9% of the January 30, 2021 total backlog during the next 12 months. Our backlog represents an estimate of services to be
performed pursuant to master service agreements and other contractual agreements over the terms of those contracts. These estimates are based on contract terms and evaluations regarding the timing
of the services to be provided. In the case of master service agreements, backlog is estimated based on the work performed in the preceding 12 month period, when applicable. When estimating
backlog for newly initiated master service agreements and other long and short-term contracts, we also consider the anticipated scope of the contract and information received from the customer
during the procurement process and, where applicable, other ancillary information. A significant majority of our backlog comprises services under master service agreements and other long-term
contracts.
In many instances, our customers are not contractually committed to procure specific volumes of services under a contract. Contract revenue estimates reflected in our backlog can be subject to
change due to a number of factors, including contract cancellations or changes in the amount of work we expect to be performed. In addition, contract revenues reflected in our backlog may be
realized in different periods from those previously reported due to these factors as well as project accelerations or delays due to various reasons, including, but not limited to, changes in customer
spending priorities, scheduling changes, commercial issues, such as permitting, engineering revisions, job site conditions and adverse weather, and the potential adverse effects of the COVID-19
pandemic. The amount or timing of our backlog can also be impacted by the merger or acquisition activity of our customers. Many of our contracts may be cancelled by our customers, or work
previously awarded to us pursuant to these contracts may be cancelled, regardless of whether or not we are in default. The amount of backlog related to uncompleted projects in which a provision for
estimated losses was recorded is not material.
Backlog is not a measure defined by United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, GAAP results.
Participants in our industry often disclose a calculation of
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their backlog; however, our methodology for determining backlog may not be comparable to the methodologies used by others. We utilize our calculation of backlog to assist in measuring aggregate
awards under existing contractual relationships with our customers. We believe our backlog disclosures will assist investors in better understanding this estimate of the services to be performed
pursuant to awards by our customers under existing contractual relationships.
Competition
The specialty contracting services industry in which we operate is highly fragmented and includes a large number of participants. We compete with several large multinational corporations and
numerous regional and privately owned companies. In addition, a portion of our customers directly perform many of the same services that we provide. Relatively few barriers to entry exist in the
markets in which we operate. As a result, any organization that has adequate financial resources, access to technical expertise, and the necessary equipment may become a competitor and the degree
to which an existing competitor participates in the markets that we operate may increase rapidly. The principal competitive factors for our services include geographic presence, quality of service,
worker and general public safety, price, breadth of service offerings, and industry reputation. We believe that we compare favorably to our competitors when evaluated against these factors.
Human Capital Resources
We believe the people who work for our company are our most important resources and are critical to our continued success. We employed approximately 14,276 persons as of January 30, 2021.
We focus significant attention on attracting and retaining talented and experienced individuals to manage and support our operations. We offer our employees a broad range of company-paid benefits,
and we believe our compensation package and benefits are competitive with others in our industry. We are committed to hiring, developing and supporting a diverse and inclusive workplace.
Each employee, officer and director of the Company must adhere to the highest standards of business ethics when dealing with each other and with customers, suppliers and all other persons as
outlined in our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and our Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers (collectively, the “Code of Conduct”). The Code of Conduct requires all employees to
conduct all business dealings with honesty and candor and with respect for the law and the highest standard of ethical behavior. Personal integrity, good faith and fair dealing, the respectful treatment
of others, and all other attributes of good behavior are essential for employees, but special responsibility to uphold these values rests on our officers, managers and supervisors as they establish the
climate for all other employees. Officers, managers and supervisors are required to create a work environment that encourages employees to discuss concerns without fear of retaliation. Should
potential violations of the Code of Conduct or the law occur, employees are encouraged to voice concerns promptly and are reminded that retaliation against anyone who reports a potential violation
in good faith will not be tolerated. All employees are required to complete the training on the Code of Conduct and Ethics, and we report material matters related to the Code of Conduct to the Audit
Committee of our Board.
The success of our business is fundamentally connected to the safety and well-being of our people. Accordingly, we are committed to the health and safety of our employees. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented significant operating changes that we determined were in the best interest of our employees. This includes having the vast majority of our office-based
personnel work from home, while implementing and ensuring compliance with additional safety measures for employees continuing critical on-site work.
Our Board of Directors, through our Compensation Committee and our Corporate Governance Committee, provides oversight on employee matters. The Compensation Committee receives
updates on activities, strategies and initiatives related to our employees, and our Corporate Governance Committee oversees the development and succession planning of senior management. As part
of this oversight, the Board received regular updates on efforts we have taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Independent Subcontractors and Materials
We contract with independent subcontractors to manage fluctuations in work volumes and to reduce the amount we expend on fixed assets and working capital. These independent subcontractors
are typically small, privately owned companies that provide their own employees, vehicles, tools and insurance coverage. No individual independent subcontractor is significant to the Company.
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For a majority of the contract services we perform, we are provided the required materials by our customers. Because our customers retain the financial and performance risk associated with
materials they provide, we do not include the costs associated with these materials in our contract revenues or costs of earned revenues. Under contracts that require us to supply part or all of the
required materials, we typically do not depend upon any one source for those materials.
Safety and Risk Management
We are committed to instilling safe work habits through proper training and supervision of our employees and expect adherence to safety practices that ensure a safe work environment. Our
subsidiaries’ safety programs require employees to participate both in safety training required by law and training that is specifically relevant to the work they perform. Safety directors review
incidents, examine trends, and implement changes in procedures to address safety issues.
Claims arising in our business generally include workers’ compensation claims, various general liability and damage claims, and claims related to motor vehicle collisions, including personal
injury and property damage. For claims within our insurance program, we retain the risk of loss, up to certain limits, for matters related to automobile liability, general liability (including damages
associated with underground facility locating services), workers’ compensation, and employee group health. Additionally, within our aggregate coverage limits and above our base layer of third-party
insurance coverage, we have retained the risk of loss at certain levels of exposure. We carefully monitor claims and actively participate with our insurers and our third-party claims administrator in
determining claims estimates and adjustments. We accrue the estimated costs of claims as liabilities, and include estimates for claims incurred but not reported. Due to fluctuations in our loss
experience from year to year, insurance accruals have varied and can affect our operating margins. Our business could be materially and adversely affected if we experience an increase of insurance
claims at certain amounts, or in excess of our coverage limits. See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Note 11, Accrued Insurance
Claims, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10‑K.
Regulation
We are subject to various federal, state, and local government regulations, including laws and regulations relating to environmental protection, work-place safety, and other business requirements.
Environmental. A significant portion of the work we perform is associated with the underground networks of our customers and we often operate in close proximity to pipelines or underground
storage tanks that may contain hazardous substances. We could be subject to potential material liabilities in the event we fail to comply with environmental laws or regulations or if we cause or are
responsible for the release of hazardous substances or cause other environmental damages. In addition, failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations could result in significant costs
including remediation costs, fines, third-party claims for property damage, loss of use, or personal injury, and, in extreme cases, criminal sanctions.
Workplace Safety. We are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”) and comparable state statutes that regulate the protection of the health and
safety of workers. Our failure to comply with OSHA or other workplace safety requirements could result in significant liabilities, fines, penalties, or other enforcement actions and affect our ability to
perform the services that we have been contracted to provide to our customers.
Business. We are subject to a number of state and federal laws and regulations, including those related to contractor licensing and the operation of our fleet. If we are not in compliance with these
laws and regulations, we may be unable to perform services for our customers and may also be subject to fines, penalties, and the suspension or revocation of our licenses.
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Information About Our Executive Officers
The following table sets forth certain information concerning the Company’s executive officers as of January 30, 2021, all of whom serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.
Name
Age
Office
Executive Officer Since
Steven E. Nielsen
57
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
February 26, 1996
Timothy R. Estes
66
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
September 1, 2001
Daniel S. Peyovich
45
Executive Vice President of Operations
January 6, 2021
H. Andrew DeFerrari
52
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
November 22, 2005
Scott P. Horton
57
Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer
September 4, 2018
Ryan F. Urness
48
Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
May 21, 2019
There are no arrangements or understandings between any executive officer of the Company and any other person pursuant to which any executive officer was selected as an officer of the
Company. There are no family relationships among the Company’s executive officers.
Steven E. Nielsen has been the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer since March 1999. Prior to that, Mr. Nielsen was President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company from
August 1996 to March 1999, and Vice President from February 1996 to August 1996.
Timothy R. Estes has been the Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer since September 2001. Prior to that, Mr. Estes was the President of Ansco & Associates, LLC,
one of the Company’s subsidiaries, from 1997 until 2001 and Vice President from 1994 until 1997.
Daniel S. Peyovich has been the Company’s Executive Vice President of Operation since January 2021. Prior to that, from 2014 until January 2021, Mr. Peyovich was the President of the
Northwest Division for Balfour Beatty Construction, a leading international infrastructure group engaged in the development, building and maintenance of complex infrastructure such as
transportation, power and utility systems and commercial buildings. Mr. Peyovich held a number of roles with increasing levels of authority at Balfour Beatty Construction and a predecessor entity
from 2004 to 2014.
H. Andrew DeFerrari has been the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since April 2008. Prior to that, Mr. DeFerrari was the Company’s Vice President and Chief
Accounting Officer since November 2005 and was the Company’s Financial Controller from July 2004 through November 2005. Mr. DeFerrari was previously a senior audit manager with Ernst &
Young Americas, LLC.
Scott P. Horton has been the Company’s Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer since September 2018. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Horton spent the past 30 years in various
human resources leadership roles within Cooper Industries, Tyco International, and most recently as VP, International Human Resources with Bausch Health Companies.
Ryan F. Urness has been our Vice President and General Counsel since October 2018, and our Corporate Secretary since May 2019. Prior to that, from May 2016 through October 2018, Mr.
Urness was General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of USI Building Solutions, a provider of installation and distribution services to commercial and residential construction markets. From 2003
until May 2016, Mr. Urness was General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Speed Commerce, Inc., a provider of e-commerce technology and fulfillment services.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Our business is subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties described below. You should read the following risk factors carefully in
connection with evaluating our business and the forward-looking information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of the risks described below, or elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K were to occur, our financial condition and results of operations could suffer and the trading price of our common stock could decline. Additionally, if other risks not presently known to
us, or that we do not currently believe to be significant, occur or become significant, our financial condition and results of operations could suffer and the trading price of our common stock could
decline.
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Risks Related to Financial Performance or General Economic Conditions
Economic downturns, uncertain economic conditions, and capital market fluctuations may affect our customers’ spending on the services we provide. During an economic downturn, or when
uncertainty regarding current or future economic conditions is elevated, our customers may reduce or eliminate their spending on the services we provide. In addition, volatility in the debt or equity
markets may impact our customers’ access to capital and result in the reduction or elimination of spending on the services we provide. These conditions, which can develop rapidly, could adversely
affect our revenues, results of operations, and liquidity.
The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected our operations and is expected to continue to pose risks that could materially disrupt our business and negatively impact our operating results,
cash flows and financial condition. The economy of the United States has been severely impacted by the nation’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Measures taken include travel restrictions,
social distancing requirements, quarantines, and shelter in place orders. As a result, businesses have been closed and certain business activities curtailed or modified. During the COVID-19 pandemic,
our services have generally been considered essential in nature and have not been materially interrupted, but changes in the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic at different times in the various cities
and regions where we operate could impact our ability to operate in the future.
We believe the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operating results, cash flows and financial condition is uncertain, unpredictable and may be outside of our control. The extent of the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will depend on the severity and duration of the pandemic and the extent and the effectiveness of federal, state and local actions taken in response to the pandemic
including the effectiveness of vaccination programs that are implemented in the markets in which we operate. The COVID-19 pandemic is likely to heighten and exacerbate the risks identified herein.
In addition to those risks and others that cannot yet be identified, we may experience impacts to our business resulting from any the following:
•
•
•
•

The classification of our services as being essential in nature could change at any time in any or all of the state, county or municipal jurisdictions where we provide our services, and any
change could materially impact our operations. For example, certain customers of one of the Company’s reporting units (“Broadband”) have restricted our technicians from engaging in
certain revenue generating activities on third party premises, which is where Broadband has historically generated a substantial portion of its revenue, operating results and cash flows.
In response to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, certain of our customers have modified their protocols to increase the self-installation of customer premise equipment by their
subscribers. These modifications and any additional modifications to protocols are expected to result in a downturn in customer demand for our in-home installation services for the duration
of the COVID-19 pandemic, and certain of our customers may maintain the current levels of self-installation even after the impacts of the pandemic have abated.
Our operations may not, at times, function in a manner that is consistent with evolving, differing and, in some instances, conflicting guidelines and best practices that are intended to reduce
the spread of COVID-19, which could expose us to increased risks and costs associated with workplace safety claims.
As a result of having temporarily shifted many of our administrative personnel to working remotely, there is an increase in the likelihood and the potential severity of information technology
security risks and concerns, and an increase in our exposure to risks and costs associated with wage and hour claims.

After the COVID-19 pandemic has moderated and governmental restrictions have eased, we may continue to experience adverse effects on our operating results, cash flows and/or financial
condition arising out of long-term changes to the behavior of our customers and from recessionary economic conditions that may persist. The challenges faced in implementing nationwide COVID-19
vaccinations, the degree to which the public is willing to be vaccinated, and the degree that vaccines are effective in preventing infection or illness in connection with existing or new strains of
COVID-19 may also extend the impacts on our business.
Regulatory changes may affect our customers’ spending on the services we provide. Our customers operate in regulated industries and are subject to laws and regulations that can change
frequently and without notice. The adoption of new laws or regulations, or changes to the enforcement or interpretation of existing laws or regulations, could cause our customers to reduce or delay
spending on the services we provide, which could adversely affect our revenues, results of operations, and liquidity.
Technological change may affect our customers’ spending on the services we provide. We generate a significant majority of our revenues from customers in the telecommunications industry. This
industry has been and continues to be impacted by rapid technological change. These changes may affect our customers’ spending on the services we provide. Further, technological change in the
telecommunications industry not directly related to the services we provide may affect the ability of one or more of our customers to compete effectively, which could result in a reduction or
elimination of their use of our services. Any reduction, elimination or delay of spending by one of our customers on the services we provide could adversely affect our revenues, results of operations,
and liquidity.
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We derive a significant portion of our revenues from a small number of customers, and the loss of one or more of these customers could adversely affect our revenues, results of operations, and
liquidity. Our customer base is highly concentrated, with our top five customers during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019 for approximately 74.1%, 78.4%, and 78.4%, of our total contract
revenues, respectively. Our industry is highly competitive and the revenue we expect from an existing customer in any market could fail to be realized if competitors who offer comparable services to
our customers do so on more favorable terms or have a better relationship with a customer. Additionally, the continued consolidation of the telecommunications industry could result in the loss of a
customer if, as a result of a merger or acquisition involving one or more of our customers, the surviving entity chooses to use one of our competitors for the services we currently provide. On
February 25, 2019, Windstream, our fifth largest customer with contract revenues of $113.6 million during fiscal 2019, filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy
Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. Windstream emerged from bankruptcy in September 2020. The loss of a significant customer, or reduction in services
performed for a significant customer, could adversely affect our revenues, results of operations, and liquidity.
The capital and operating expenditure budgets and seasonal spending patterns of our customers affect demand for our services. Generally, our customers have no obligation to assign specific
amounts of work to us. Customers decide to engage us to provide services based on, among other things, the amount of capital they have available and their spending priorities. Our customers’ capital
budgets may change for reasons over which we have no control. These changes may occur quickly and without advance notice. Any fluctuation in the capital or operating expenditure budgets and
priorities of our customers could adversely affect our revenues, results of operations, and liquidity.
Seasonality affects demand for our services. Our contract revenues and results of operations exhibit seasonality as we perform a significant portion of our work outdoors. Consequently, adverse
weather, which is more likely to occur with greater frequency, severity, and duration during the winter, as well as reduced daylight hours, impact our operations during the fiscal quarters ending in
January and April. In addition, a disproportionate number of holidays fall within the fiscal quarter ending in January, which decreases the number of available workdays. Because of these factors, we
are most likely to experience reduced revenue and profitability or losses during the fiscal quarters ending in January and April compared to the fiscal quarters ending in July and October.
We derive a significant portion of our revenues from multi-year master service agreements and other long-term contracts which our customers may cancel at any time or may reschedule
previously assigned work. The majority of our long-term contracts are cancellable by our customers with little or no advance notice and for any, or no, reason. Our customers may also have the right
to cancel or remove assigned work without canceling the contract or to reschedule or modify previously assigned work. In addition, these contracts typically include a fixed term that is subject to
renewal on a periodic basis. We may be unsuccessful in renewing contracts when their fixed terms expire. Our projected revenues assume that definitive work orders have been, or will be, issued by
our customer, and that the work will be completed. The potential loss of work under master service agreements and other long-term contracts, or the rescheduling or modification of previously
assigned work by a customer, could adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows, and liquidity, as well as any projections we provide.
Our contracts contain provisions that may require us to pay damages or incur costs if we fail to meet our contractual obligations. If we do not meet our contractual obligations our customers
may look to us to pay damages or pursue other remedies, including, in some instances, the payment of liquidated damages. Additionally, if we fail to meet our contractual obligations, or if our
customer anticipates that we cannot meet our contractual obligations, our customers may, in certain circumstances, seek reimbursement from us to cover the incremental cost of having a third party
complete or remediate our work. Our results of operations could be adversely affected if we are required to pay damages or incur costs as a result of a failure to meet our contractual obligations.
Our backlog is subject to reduction or cancellation, and revenues may be realized in different periods than initially reflected in our backlog. Our backlog includes the estimated uncompleted
portion of services to be performed under master services agreements and other contractual agreements with our customers. These estimates are based on, among other things, contract terms and
projections regarding the timing of the services to be provided. In the case of master service agreements, backlog is calculated using the amount of work performed in the preceding 12 month period,
when applicable. Backlog for newly initiated master service agreements and other long and short-term contracts is estimated using the anticipated scope of the contract and information received from
the customer in the procurement process.
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In many instances, our customers are not contractually committed to procure specific volumes of services under a contract. Contract revenue estimates reflected in our backlog can be subject to
change due to a number of factors, including contract cancellations or changes in the amount of work we expect to be performed. In addition, contract revenues reflected in our backlog may be
realized in different periods from those previously reported due to these factors as well as project accelerations or delays due to various reasons, including, but not limited to, changes in customer
spending priorities, scheduling changes, commercial issues, such as permitting, engineering revisions, job site conditions and adverse weather, and the potential adverse effects of the COVID-19
pandemic. The amount or timing of our backlog can also be impacted by the merger or acquisition activity of our customers. Our estimates of our customers’ requirements during a future period may
prove to be inaccurate. As a result, our backlog as of any particular date is an uncertain estimate of the amount of, and timing of, future revenues and earnings.
Our profitability is based on delivering services within the estimated costs established when we price our contracts. A significant portion of our services are provided under contracts that have
discrete pricing for individual tasks. Due to the fixed price nature of the tasks, our profitability could decline if our actual cost to complete each task exceeds our original estimates, as pricing under
these contracts is determined based on estimated costs established when we enter into the contracts. A variety of factors could negatively impact the actual cost we incur in performing our work, such
as changes made by our customers to the scope and extent of the services that we are to provide under a contract, delays resulting from weather and the COVID-19 pandemic, conditions at work sites
differing materially from those anticipated at the time we bid on the contract, higher than expected costs of materials and labor, delays in obtaining necessary permits, under absorbed costs, and lower
than anticipated productivity. An increase in costs due to any of these factors, or for other reasons, could adversely affect our results of operations.
Our business is labor-intensive, and we may be unable to attract, retain and ensure the productivity of qualified employees or to pass increased labor and training costs to our customers. We are
highly dependent upon our ability to employ, train, retain, and ensure the productivity of skilled personnel to operate our business. Given the highly specialized work we perform, many of our
employees receive training in, and possess, specialized technical skills that are necessary to operate our business and maintain productivity and profitability. We cannot be certain that we will be able
to maintain and ensure the productivity of the skilled labor force necessary to operate our business. Our ability to do so depends on a number of factors, such as the general rate of employment,
competition for employees possessing the skills we need, the general health and welfare of our employees, which has been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and the level of compensation
required to hire, train and retain qualified employees. In addition, the uncertainty of contract awards and project delays can also present difficulties in appropriately sizing our skilled labor force.
Furthermore, due to the fixed price nature of the tasks in our contracts, we may be unable to pass increases in labor and training costs on to our customers. If we are unable to attract or retain qualified
employees or incur additional labor and training costs, our results of operations could be adversely affected.
We may be unable to secure independent subcontractors to fulfill our obligations, or our independent subcontractors may fail to satisfy their obligations to us, either of which may adversely
affect our relationships with our customers or cause us to incur additional costs. We contract with independent subcontractors to manage fluctuations in work volumes and reduce the amounts that we
would otherwise expend on fixed assets and working capital. If we are unable to secure qualified independent subcontractors with adequate labor resources at a reasonable cost, or at all, we may be
delayed or unable to complete our work under a contract on a timely basis, or at all, and the cost of completing the work may increase. In addition, we may have disputes with these independent
subcontractors arising from, among other things, the quality and timeliness of the work they have performed. We may incur additional costs to correct such shortfalls in the work performed by
independent subcontractors. Any of these factors could negatively impact the quality of our service, our ability to perform under certain customer contracts, and our relationships with our customers,
which could adversely affect our results of operations.
Changes in fuel prices may increase our costs, and we may not be able to pass along increased fuel costs to our customers. Fuel prices fluctuate based on events outside of our control. Most of
our services are provided under contracts that have discrete pricing for individual tasks and do not allow us to adjust our pricing for higher fuel costs during a contract term. In addition, we may be
unable to secure prices that reflect rising costs when renewing or bidding contracts. To the extent we enter into hedge transactions in conjunction with our anticipated fuel purchases, declines in fuel
prices below the levels established in the hedges we have in place may require us to make payments to our hedge counterparties. As a result, changes in fuel prices may adversely affect our results of
operations.
Increases in healthcare costs could adversely affect our financial results. The costs of providing employee medical benefits have steadily increased over a number of years due to, among other
things, rising healthcare costs and legislative requirements. Because of the complex nature of healthcare laws, as well as periodic healthcare reform legislation adopted by Congress, state legislatures,
and municipalities, we cannot predict with certainty the future effect of these laws on our healthcare costs.
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Continued increases in healthcare costs or additional costs created by future health care reform laws adopted by Congress, state legislatures, or municipalities could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial position.
We have a significant amount of accounts receivable and contract assets, which could become uncollectible. We extend credit to our customers because we perform work under contracts prior to
being able to bill for that work. Deteriorating conditions in the industries we serve, bankruptcies, or financial difficulties of a customer or within the telecommunications sector generally may impair
the financial condition of one or more of our customers and hinder their ability to pay us on a timely basis or at all. In addition, although in some instances we may have the right to file liens for
certain projects we may not be successful in enforcing those liens. The failure or delay in payment by one or more of our customers could reduce our cash flows and adversely affect our liquidity and
results of operations. On February 25, 2019, Windstream filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of
New York. As of January 26, 2019, the Company had outstanding receivables and contract assets in aggregate of approximately $45.0 million. Against this amount, we recorded a non-cash charge of
$17.2 million reflecting our evaluation of recoverability of these receivables and contract assets as of January 26, 2019. During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, we recovered $10.3 million of these
previously reserved accounts receivable and contract assets. Windstream emerged from bankruptcy in September 2020.
Fluctuations in our effective tax rate and tax liabilities may cause volatility in our financial results. We determine and provide for income taxes based on the tax laws of each of the jurisdictions
in which we operate. Changes in the mix and level of earnings among jurisdictions could materially impact our effective tax rate in any given financial statement period. Our effective tax rate may
also be affected by changes in tax laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local level, or by new interpretations of existing tax laws and regulations. In particular with respect to the COVID-19
pandemic, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (“FFCR Act”) and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) were signed into law on March 17, 2020 and on
March 27, 2020, collectively the “Stimulus Bills.” The Stimulus Bills include tax provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, the deferral of employer’s social security payments, and
modifications to net operating loss (“NOL”) carryback provisions. During fiscal 2021, we recognized an income tax benefit of $2.6 million from a tax loss carryback technical correction under the
CARES Act. Also in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Consolidated Appropriations Act (“CA Act”) was signed into law on December 27, 2020, including an extension of certain expiring
tax provisions. Our interpretations of the provisions within the Stimulus Bills could differ from future interpretations and guidance from the U.S Treasury Department, the Internal Revenue Service,
and other regulatory agencies, including state taxing authorities in jurisdictions in which we operate. We are also subject to audits by various taxing authorities. An adverse outcome from an audit
could unfavorably impact our effective tax rate and increase our tax liabilities.
We may incur impairment charges on goodwill or other intangible assets. We assess goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually in order to determine whether
their carrying value exceeds their fair value. In addition, reporting units are tested on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change between annual tests that indicate their fair value may
be below their carrying value. If we determine the fair value of the goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets is less than their carrying value as a result of an annual or interim test, an
impairment loss is recognized.
Our goodwill resides in multiple reporting units. The profitability of individual reporting units may suffer periodically due to downturns in customer demand, increased costs of providing our
services, and the level of overall economic activity. Our customers may reduce capital expenditures and defer or cancel pending projects due to changes in technology, a slowing or uncertain
economy, merger or acquisition activity, a decision to allocate resources to other areas of their business, or other reasons. The profitability of reporting units may also suffer if actual costs of providing
our services exceed our estimated costs established when we enter into contracts. Additionally, adverse conditions in the economy and future volatility in the equity and credit markets could impact
the valuation of our reporting units. The cyclical nature of our business, the high level of competition existing within our industry, and the concentration of our revenues from a small number of
customers may also cause results to vary. The factors identified above may affect individual reporting units disproportionately, relative to the Company as a whole. As a result, the performance of one
or more of the reporting units could decline, resulting in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets. In addition, adverse changes to the key valuation assumptions contributing to the fair value of
our reporting units could result in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets. A write-down of goodwill or intangible assets as a result of an impairment could adversely affect our results of
operations.
Conversion of our Notes or exercise of the warrants evidenced by the warrant transactions may dilute the ownership interests of our stockholders. In September 2015, we issued 0.75%
convertible senior notes due September 2021 (the “Notes”), and at January 30, 2021, $58.3 million aggregate principal amount of Notes remain outstanding. In connection with the issuance of the
Notes, we entered into privately negotiated convertible note hedge transactions with the hedge counterparties. These hedge transactions cover, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, the
number of shares of common stock that initially underlay the Notes sold in the offering. We also entered into separate, privately negotiated warrant transactions with the hedge
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counterparties relating to the same number of shares of our common stock, subject to customary anti-dilution. At our election, we may settle the Notes tendered for conversion entirely or partly in
shares of our common stock. Further, the warrants evidenced by the warrant transactions may be settled on a net-share basis. As a result, the conversion of some or all of the Notes or the exercise of
some or all of such warrants may dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon such conversion of the Notes or such
exercise of the warrants could adversely affect the then-prevailing market prices of our common stock. In addition, the existence of the Notes may encourage short selling by market participants
because the conversion of the Notes could depress the price of our common stock.
Our convertible note hedge transactions and the warrant transactions may affect our common stock. The hedge counterparties and/or their affiliates may modify their hedge positions with
respect to the Note hedge transactions and the warrant transactions from time to time. They may do so by purchasing and/or selling shares of our common stock and/or other securities of ours,
including the Notes, in privately negotiated transactions and/or open-market transactions or by entering into and/or unwinding various over-the-counter derivative transactions with respect to our
common stock. The hedge counterparties are likely to modify their hedge positions during any observation period related to a conversion of the Notes or following any repurchase of the Notes by us
on any fundamental change (as defined in the indenture governing the Notes) repurchase date. The effect, if any, of these transactions on the market price of our common stock will depend on a
variety of factors, including market conditions, and could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and lead to increased volatility in transactions involving our common stock. In
addition, there may be no visibility with respect to transactions involving the hedge counterparties and/or their affiliates, and those parties may choose to engage in, or to discontinue engaging in, any
of these transactions with or without notice at any time, and their decisions will be at their sole discretion and not within our control.
We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the Note hedge transactions. We are subject to the risk that the financial institutions that are counterparties to the Note hedge transactions could
default under the Note hedge transactions. Our exposure to the credit risk of the hedge counterparties is unsecured by any collateral. Global economic conditions have from time to time resulted in
failure or financial difficulties for many financial institutions. In addition, upon a default by a hedge counterparty, we may suffer adverse tax consequences and more dilution than we currently
anticipate with respect to our common stock. We can provide no assurances as to the financial stability or viability of any hedge counterparty.
The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, highly volatile. During fiscal 2021, our common stock fluctuated from a low of $13.49 per share to a high of $89.88 per
share. We may continue to experience significant volatility in the market price of our common stock due to numerous factors, including, but not limited to:
•

fluctuations in our operating results or the operating results of one or more of our competitors;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions or capital commitments;

•

announcements by our customers regarding their capital spending and start-up, deferral or cancellation of projects, or their mergers and acquisitions activities;

•

the commercialization of new technologies impacting the services that we provide to our customers;

•

government regulatory actions and changes in tax laws;

•

changes in recommendations or earnings estimates by securities analysts; and

•

the impact of economic conditions on the credit and stock markets and on our customers’ demand for our services.

In addition, other factors, such as market disruptions, industry outlook, general economic conditions, widespread public health epidemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, and political
events, could decrease the market price of our common stock and, as a result, investors could lose some or all of their investments.
Risks Related to the Operation of Our Business
Our operations involve activities that are often inherently dangerous and are performed at times in complex or sensitive environments. If our activities result, or if it is alleged that our activities
have resulted in, in damage or destruction to the real or personal property of others, or in injury or death to others, we could be exposed to significant financial losses and reputational harm, as well
as civil and criminal liabilities. Our operations involve dangerous activities such as underground drilling and the use of mechanized equipment in complex situations. These activities and their effects
could result in, or be
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alleged to have resulted in, damage to the real and personal property of others, and cause personal injury or death to third parties or our employees. In many instances our activities are performed in
close proximity to other utilities which, if damaged, may result in the occurrence of catastrophic events. Additionally, we may perform our activities in environmentally sensitive locations or in
locations that may be susceptible to catastrophic events, including wildfires. If our activities cause or contribute to, or are alleged to have caused or contributed to, a catastrophic event, we could be
exposed to severe financial losses and reputational harm. We procure insurance coverage to cover many of these risks; however, there can be no assurance that these coverages will continue to be
available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or that they are adequate in scope or amount to address financial losses from these risks. As a result, we could incur significant costs to
defend any such allegations, defend and indemnify our customers, repair and replace assets, or to compensate third parties; reputational harm could result in the loss of future revenue generating
opportunities; or we may be subject to civil and, in certain situations, criminal liabilities.
Changes in the cost or availability of materials may adversely affect our revenues and results of operations. For a majority of the contract services we perform, we are provided the materials
necessary by our customers. Under other contracts, we supply part, or all, of the necessary materials. If we, or our customers, are unable to procure the materials necessary to the contract services we
perform, or those materials are only available at undesirable prices, our revenues and results of operations could be adversely affected.
A failure, outage, or cybersecurity breach of our technology systems or those of third-party providers may adversely affect our operations and financial results. We are increasingly dependent on
technology to operate our business, to engage with our customers and other third parties, and to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the services we offer our customers. We use both our own
information technology systems and the information technology systems and expertise of third-party service providers to manage our operations, financial reporting, and other business processes. We
also use information technology systems to record, transmit, store, and protect sensitive Company, employee, and customer information. A cyber-security attack on these information technology
systems may result in financial loss, including potential fines and damages for failure to safeguard data, and may negatively impact our reputation. Additionally, many of our customer contracts can
be terminated if we fail to adequately protect their data. The third-party systems of our business partners on which we rely could also fail or be subject to a cybersecurity attack. Any of these
occurrences could disrupt our business or the delivery of services to our customers, result in potential liabilities, the termination of contracts, divert the attention of management from effectively
operating our business, cause significant reputational damage, or otherwise have an adverse effect on our financial results. We may also need to expend significant additional resources to protect
against cybersecurity threats or to address actual breaches or to redress problems caused by cybersecurity breaches.
We have experienced cybersecurity threats to our information technology infrastructure and attacks attempting to breach our systems and other similar incidents. In November 2017, we
determined that certain of our computer systems were subject to unauthorized access. Our investigation determined that documents containing Company financial information were accessed. Law
enforcement authorities were notified and new security enhancements and protocols were implemented. Although these prior cybersecurity incidents have not had a material impact on our results of
operations, financial position, or liquidity, there is no assurance that future threats would not cause harm to our business and our reputation, and adversely affect our results of operations, financial
position, and liquidity.
The loss or long-term incapacitation of one or more of our executive officers or other key employees could adversely affect our business. We depend on the continued and ongoing services of our
executive officers and other key employees, including the senior management of our subsidiaries. In many instances, these employees have significant experience and expertise in our industry.
Competition for senior management personnel is intense and we cannot be certain that any of our executive officers or other key management personnel will remain employed by us or that they will
otherwise be able to provide service to us for any length of time. We do not carry “key-person” life or disability insurance on any of our employees. The loss or long-term incapacitation of any one of
our executive officers or other key employees could negatively affect our customer relationships or the ability to execute our business strategy, which could adversely affect our business.
The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that may differ from actual results. In preparing our consolidated financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, a number of estimates and assumptions are made by management that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements. These estimates and assumptions must be made because certain information that is used in the preparation of our financial statements is either dependent on future
events or cannot be calculated with a high degree of precision from available data and, accordingly, requires the use of management’s judgment. Estimates and assumptions are primarily used in our
assessment of the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost method of progress, job specific costs, accrued insurance claims, the allowance for doubtful accounts, accruals for contingencies,
stock-based compensation expense for performance-based stock awards, the fair value of reporting units for the goodwill impairment analysis, the assessment of impairment of intangibles and other
long-lived assets, the purchase price allocations of businesses
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acquired, and income taxes. When made, we believe that such estimates and assumptions are fair when considered in conjunction with our consolidated financial position and results of operations
taken as a whole. However, actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions, and such differences may be material to our financial statements.
Risks Related to Laws and Regulations
Our failure to comply with occupational health and workplace safety requirements could result in significant liabilities or enforcement actions and adversely impact our ability to perform
services for our customers. Our operations are subject to strict laws and regulations governing workplace safety. Our workers frequently operate heavy machinery, work within the vicinity of high
voltage lines, and engage in other potentially dangerous activities which could subject them and others to injury or death. If, in the course of our operations, it is determined we have violated safety
regulations, our operations may be disrupted and we may be subject to penalties, fines or, in extreme cases, criminal sanctions. In addition, if our safety performance were to deteriorate, customers
could decide to cancel our contracts or not award us future business. These factors could adversely affect our results of operations and financial position.
Our failure to comply with immigration laws could result in significant liabilities and harm our reputation with our customers, as well as cause disruption to our operations. If we fail to comply
with these laws our operations may be disrupted, and we may be subject to fines or, in extreme cases, criminal sanctions. In addition, many of our customer contracts specifically require compliance
with immigration laws and in some cases our customers audit compliance with these laws. Further, several of our customers require that we ensure our subcontractors comply with these laws with
respect to the workers that perform services for them. A failure to comply with these laws could damage our reputation and may result in the cancellation of our contracts by our customers, or a
decision by our customers not to award us future business. These factors could adversely affect our results of operations and financial position.
Our failure to comply with various laws and regulations related to contractor licensing and the operation of our fleet of commercial motor vehicles could result in significant liabilities. We are
subject to a number of state and federal laws and regulations, including those related to contractor licensing and the operation of our fleet of commercial motor vehicles. If we are not in compliance
with these laws and regulations, we may be unable to perform services for our customers and may also be subject to fines, penalties, and the suspension or revocation of our licenses. Our failure to
comply with these laws and regulations may affect our ability to operate and could require us to incur significant costs that adversely affect our results of operations.
Our failure to comply with environmental laws could result in significant liabilities. A significant portion of the work we perform is associated with the underground networks of our customers
and we often operate in close proximity to pipelines or underground storage tanks that may contain hazardous substances. We could be subject to potential material liabilities in the event that we fail
to comply with environmental laws or regulations or if we cause or are responsible for the release of hazardous substances or other environmental damages. These liabilities could result in significant
costs including remediation costs, fines, third-party claims for property damage, loss of use, or personal injury, and, in extreme cases, criminal sanctions. These costs as well as any direct impact to
ongoing operations could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows. In addition, new laws and regulations, altered enforcement of existing laws and regulations, the discovery of
previously unknown contamination or leaks, or the imposition of new remediation requirements could require us to incur significant costs or create new or increased liabilities that could adversely
affect our results of operations and financial position.
We retain the risk of loss for certain insurance-related liabilities. Within our insurance program, we retain the risk of loss, up to certain limits, for matters related to automobile liability, general
liability (including damages associated with underground facility locating services), environmental liability, workers’ compensation, and employee group health. We are effectively self-insured for the
majority of claims because most claims against us fall below the deductibles under our insurance policies. Additionally, within our aggregate coverage limits and above our base layer of third-party
insurance coverage, we have retained the risk of loss at certain levels of exposure and any claims that reach these retained levels of exposure are self-insured. We estimate and develop our accrual for
these claims, including losses incurred but not reported, based on facts, circumstances, and historical evidence. However, the estimate for accrued insurance claims remains subject to uncertainty as it
depends in part on factors not known at the time such estimates are made. These factors include the estimated development of claims, the payment pattern of claims incurred, changes in the medical
condition of claimants, and other factors such as inflation, tort reform or other legislative changes, unfavorable jury decisions, and court interpretations. Should the cost of actual claims exceed what
we have anticipated, our recorded reserves may not be sufficient, and we could incur additional charges that could adversely affect our results of operations and financial position. See Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical Accounting Policies – Accrued Insurance Claims, and Note 11, Accrued Insurance Claims, in the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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We may be subject to litigation, indemnity claims, and other disputes, which could result in significant liabilities and adversely impact our financial results. From time to time, we are subject to
lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, and other claims brought or threatened against us by third parties, including our customers. These actions and proceedings may involve claims for, among other
things, compensation for personal injury, workers’ compensation, employment discrimination and other employment-related damages, breach of contract, property damage, multiemployer pension
plan withdrawal liabilities, liquidated damages, consequential damages, punitive damages and civil penalties or other losses, or injunctive or declaratory relief. In addition, we may also be subject to
class action lawsuits, including those alleging violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, state and municipal wage and hour laws, and misclassification of independent contractors. We also
indemnify our customers for claims arising out of or related to the services we provide and our actions or omissions under our contracts. In some instances, we may be allocated risk through our
contract terms for the actions or omissions of our customers, subcontractors, or other third parties.
Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation and other dispute resolution proceedings, we cannot accurately predict their ultimate outcome. The outcome of litigation, particularly class action
lawsuits, is difficult to assess or quantify. Class action lawsuits may seek recovery of very large or indeterminate amounts. Accordingly, the magnitude of the potential loss may remain unknown for
substantial periods of time. These proceedings could result in substantial cost and may require us to devote substantial resources to defend ourselves. The ultimate resolution of any litigation or
proceeding through settlement, mediation, or a judgment could have a material impact on our reputation and adversely affect our results of operations and financial position. See Item 3. Legal
Proceedings, and Note 21, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We may be subject to warranty claims, which could result in significant liabilities and adversely impact our financial results. We typically warrant the services we provide by guaranteeing the
work performed against defects in workmanship and materials. When warranty claims occur, we may be required to repair or replace warrantied items without receiving any additional compensation.
Our performance of warranty services requires us to allocate resources that otherwise might be engaged in the provision of services that generate revenue. In addition, our customers often have the
right to repair or replace warrantied items using the services of another provider and to charge the cost of the repair or replacement to us. Costs incurred for warranty claims, or reductions to revenuegenerating activities arising from the allocation of resources to resolve warranty claims, could adversely affect our results of operations and financial position.
Several of our subsidiaries participate in multiemployer pension plans under which we could incur significant liabilities. Pursuant to collective bargaining agreements, several of our subsidiaries
participate in various multiemployer pension plans that provide defined pension benefits to covered employees. We make periodic contributions to these plans to allow them to meet their pension
benefit obligations to participants. Assets contributed by an employer to a multiemployer plan are not segregated into a separate account and are not restricted to providing benefits only to employees
of that contributing employer. Under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”), absent an applicable exemption, a contributing employer to an underfunded multiemployer plan is
liable upon withdrawal from the plan for its proportionate share of the plan’s unfunded vested liability. Such underfunding may increase in the event other employers become insolvent or withdraw
from the applicable plan or upon the inability or failure of withdrawing employers to pay their withdrawal liability. In addition, if any of the plans in which we participate become significantly
underfunded, as defined by the Pension Protection Act of 2006, we may be required to make additional cash contributions in the form of higher contribution rates or surcharges. This could occur
because of a shrinking contribution base as a result of insolvency or withdrawal of other companies that currently contribute to these plans, inability or failure of withdrawing companies to pay their
withdrawal liability, lower than expected returns on plan assets, or other funding deficiencies. Requirements to pay increased contributions or a withdrawal liability could adversely affect our results
of operations, financial position, and cash flows.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016, one of the Company’s subsidiaries ceased operations. This subsidiary contributed to a multiemployer pension plan, the Pension, Hospitalization and
Benefit Plan of the Electrical Industry - Pension Trust Fund (the “Plan”). In October 2016, the Plan demanded payment for a claimed withdrawal liability of approximately $13.0 million. In
December 2016, the subsidiary submitted a formal request to the Plan seeking review of the Plan’s withdrawal liability determination. The subsidiary disputes the claim that it is required to make
payment of a withdrawal liability as demanded by the Plan as it believes that a statutory exemption under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) applies to its activities. The Plan
has taken the position that the work at issue does not qualify for that statutory exemption. The subsidiary has submitted this dispute to arbitration, as required by ERISA. There can be no assurance
that the Company’s subsidiary will be successful in asserting the statutory exemption as a defense in the arbitration proceeding. As required by ERISA, in November 2016, this subsidiary began
making payments of a withdrawal liability to the Plan in the amount of approximately $0.1 million per month. If the subsidiary prevails in disputing the withdrawal liability, all such payments are
expected to be refunded. Given the early stage of this action, it is not possible to estimate a range of loss that could result from either an adverse judgment or a settlement of this matter.
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Anti-takeover provisions of Florida law and provisions in our articles of incorporation and by-laws could make it more difficult to effect an acquisition of our Company or a change in our
control. We are subject to certain anti-takeover provisions of the Florida Business Corporation Act. These anti-takeover provisions could discourage or prevent a change in control. In addition, certain
provisions of our articles of incorporation and by-laws could delay or prevent an acquisition or change in control and the replacement of our incumbent directors and management. For example, our
board of directors is divided into three classes. At any annual meeting of our shareholders, our shareholders only have the right to elect approximately one-third of the directors on our board of
directors. In addition, our articles of incorporation authorize our board of directors, without further shareholder approval, to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock on such terms and with
such rights as our board of directors may determine. The issuance of preferred stock could dilute the voting power of the holders of common stock, including by the grant of voting control to others.
Our by-laws also restrict the right of shareholders to call a special meeting of shareholders. As a result, our shareholders may be unable to take advantage of opportunities to dispose of their stock in
the Company at higher prices that may otherwise be available in connection with takeover attempts or under a merger or other proposal.
Risks Related to Our Ability to Grow Our Business
We may not have access in the future to sufficient capital on favorable terms or at all. We may require additional capital to pursue acquisitions, fund capital expenditures, and for working capital
needs, or to respond to changing business conditions. Our existing credit agreement contains significant restrictions on our ability to incur additional debt. In addition, if we seek to incur more debt,
we may be required to agree to additional covenants that further limit our operational and financial flexibility. If we pursue additional debt or equity financings, we cannot be certain that such funding
will be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Our inability to access additional capital could adversely affect our liquidity and may limit our growth and ability to execute our business strategy.
Our debt obligations impose restrictions that may limit our operating and financial flexibility, and a failure to comply with these obligations could result in the acceleration of our debt. We have
a credit agreement with a syndicate of banks, which provides for a $750.0 million revolving facility, $450.0 million in aggregate term loan facility, and contains a sublimit of $200.0 million for the
issuance of letters of credit. As of January 30, 2021, we had $421.9 million outstanding under the term loans and $52.2 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under our credit agreement. We
had $105.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our revolving facility as of January 30, 2021. This credit agreement contains covenants that restrict or limit our ability to, among other things:
make certain payments, including the payment of dividends, redeem or repurchase our capital stock, incur additional indebtedness and issue preferred stock, make investments or create liens, enter
into sale and leaseback transactions, merge or consolidate with another entity, sell certain assets, and enter into transactions with affiliates. Our credit agreement also requires us to comply with
certain financial covenants, including a consolidated net leverage ratio and a consolidated interest coverage ratio. These covenants in our credit agreement may prevent us from engaging in
transactions that benefit us and may limit our flexibility in the execution of our business strategy. Additionally, the indenture governing the Notes includes cross-acceleration and cross-default
provisions with our bank credit facility. If our financial results fall below anticipated levels, we may be unable to comply with these covenants and a default under our credit agreement could result in
the acceleration of our obligations under both our credit agreement and the indenture governing the Notes, which could adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to execute our business strategy.
The specialty contracting services industry in which we operate is highly competitive. We compete with other specialty contractors, including numerous local and regional providers, as well as
several large multinational corporations that may have financial, technical, and marketing resources exceeding ours. Relatively few barriers to entry exist in the markets in which we operate. Any
organization may become a competitor if it has adequate financial resources and access to technical expertise, the ability to engage subcontractors, and the necessary equipment and materials.
Additionally, our competitors may develop expertise, experience, and resources to provide services that are equal or superior to our services in price, quality, or availability, and we may be unable to
maintain or enhance our competitive position. Furthermore, our customers generally require competitive bidding of our contracts upon the expiration of their terms. If competitors underbid us to
procure business, we could be required to lower the prices we charge in order to retain contracts. Our revenues and results of operations could be adversely affected if our customers shift a significant
portion of our work to a competitor, if we are unsuccessful in bidding or retaining projects, or if our ability to win projects requires us to provide our services at reduced margins.
We face competition from the in-house service organizations of our customers. We face competition from the in-house service organizations of our customers whose personnel perform a portion
of the services that we provide. We can offer no assurance that our existing or prospective customers will continue to outsource specialty contracting services in the future. Our revenues and results of
operations could be adversely affected if our existing or prospective customers reduce the specialty contracting services that are outsourced to us.
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Our failure to perform sufficient due diligence prior to completing acquisitions could result in significant liabilities. The growth of our business through acquisitions may expose us to risks,
including the failure to identify significant issues and risks of an acquired business. A failure to identify or appropriately quantify a liability in our due diligence process could result in the assumption
of unanticipated liabilities arising from the prior operations of an acquired business, some of which may not be adequately reserved and may not be covered by indemnification obligations. The
assumption of unknown liabilities due to a failure of our due diligence could adversely affect our results of operations and financial position.
Our failure to successfully integrate acquisitions could adversely affect our financial results. As part of our growth strategy, we may acquire companies that expand, complement, or diversify our
business. The success of this strategy depends on our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from the acquired businesses, such as the expansion of our existing operations and elimination of
redundant costs. To realize these benefits, we must successfully integrate the operations of the acquired businesses with our existing operations. Integrating acquired businesses involves a number of
operational challenges and risks, including diversion of management’s attention from our existing business; unanticipated issues in integrating information, communications, and other systems and
consolidating corporate and administrative infrastructures; failure to manage successfully and coordinate the growth of the combined company; and failure to retain management and other key
employees. These factors could result in increased costs, decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of management’s time and energy, which could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial position. Additionally, any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets as a result of our failure to successfully integrate acquisitions could adversely affect our results
of operations and financial position.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
We lease our executive offices located in Palm Beach Gardens, Florida. Our subsidiaries operate from administrative offices, district field offices, equipment yards, shop facilities, and temporary
storage locations throughout the United States. Those facilities are primarily leased but certain facilities are owned. Our leased properties operate under both non-cancelable and cancelable leases. We
believe that our facilities are suitable and adequate for our current operations and, if necessary, additional or replacement facilities would generally be available on commercially reasonable terms.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Refer to Note 21, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10‑K.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information for Our Common Stock
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “DY”.
Holders
As of March 1, 2021, there were approximately 486 holders of record of our $0.33 1/3 par value per share common stock.
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Dividend Policy
We have not paid cash dividends since 1982. Our Board of Directors occasionally evaluates the payment of a dividend based on our financial condition, profitability, cash flow, capital
requirements, and the outlook of our business. We currently intend to retain any earnings for use in the business and other capital allocation strategies which may include investment in acquisitions
and share repurchases. Consequently, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The information required by this item is hereby incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” found in our definitive proxy statement to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table summarizes the Company’s purchases of its common stock during the three months ended January 30, 2021:
Total Number of Shares Purchased as
Total Number of
Average Price
Part of Publicly Announced Plans or
Period
Shares Purchased (1)
Paid Per Share
Programs
October 25, 2020 - November 21, 2020
— $
—
—
November 22, 2020 - December 19, 2020
450,000 $
74.94
—
December 20, 2020 - January 30, 2021
874,381 $
75.80
—
(1)

Maximum Number of Shares that
May Yet Be Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs
(2)
(2)
(2)

All shares repurchased have been subsequently canceled.

(2)

On August 24, 2020, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a $100.0 million program to repurchase shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock through
February 2022 in open market or private transactions. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, the Company repurchased 1,324,381 shares of its common stock, at an average price of $75.51, for
$100.0 million. On March 3, 2021, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a new $150.0 million program to repurchase shares of the Company’s outstanding common
stock through August 2022 in open market or private transactions.
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Performance Graph
The performance graph below compares the cumulative total return for our common stock with the cumulative total return (including reinvestment of dividends) of the Standard & Poor’s (S&P)
500 Composite Stock Index and that of a selected peer group for fiscal 2015 through fiscal 2021. The selected peer group consists of MasTec, Inc., Quanta Services, Inc., MYR Group, Inc., and
Primoris Services Corporation. The graph assumes an investment of $100 in our common stock and in each of the respective indices noted on July 31, 2015. The comparisons in the graph are
required by the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of the possible future performance of our common stock.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
The selected financial data below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, and with Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019, and fiscal 2017 each consisted of 52 weeks of operations. Fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2016
consisted of 53 weeks of operations. The results of operations of businesses acquired are included in the following selected financial data from their dates of acquisition (dollars in thousands, except
per share amounts):
Fiscal Year Ended
Six Months Ended
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020(1) January 26, 2019(1) January 27, 2018(2)
July 29, 2017(6)
July 30, 2016(7)
Operating Data:
Revenues
$
3,199,165 $
3,339,682 $
3,127,700 $
1,411,348 $
3,066,880 $
2,672,542
Net income
$
34,337 $
57,215 $
62,907 $
68,835 $
157,217 $
128,740
Earnings Per Common Share:
Basic
$
1.08 $
1.82 $
2.01 $
2.22 $
5.01 $
3.98
Diluted(3)
$
1.07 $
1.80 $
1.97 $
2.15 $
4.92 $
3.89
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):
Total assets(4)
$
1,944,165 $
2,217,631 $
2,097,503 $
1,840,956 $
1,899,307 $
1,719,716
Long-term liabilities(2)(4)
$
684,367 $
1,026,002 $
1,008,344 $
856,348 $
909,186 $
839,802
Stockholders’ equity(5)
$
811,308 $
868,604 $
804,168 $
724,996 $
671,583 $
557,287
(1)

On February 25, 2019, Windstream filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. As of
January 26, 2019, we had outstanding receivables and contract assets in aggregate of approximately $45.0 million. Against this amount, we recorded a non-cash charge of $17.2 million reflecting our
evaluation of recoverability of these receivables and contract assets as of January 26, 2019. During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, we recovered $10.3 million of these previously reserved accounts
receivable and contract assets. Windstream emerged from bankruptcy in September 2020.
(2)

The 2018 transition period includes an income tax benefit associated with the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Tax Reform”) of approximately $32.2 million. This benefit primarily resulted from
the re-measurement of our net deferred tax liabilities at a lower U.S. federal corporate income tax rate. In addition, the 2018 transition period includes an income tax benefit of approximately $7.8
million for the tax effects of the vesting and exercise of share-based awards as a result of the application of Accounting Standards Update 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718):
Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU 2016-09”). See Note 15, Income Taxes, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10K for additional information regarding these tax benefits.
(3)

Diluted shares used in computing diluted earnings per common share for the 2018 transition period increased by approximately 177,575 shares as a result of the adoption of ASU 2016-09.
Additionally, diluted shares used in computing diluted earnings per common share for the 2018 transition period increased by 217,394 shares resulting from the embedded convertible feature in our
0.75% convertible senior notes due September 2021 (the “Notes”). See Note 4, Computation of Earnings per Common Share, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding these dilutive effects.
(4)

Balance sheet data presented for fiscal 2020 reflects the adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”) which resulted in the recognition of operating
lease right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities. Balance sheet data presented for fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019, and the 2018 transition period reflects the adoption of Accounting Standards
Update 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (“ASU 2015-17”), under which deferred tax liabilities are presented net of deferred tax assets. No prior
periods have been retrospectively adjusted for the adoption of ASU 2015-17.
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(5)

We did not repurchase any of our common stock during fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2019. The following table summarizes our share repurchases during fiscal 2021, the 2018 transition period, fiscal 2017,
and fiscal 2016:
Fiscal Year Ended
Six Months Ended
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 27, 2018
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016
Shares
1,324,381
200,000
713,006
2,511,578
Amount paid (dollars in millions)
$
100.0 $
16.9 $
62.9 $
170.0
Average price per share
$
75.51 $
84.38 $
88.23 $
67.69
(6)

During fiscal 2017, we entered into a $35.0 million incremental term loan facility, thereby increasing the aggregate term loan facility to $385.0 million.

(7)

During fiscal 2016, we issued the Notes in a private placement in the principal amount of $485.0 million. A portion of the proceeds were used to fund the full redemption of our 7.125% senior
subordinated notes in the outstanding principal amount of $277.5 million. In connection with the offering of the Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions at a cost of approximately
$115.8 million. In addition, we entered into separately negotiated warrant transactions resulting in proceeds of approximately $74.7 million. See Note 14, Debt, in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding our debt transactions. As of January 30, 2021, there was $58.3 million aggregate principal amount of
Notes outstanding.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes, as well as Part I, Item 1. Business, and Part I, Item
1A. Risk Factors, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Introduction
We are a leading provider of specialty contracting services throughout the United States. These services include program management; planning; engineering and design; aerial, underground, and
wireless construction; maintenance; and fulfillment services for telecommunications providers. Additionally, we provide underground facility locating services for various utilities, including
telecommunications providers, and other construction and maintenance services for electric and gas utilities. We supply the labor, tools, and equipment necessary to provide these services to our
customers.
Significant demand for broadband is driven by applications that require high speed connections as well as the everyday use of mobile data devices. To respond to this demand and other advances
in technology, major industry participants are constructing or upgrading significant wireline networks across broad sections of the country. These wireline networks are generally designed to
provision 1 gigabit network speeds to individual consumers and businesses, either directly or wirelessly using 5G technologies. Industry participants have indicated that a single high capacity fiber
network can most cost effectively deliver services to both consumers and businesses, enabling multiple revenue streams from a single investment. This view appears to be increasing the appetite for
fiber deployments and the industry effort required to deploy high capacity fiber networks continues to meaningfully broaden our set of opportunities. Access to high-capacity telecommunications has
become increasingly crucial to society in the time of the COVID-19 pandemic, especially in rural America. The wide and active participation in the recently completed Federal Communications
Commission (“FCC”) Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (“RDOF”) auction augurs well for dramatically increased rural network investment supported by private capital that in the case of at least some
of the participants is expected to be significantly more than the FCC subsidy. Although it is uncertain whether the demand triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic will be maintained at current levels,
we expect demand for access to high-capacity telecommunications to continue.
Telecommunications network operators are increasingly deploying fiber optic cable technology deeper into their networks and closer to consumers and businesses in order to respond to consumer
demand, competitive realities, and public policy support. Telephone companies are deploying fiber-to-the-home to enable 1 gigabit high-speed connections. Increasingly, rural electric utilities are
doing the same. Cable operators are deploying fiber to small and medium businesses and enterprises. A portion of these deployments are in anticipation of the customer sales process. Deployments to
expand capacity as well as new build opportunities are underway. Dramatically increased speeds to consumers are being provisioned and consumer data usage is growing, particularly upstream.
Customers are consolidating supply chains creating opportunities for market share growth and increasing the long-term value of our maintenance and operations business. In addition, we continue to
provide integrated planning, engineering and design, procurement and construction and maintenance services to several industry participants.
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The cyclical nature of the industry we serve affects demand for our services. The capital expenditure and maintenance budgets of our customers, and the related timing of approvals and seasonal
spending patterns, influence our contract revenues and results of operations. Factors affecting our customers and their capital expenditure budgets include, but are not limited to, overall economic
conditions, the introduction of new technologies, our customers’ debt levels and capital structures, our customers’ financial performance, our customers’ positioning and strategic plans, and any
potential effects from the COVID-19 pandemic. Other factors that may affect our customers and their capital expenditure budgets include new regulations or regulatory actions impacting our
customers’ businesses, merger or acquisition activity involving our customers, and the physical maintenance needs of our customers’ infrastructure.
Our operations expose us to risks associated with pandemics, epidemics or other public health emergencies, such as COVID-19. Since March 2020, the economy of the United States has been
severely impacted by the nation’s response to COVID-19. Measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic have included travel restrictions, social distancing requirements, quarantines, and
shelter in place orders. As a result, businesses have been closed and certain business activities curtailed for varying periods of time and in varying geographic regions.
During the COVID-19 pandemic, our services have generally been considered essential in nature and have not been materially interrupted. As the situation continues to evolve, we are closely
monitoring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all aspects of our business, including its effects on our customers, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors and employees, in addition to how the
COVID-19 pandemic impacts our ability to provide services to our customers. We believe the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operating results, cash flows and financial
condition is likely to be determined by factors which are uncertain, unpredictable and outside of our control. The situation surrounding COVID-19 remains fluid, and if disruptions do arise, they
could materially adversely impact our business.
In addition, the ability of our employees and our suppliers’ and customers’ employees to work may be significantly impacted by individuals contracting or being exposed to COVID-19, or as a
result of the control measures noted above. Our customers may be directly impacted by business curtailments or weak market conditions and may not be willing to continue investments in the
services we provide. Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused delays, and increases the risk of further delays, in our provision of construction services due to delays in our ability to obtain
permits from government agencies. For further discussion of this matter, refer “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in Part I of this report.
Fiscal Year
In September 2017, our Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from the last Saturday in July to the last Saturday in January. The change better aligned our fiscal
year with the planning cycles of our customers. For quarterly comparisons, there were no changes to the months in each fiscal quarter. We use a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in
January. Fiscal 2021 consisted of 53 weeks and fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 consisted of 52 weeks of operations.
We refer to the period beginning January 26, 2020 and ending on January 30, 2021 as “fiscal 2021”, the period beginning on January 27, 2019 and ending on January 25, 2020 as “fiscal 2020”,
the period beginning on January 28, 2018 and ending January 26, 2019 as “fiscal 2019”, and the period beginning July 30, 2017 and ending January 27, 2018 as the “2018 transition period”.
Customer Relationships and Contractual Arrangements
We have established relationships with many leading telecommunications providers, including telephone companies, cable multiple system operators, wireless carriers, telecommunications
equipment and infrastructure providers, as well as electric and gas utilities. Our customer base is highly concentrated, with our top five customers accounting for approximately 74.1%, 78.4%, and
78.4% of our total contract revenues during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, respectively.
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The following reflects the percentage of total contract revenues from customers who contributed at least 2.5% to our total contract revenues during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019:
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
January 26, 2019
Verizon Communications Inc.
18.8%
21.8%
19.2%
Lumen Technologies Inc.(1)
16.9%
16.4%
13.6%
AT&T Inc.
16.7%
20.6%
21.2%
Comcast Corporation
16.7%
15.1%
20.8%
Windstream Holdings, Inc.
5.0%
4.5%
3.6%
Charter Communications, Inc.
2.5%
2.8%
3.6%
(1)

Formerly known as CenturyLink, Inc.

We perform a majority of our services under master service agreements and other contracts that contain customer-specified service requirements. These agreements include discrete pricing for
individual tasks. We generally possess multiple agreements with each of our significant customers. To the extent that such agreements specify exclusivity, there are often exceptions, including the
ability of the customer to issue work orders valued above a specified dollar amount to other service providers, the performance of work with the customer’s own employees, and the use of other
service providers when jointly placing facilities with another utility. In many cases, a customer may terminate an agreement for convenience. Historically, multi-year master service agreements have
been awarded primarily through a competitive bidding process; however, occasionally we are able to negotiate extensions to these agreements. We provide the remainder of our services pursuant to
contracts for specific projects. These contracts may be long-term (with terms greater than one year) or short-term (with terms less than one year) and often include customary retainage provisions
under which the customer may withhold 5% to 10% of the invoiced amounts pending project completion and closeout.
The following table summarizes our contract revenues from multi-year master service agreements and other long-term contracts, as a percentage of contract revenues:
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
January 26, 2019
Multi-year master service agreements
71.7 %
65.4 %
63.8 %
Other long-term contracts
18.3
23.2
22.9
Total long-term contracts
90.0 %
88.6 %
86.7 %
Acquisitions
As part of our growth strategy, we may acquire companies that expand, complement, or diversify our business. We regularly review opportunities and periodically engage in discussions regarding
possible acquisitions. Our ability to sustain our growth and maintain our competitive position may be affected by our ability to identify, acquire, and successfully integrate companies.
Fiscal 2019. During March 2018, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of a provider of telecommunications construction and maintenance services in the Midwest and
Northeast United States for a cash purchase price of $20.9 million, less a working capital adjustment estimated to be $0.5 million. This acquisition expands our geographic presence within our
existing customer base.
The results of these businesses acquired are included in our consolidated financial statements from their respective dates of acquisition. The purchase price allocations of the 2019 acquisition
were completed within the 12-month measurement period from the date of acquisition. Adjustments to provisional amounts were recognized in the reporting period in which the adjustments were
determined and were not material.
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Understanding Our Results of Operations
The following information is presented so that the reader may better understand certain factors impacting our results of operations, and should be read in conjunction with Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates below, as well as Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies & Estimates, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Contract Revenues. We perform a majority of our services under master service agreements and other contracts that contain customer-specified service requirements. These agreements include
discrete pricing for individual tasks including, for example, the placement of underground or aerial fiber, directional boring, and fiber splicing, each based on a specific unit of measure. Contract
revenue is recognized over time as services are performed and customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits we provide. Output measures such as units delivered are utilized to assess
progress against specific contractual performance obligations for the majority of our services. For certain contracts, we use the cost-to-cost measure of progress as more fully described within Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates below.
Costs of Earned Revenues. Costs of earned revenues includes all direct costs of providing services under our contracts, including costs for direct labor provided by employees, services by
independent subcontractors, operation of capital equipment (excluding depreciation), direct materials, costs of insuring our risks, and other direct costs. Under our insurance program, we retain the
risk of loss, up to certain limits, for matters related to automobile liability, general liability (including damages associated with underground facility locating services), workers’ compensation, and
employee group health.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses primarily consist of employee compensation and related expenses, including performance-based compensation and
stock-based compensation, legal, consulting and professional fees, information technology and development costs, provision for or recoveries of bad debt expense, acquisition and integration costs of
businesses acquired, and other costs not directly related to the provision of our services under customer contracts. Our provision for bad debt expense is determined by evaluating specific accounts
receivable and contract asset balances based on historical collection trends, the age of outstanding receivables, and the creditworthiness of our customers. We incur information technology and
development costs primarily to support and enhance our operating efficiency. Our executive management team and the senior management of our subsidiaries perform substantially all of our sales
and marketing functions as part of their management responsibilities.
Depreciation and Amortization. Our property and equipment primarily consist of vehicles, equipment and machinery, and computer hardware and software. We depreciate property and
equipment on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. In addition, we have intangible assets, including customer relationships, trade names, and non-compete intangibles,
which we amortize over their estimated useful lives. We recognize amortization of customer relationship intangibles on an accelerated basis as a function of the expected economic benefit and
amortization of other finite-lived intangibles on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life.
Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net, consists of interest incurred on outstanding variable rate and fixed rate debt and certain other obligations. Interest expense also includes the non-cash
amortization of our 0.75% convertible senior notes (the “Notes”) debt discount and amortization of debt issuance costs. See Note 14, Debt, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information on the non-cash amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs.
Gain on Debt Extinguishment. Gain on debt extinguishment for fiscal 2021 of $12.0 million includes pre-tax charges related to the extinguishment of $401.7 million of our Notes, including the
write-off of deferred debt issuance costs on the Notes.
Other Income, Net. Other income, net, primarily consists of gains or losses from sales of fixed assets. Other income, net also includes discount fee expense associated with the collection of
accounts receivable under a customer-sponsored vendor payment program and write-off of deferred financing costs recognized in connection with an amendment to our credit agreement.
Seasonality and Fluctuations in Operating Results. Our contract revenues and results of operations exhibit seasonality as we perform a significant portion of our work outdoors. Consequently,
adverse weather, which is more likely to occur with greater frequency, severity, and duration during the winter, as well as reduced daylight hours, impact our operations during the fiscal quarters
ending in January and April. In addition, a disproportionate number of holidays fall within the fiscal quarter ending in January, which decreases the number of available workdays. Because of these
factors, we are most likely to
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experience reduced revenue and profitability during the fiscal quarters ending in January and April compared to the fiscal quarters ending in July and October.
We may also experience variations in our profitability driven by a number of factors. These factors include variations and fluctuations in contract revenues, job specific costs, insurance claims,
the allowance for doubtful accounts, accruals for contingencies, stock-based compensation expense for performance-based stock awards, the fair value of reporting units for the goodwill impairment
analysis, the valuation of intangibles and other long-lived assets, gains or losses on the sale of fixed assets from the timing and levels of capital assets sold, the employer portion of payroll taxes as a
result of reaching statutory limits, and our effective tax rate.
Accordingly, operating results for any fiscal period are not necessarily indicative of results we may achieve for any subsequent fiscal period.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements. These statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). In conformity with GAAP, the preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates and assumptions require the use of judgment as to the likelihood of
various future outcomes and, as a result, actual results could differ materially from these estimates.
Below, we have identified those accounting policies that are critical to the accounting of our business operations and the understanding of our results of operations. These accounting policies
require making significant judgments and estimates that are used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. The impact of these policies affects our reported and expected financial
results. We have discussed the development, selection and application of our critical accounting policies with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee has reviewed
the disclosure relating to our critical accounting policies herein.
Other significant accounting policies, primarily those with lower levels of uncertainty than those discussed below, are also important to understanding our consolidated financial statements. The
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain additional information related to our accounting policies and should be read in conjunction with this
discussion.
Revenue Recognition. We perform the majority of our services under master service agreements and other contracts that contain customer-specified service requirements. These agreements
include discrete pricing for individual tasks including, for example, the placement of underground or aerial fiber, directional boring, and fiber splicing, each based on a specific unit of measure. A
contractual agreement exists when each party involved approves and commits to the agreement, the rights of the parties and payment terms are identified, the agreement has commercial substance,
and collectability of consideration is probable. Our services are performed for the sole benefit of our customers, whereby the assets being created or maintained are controlled by the customer and the
services we perform do not have alternative benefits for us. Contract revenue is recognized over time as services are performed and customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits we
provide. Output measures such as units delivered are utilized to assess progress against specific contractual performance obligations for the majority of our services. The selection of the method to
measure progress towards completion requires judgment and is based on the nature of the services to be provided. For us, the output method using units delivered best represents the measure of
progress against the performance obligations incorporated within the contractual agreements. This method captures the amount of units delivered pursuant to contracts and is used only when our
performance does not produce significant amounts of work in process prior to complete satisfaction of the performance obligation. For a portion of contract items, units to be completed consist of
multiple tasks. For these items, the transaction price is allocated to each task based on relative standalone measurements, such as selling prices for similar tasks, or in the alternative, the cost to
perform the tasks. Contract revenue is recognized as these tasks are completed as a measurement of progress in the satisfaction of the corresponding performance obligation, and represented
approximately 10% of contract revenues during fiscal 2021.
For certain contracts, representing less than 5% of contract revenues during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, we use the cost-to-cost measure of progress. These contracts are generally
projects that are completed over a period of less than 12 months. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of progress toward completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred
to date to the total estimated costs. Contract costs include direct labor, direct materials, and subcontractor costs, as well as an allocation of indirect costs. Contract revenues are recorded as costs are
incurred. We accrue the entire amount of a contract loss, if any, at the time the loss is determined to be probable and can be reasonably estimated.
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Accounts Receivable, net. We grant credit to our customers, generally without collateral, under normal payment terms (typically 30 to 90 days after invoicing). Generally, invoicing occurs within
45 days after the related services are performed. Accounts receivable represents an unconditional right to consideration arising from our performance under contracts with customers. Accounts
receivable include billed accounts receivable, unbilled accounts receivable, and retainage. The carrying value of such receivables, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, represents their estimated
realizable value. Unbilled accounts receivable represent amounts we have an unconditional right to receive payment for although invoicing is subject to the completion of certain processes or other
requirements. Such requirements may include the passage of time, completion of other items within a statement of work, or other contractual billing requirements. Certain of our contracts contain
retainage provisions whereby a portion of the revenue earned is withheld from payment as a form of security until contractual provisions are satisfied. The collectability of retainage is included in our
overall assessment of the collectability of accounts receivable. We expect to collect the outstanding balance of current accounts receivable, net (including trade accounts receivable, unbilled accounts
receivable, and retainage) within the next 12 months. We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts by evaluating specific accounts receivable balances based on historical collection trends, the
age of outstanding receivables, and the credit worthiness of our customers.
We participate in a customer-sponsored vendor payment program for one of our customers. All eligible accounts receivable from this customer are included in the program and payment is
received pursuant to a non-recourse sale to a bank partner of the customer. This program effectively reduces the time to collect these receivables as compared to that customer’s standard payment
terms. We incur a discount fee to the bank on the payments received that is reflected as an expense component in other income, net, in the consolidated statements of operations.
Contract assets. Contract assets include unbilled amounts typically resulting from arrangements whereby complete satisfaction of a performance obligation and the right to payment are
conditioned on completing additional tasks or services.
Contract liabilities. Contract liabilities consist of amounts invoiced to customers in excess of revenue recognized. Our contract assets and liabilities are reported in a net position on a contract by
contract basis at the end of each reporting period. As of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, the contract liabilities balance is classified as current based on the timing of when we expect to
complete the tasks required for the recognition of revenue.
Accrued Insurance Claims. For claims within our insurance program, we retain the risk of loss, up to certain annual stop-loss limits, for matters related to automobile liability, general liability
(including damages associated with underground facility locating services), workers’ compensation, and employee group health. Losses for claims beyond our retained risk of loss are covered by
insurance up to our coverage limits.
For fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2020 with regards to workers’ compensation losses, we retained the risk of loss up to $1.0 million on a per occurrence basis. This retention amount is applicable to all of
the states in which we operate, except with respect to workers’compensation insurance in two states in which we participate in state-sponsored insurance funds. With regard to automobile liability and
general liability losses, we retained risk of loss up to $1.0 million on a per-occurrence basis.
For fiscal 2021 with regard to workers’ compensation losses, our retention of risk remained the same as fiscal 2020. With regard to automobile liability and general liability losses we retained the
risk of loss up to $1.0 million on a per-occurrence basis for the first $5.0 million of insurance coverage. In addition, we also retained the risk of loss for automobile and general liability for the next
$5.0 million on a per-occurrence basis with aggregate loss limits of $11.5 million within this layer of retention.
For fiscal 2022 with regard to workers’ compensation losses, our retention of risk remains the same as fiscal 2021. With regard to automobile liability and general liability losses, our retention of
primary risk remains the same as fiscal 2021. In addition, we reduced our coverage limit and retained $10.0 million risk of loss on a per occurrence basis for losses above $30.0 million.
We are party to a stop-loss agreement for losses under our employee group health plan. For calendar year 2019, we retained the risk of loss, on an annual basis, up to the first $400,000 of claims
per participant, as well as an annual aggregate amount for all participants of $425,000. For the calendar year 2020, we retained the risk of loss on an annual basis, up to the first $450,000 of claims per
participant, as well as an annual aggregate amount for all participants of $475,000. For the calendar year 2021, we retained the risk of loss on an annual basis, up to the first $600,000 of claims per
participant.
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We have established reserves that we believe to be adequate based on current evaluations and our experience with these types of claims. A liability for unpaid claims and the associated claim
expenses, including incurred but not reported losses, is determined with the assistance of an actuary and reflected in the consolidated financial statements as accrued insurance claims. The effect on
our financial statements is generally limited to the amount needed to satisfy our insurance deductibles or retentions. Amounts for total accrued insurance claims and insurance recoveries/receivables
are as follows (dollars in millions):
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Accrued insurance claims - current
$
41,736 $
38,881
Accrued insurance claims - non-current
70,224
56,026
$
111,960 $
94,907
Accrued insurance claims
Insurance recoveries/receivables:
Non-current (included in Other assets)

$
$

Insurance recoveries/receivables

15,837
15,837

$
$

4,864
4,864

The liability for total accrued insurance claims included incurred but not reported losses of approximately $59.6 million and $54.6 million as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020,
respectively.
We estimate the liability for claims based on facts, circumstances, and historical experience. Even though they will not be paid until sometime in the future, recorded loss reserves are not
discounted. Factors affecting the determination of the expected cost for existing and incurred but not reported claims include, but are not limited to, the magnitude and quantity of future claims, the
payment pattern of claims which have been incurred, changes in the medical condition of claimants, and other factors such as inflation, tort reform or other legislative changes, unfavorable jury
decisions, and court interpretations.
Stock-Based Compensation. We have stock-based compensation plans under which we grant stock-based awards, including stock options, time-based restricted share units (“RSUs”), and
performance-based restricted share units (“Performance RSUs”) to attract, retain, and reward talented employees, officers, and directors, and to align stockholder and employee interests. The resulting
compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, net of actual forfeitures, and is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations. This expense fluctuates over time as a function of the duration of vesting periods of the stock-based awards and the Company’s performance, as measured by criteria set forth in
performance-based awards.
Compensation expense for stock-based awards is based on fair value at the measurement date. The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. This valuation is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as other inputs, including the expected common stock price volatility over the expected life of the options, the expected
term of the stock option, risk-free interest rates, and expected dividends, if any. Our outstanding stock options generally vest ratably over a four-year period and are generally exercisable over a period
of up to ten years. The fair value of RSUs and Performance RSUs is estimated on the date of grant and is equal to the closing market price per share of our common stock on that date. RSUs generally
vest ratably over a four-year period. Performance RSUs vest ratably over a three-year period, if certain performance measures are achieved. Each RSU and Performance RSU is settled in one share of
our common stock upon vesting.
For Performance RSUs, we evaluate compensation expense quarterly and recognize expense only if we determine it is probable that the performance measures for the awards will be met. The
performance measures for target awards are based on our operating earnings (adjusted for certain amounts) as a percentage of contract revenues and our operating cash flow level (adjusted for certain
amounts) for the applicable four-quarter performance period. Additionally, certain awards include three-year performance measures that are more difficult to achieve than those required to earn target
awards and, if met, result in supplemental shares awarded. The performance measures for supplemental awards are based on three-year cumulative operating earnings (adjusted for certain amounts)
as a percentage of contract revenues and three-year cumulative operating cash flow level (adjusted for certain amounts). If we determine it is no longer probable that we will achieve certain
performance measures for the awards, we reverse the stock-based compensation expense that we had previously recognized associated with the portion of Performance RSUs that are no longer
expected to vest. The amount of the expense ultimately recognized depends on the number of awards that actually vest. Accordingly, stock-based compensation expense may vary from period to
period. For additional information on our stock-based compensation plans, stock options, RSUs, and Performance RSUs, see Note 19, Stock-Based Awards, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Income Taxes. We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.
In addition to the impacts described above, fluctuations in our effective income tax rate were also attributable to the difference in income tax rates from state to state where work was performed,
non-deductible and non-taxable items, and the impact of the vesting and exercise of share-based awards. Additionally, during fiscal 2021 our effective tax rate was impacted by the $53.3 million
goodwill impairment charge which was mostly non-deductible for income tax purposes, and the benefit from the $2.6 million tax loss carryback technical correction under the CARES Act. See Note
15, Income Taxes, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.
Measurement of our tax position is based on the applicable statutes, federal and state case law, and our interpretations of tax regulations. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets
and liabilities is recognized in income during the period that includes the enactment date. We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized.
In making such determination, we consider all relevant factors, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, and recent
financial operations. In the event we determine that we would be able to realize deferred income tax assets in excess of their net recorded amount, we would adjust the valuation allowance, which
would reduce the provision for income taxes.
We recognize tax benefits in the amount that we deem more likely than not will be realized upon ultimate settlement of any tax uncertainty. Tax positions that fail to qualify for recognition are
recognized during the period in which the more-likely-than-not standard has been reached, when the tax positions are resolved with the respective taxing authority, or when the statute of limitations
for tax examination has expired. We recognize applicable interest related to tax amounts in interest expense and penalties within general and administrative expenses.
Contingencies and Litigation. In the ordinary course of our business, we are involved in certain legal proceedings and other claims, including claims for indemnification by our customers. In
determining whether a loss should be accrued, we evaluate, among other factors, the probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. If only
a range of probable loss can be determined, we accrue for our best estimate within the range for the contingency. In those cases where none of the estimates within the range is better than another, we
accrue for the amount representing the low end of the range. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to our pending litigation and other contingencies
and revise our estimates as applicable. Revisions of our estimates of the potential liability could materially impact our results of operations. Additionally, if the final outcome of such litigation and
contingencies differs adversely from that currently expected, it would result in a charge to operating results when determined.
Business Combinations. We account for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. The purchase price of each business acquired is allocated to the tangible and
intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on information regarding their respective fair values on the date of acquisition. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the
separately identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwill. We determine the fair values used in purchase price allocations for intangible assets based on historical data,
estimated discounted future cash flows, expected royalty rates for trademarks and trade names, as well as other information. The valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires a number
of judgments and is subject to revision as additional information about the fair value of assets and liabilities becomes available. Additional information, which existed as of the acquisition date but
unknown to us at that time, may become known during the remainder of the measurement period. This measurement period may not exceed 12 months from the acquisition date. The Company will
recognize any adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustments are determined. Additionally, in the same period
in which adjustments are recognized, the Company will record the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result of any change to the
provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting adjustment had been completed at the acquisition date. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. The results of operations of businesses
acquired are included in the consolidated financial statements from their dates of acquisition.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed annually for impairment, or more frequently, if events occur that would indicate a potential
reduction in the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. We perform our annual impairment review of goodwill at the reporting unit level. Each of our operating segments with goodwill
represents a reporting unit for the purpose of assessing impairment. If we determine the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets is less than their carrying
value as a result of an annual or interim test, an impairment loss is recognized and reflected in operating income or loss in the consolidated statements of operations during the period incurred.
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We review finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable.
Recoverability is determined based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of an asset and its eventual disposition. Should an asset not be recoverable, an impairment
loss is measured by comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying value. If we determine the fair value of an asset is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized in operating
income or loss in the consolidated statements of operations during the period incurred.
We use judgment in assessing whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired. Estimates of fair value are based on our projection of revenues, operating costs, and cash flows taking into
consideration historical and anticipated future results, general economic and market conditions, as well as the impact of planned business or operational strategies. We determine the fair value of our
reporting units using a weighing of fair values derived in equal proportions from the income approach and market approach valuation methodologies. The income approach uses the discounted cash
flow method and the market approach uses the guideline company method. Changes in our judgments and projections could result in significantly different estimates of fair value, potentially resulting
in impairments of goodwill and other intangible assets. The inputs used for fair value measurements of the reporting units and other related indefinite-lived intangible assets are the lowest level (Level
3) inputs.
The Company’s goodwill resides in multiple reporting units and primarily consists of expected synergies, together with the expansion of the Company’s geographic presence and strengthening of
its customer base from acquisitions. Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed annually for impairment, or more frequently if events occur that would indicate a potential
reduction in the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The profitability of individual reporting units may suffer periodically due to downturns in customer demand, increased costs of
providing services, and the level of overall economic activity. The Company’s customers may reduce capital expenditures and defer or cancel pending projects due to changes in technology, a slowing
or uncertain economy, merger or acquisition activity, a decision to allocate resources to other areas of their business, or other reasons. The profitability of reporting units may also suffer if actual costs
of providing services exceed the costs anticipated when the Company enters into contracts. Additionally, adverse conditions in the economy and future volatility in the equity and credit markets could
impact the valuation of the Company’s reporting units. The cyclical nature of the Company’s business, the high level of competition existing within its industry, and the concentration of its revenues
from a limited number of customers may also cause results to vary. These factors may affect individual reporting units disproportionately, relative to the Company as a whole. As a result, the
performance of one or more of the reporting units could decline, resulting in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets.
During fiscal 2021 the economy of the United States was severely impacted by the nation’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Measures taken include travel restrictions, social distancing
requirements, quarantines, and shelter in place orders. As a result, businesses have been closed and certain business activities curtailed or modified. During the COVID-19 pandemic, our services
have generally been considered essential in nature and have not been materially interrupted. However, certain customers of one of the Company’s reporting units (“Broadband”) have decided to
restrict our technicians from entering third party premises. Furthermore, customers have modified their protocols to increase the self-installation of customer premise equipment by their subscribers.
Broadband generates a substantial portion of its revenue and operating results from installation services inside third party premises. The events following the onset of COVID-19 are expected to
result in a prolonged downturn in customer demand for installation services from Broadband. This is expected to have a direct, adverse impact on its revenue, operating results and cash flows. These
indicators represented a triggering event that warranted impairment testing of Broadband during the three months ended April 25, 2020.
The Broadband reporting unit includes the operations of Broadband Installation Services, Prince Telecom and certain other operations and generated revenue of less than 4% of the consolidated
contract revenue of Dycom in fiscal 2020. The Broadband reporting unit did not incur losses in fiscal 2020.
The fiscal 2021 interim impairment analysis for Broadband utilized the same valuation techniques used in the Company’s annual fiscal 2020 impairment analysis. The key assumptions used to
determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units during this interim impairment analysis were: (a) expected cash flow for a period of seven years; (b) terminal value based upon terminal
growth rates; and (c) a discount rate based on the Company’s best estimate of the weighted average cost of capital adjusted for risks associated with Broadband. Recent operating performance, along
with key assumptions for specific customer and industry opportunities, were used during the fiscal 2021 interim impairment analysis. The terminal growth rate used in the fiscal 2021 interim
assessment was 1.5% as compared to 3.0% in the fiscal 2020 assessment reflecting lower long-term demand levels. The discount rate used in the fiscal 2021 interim assessment was 12% compared to
10% in the fiscal 2020 assessment reflecting increased risk associated with the outlook of Broadband.
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The combination of lower expected operating results and cash flows from the reduction in revenue, as well as changes in valuation assumptions in the fiscal 2021 interim analysis resulted in a
substantial decline in the fair value of the Broadband reporting unit. In accordance with ASU 2017-04, the Company compared the estimated fair value of Broadband to its carrying amount. As a
result, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $53.3 million which is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the reporting unit’s fair value. After the impairment charge,
Broadband had $10.1 million of remaining goodwill as of April 25, 2020. The goodwill impairment charge did not affect the Company’s compliance with its financial covenants and conditions under
its revolving credit agreement.
The Company performs its annual goodwill assessment as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter of each fiscal year. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are required to be tested
for impairment between annual tests if events occur that would indicate a potential reduction in the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.
We performed our annual impairment assessment for fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, and concluded that no impairment of goodwill or the indefinite-lived intangible asset was indicated
at any reporting unit for any of the periods other than the first quarter of fiscal 2021 as described above. In each of these periods, qualitative assessments were performed on reporting units that
comprise a significant portion of our consolidated goodwill balance. A qualitative assessment includes evaluating all identified events and circumstances that could affect the significant inputs used to
determine the fair value of a reporting unit or indefinite-lived intangible asset for the purpose of determining whether it is more likely than not that these assets are impaired. We consider various
factors while performing qualitative assessments, including macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, financial performance of the reporting units, changes in market capitalization,
and any other specific reporting unit considerations. These qualitative assessments indicated that it was more likely than not that the fair value exceeded carrying value for those reporting units. For
the remaining reporting units, we performed the first step of the quantitative analysis described in ASC Topic 350 in each of these periods. When performing the quantitative analysis, we determine
the fair value of our reporting units using a weighing of fair values derived in equal proportions from the income approach and market approach valuation methodologies. Under the income approach,
the key valuation assumptions used in determining the fair value estimates of our reporting units for each annual test were: (a) a discount rate based on our best estimate of the weighted average cost
of capital adjusted for certain risks for the reporting units; (b) terminal value based on our best estimate of terminal growth rates; and (c) seven expected years of cash flow before the terminal value
based on our best estimate of the revenue growth rate and projected operating margin.
The table below outlines certain assumptions used in our annual quantitative impairment analyses for fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019;
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Terminal Growth Rate
3.0%
3.0%
Discount Rate
10.0%
10.0%

January 26, 2019
2.5% - 3.00%
11.0%

The discount rate reflects risks inherent within each reporting unit operating individually. These risks are greater than the risks inherent in the Company as a whole. Determination of discount
rates included consideration of market inputs such as the risk-free rate, equity risk premium, industry premium, and cost of debt, among other assumptions. The discount rate was consistent for fiscal
2021 and fiscal 2020. The decrease in the discount rate for fiscal 2020 from fiscal 2019 was mainly a result of a decrease in the cost of debt. We believe the assumptions used in the impairment
analysis each year are reflective of the risks inherent in the business models of our reporting units and our industry. Under the market approach, the guideline company method develops valuation
multiples by comparing our reporting units to similar publicly traded companies. Key valuation assumptions used in determining the fair value estimates of our reporting units rely on: (a) the
selection of similar companies and (b) the selection of valuation multiples as they apply to the reporting unit characteristics.
We determined that the fair values of each of the reporting units and the indefinite-lived intangible asset were in excess of their carrying values in the fiscal 2021 assessment. Management
determined that significant changes were not likely in the factors considered to estimate fair value, and analyzed the impact of such changes were they to occur. Specifically, if the discount rate
applied in the fiscal 2021 impairment analysis had been 100 basis points higher than estimated for each of the reporting units, and all other assumptions were held constant, the conclusion of the
assessment would remain unchanged and there would be no impairment of goodwill. Additionally, if there was a 25% decrease in the fair value of any of the reporting units due to a decline in their
discounted cash flows resulting from lower operating performance, the conclusion of the assessment would remain unchanged for all reporting units except for one. For this reporting unit with
goodwill of $10.1 million, the excess of fair value above its carrying value was 7.5% of the fair value. Recent operating performance, along with assumptions for specific customer and industry
opportunities, were considered in the key assumptions used during the fiscal 2021 impairment analysis. Management has determined the goodwill balance of this one reporting unit may have an
increased likelihood of impairment if a prolonged downturn in customer demand were to occur, or if the reporting unit was not able to
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execute against customer opportunities, and the long-term outlook for their cash flows were adversely impacted. Furthermore, changes in the long-term outlook may result in a change to other
valuation assumptions. Factors monitored by management which could result in a change to the reporting units’ estimates include the outcome of customer requests for proposals and subsequent
awards, strategies of competitors, labor market conditions and levels of overall economic activity.
The Company determined that there were no events or changes in circumstances for the other reporting units or indefinite lived intangible assets during fiscal 2021 that would indicate a potential
reduction in their fair value below their carrying amounts. As of January 30, 2021, the Company continues to believe the remaining goodwill and the indefinite-lived intangible asset are recoverable
for all of its reporting units. However, if adverse events were to occur or circumstances were to change indicating that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable, the assets
would be reviewed for impairment and could be impaired. There can be no assurances that goodwill or the indefinite-lived intangible asset may not be impaired in future periods.

Outlook
Developments in consumer and business applications within the telecommunications industry, including advanced digital and video service offerings, continue to increase demand for greater
wireline and wireless network capacity and reliability. A proliferation of technological developments has been made possible by improved networks and their underlying fiber connections. Faster
broadband connections are enabling the creation of other industries in which products and services rely on robust network connections for advanced functionality. Telecommunications providers will
continue to expand their network capabilities to meet the demand of their consumers, driving demand for the services we provide as these providers outsource a significant portion of their
engineering, construction, maintenance, and installation requirements.
Significant demand for broadband is driven by applications that require high speed connections as well as the everyday use of mobile data devices. To respond to this demand and other advances
in technology, major industry participants are constructing or upgrading significant wireline networks across broad sections of the country. These wireline networks are generally designed to
provision 1 gigabit network speeds to individual consumers and businesses, either directly or wirelessly using 5G technologies. Industry participants have indicated that a single high capacity fiber
network can most cost effectively deliver services to both consumers and businesses, enabling multiple revenue streams from a single investment. This view appears to be increasing the appetite for
fiber deployments and the industry effort required to deploy high capacity fiber networks continues to meaningfully broaden our set of opportunities. Access to high-capacity telecommunications has
become increasingly crucial to society in the time of the COVID-19 pandemic, especially in rural America. The wide and active participation in the recently completed Federal Communications
Commission (“FCC”) Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (“RDOF”) auction augurs well for dramatically increased rural network investment supported by private capital that in the case of at least some
of the participants is expected to be significantly more than the FCC subsidy. Although it is uncertain whether the demand triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic will be maintained at current levels,
we expect demand for access to high-capacity telecommunications to continue.
Telecommunications network operators are increasingly deploying fiber optic cable technology deeper into their networks and closer to consumers and businesses in order to respond to consumer
demand, competitive realities, and public policy support. Telephone companies are deploying fiber-to-the-home to enable 1 gigabit high-speed connections. Increasingly, rural electric utilities are
doing the same. Cable operators are deploying fiber to small and medium businesses and enterprises. A portion of these deployments are in anticipation of the customer sales process. Deployments to
expand capacity as well as new build opportunities are underway. Dramatically increased speeds to consumers are being provisioned and consumer data usage is growing, particularly upstream.
Customers are consolidating supply chains creating opportunities for market share growth and increasing the long-term value of our maintenance and operations business. In addition, we continue to
provide integrated planning, engineering and design, procurement and construction and maintenance services to several industry participants.
The cyclical nature of the industry we serve affects demand for our services. The capital expenditure and maintenance budgets of our customers, and the related timing of approvals and seasonal
spending patterns, influence our contract revenues and results of operations. Factors affecting our customers and their capital expenditure budgets include, but are not limited to, overall economic
conditions, the introduction of new technologies, our customers’ debt levels and capital structures, our customers’ financial performance, our customers’ positioning and strategic plans, and any
potential effects from the COVID-19 pandemic. Other factors that may affect our customers and their capital expenditure budgets include new regulations or regulatory actions impacting our
customers’ businesses, merger or acquisition activity involving our customers, and the physical maintenance needs of our customers’ infrastructure.
Our operations expose us to risks associated with pandemics, epidemics or other public health emergencies, such as COVID-19. Since March 2020, the economy of the United States has been
severely impacted by the nation’s response to
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COVID-19. Measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic have included travel restrictions, social distancing requirements, quarantines, and shelter in place orders. As a result, businesses
have been closed and certain business activities curtailed for varying periods of time and in varying geographic regions.
During the COVID-19 pandemic, our services have generally been considered essential in nature and have not been materially interrupted. As the situation continues to evolve, we are closely
monitoring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all aspects of our business, including its effects on our customers, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors and employees, in addition to how the
COVID-19 pandemic impacts our ability to provide services to our customers. We believe the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operating results, cash flows and financial
condition is likely to be determined by factors which are uncertain, unpredictable and outside of our control. The situation surrounding COVID-19 remains fluid, and if disruptions do arise, they
could materially adversely impact our business.
In addition, the ability of our employees and our suppliers’ and customers’ employees to work may be significantly impacted by individuals contracting or being exposed to COVID-19, or as a
result of the control measures noted above. Our customers may be directly impacted by business curtailments or weak market conditions and may not be willing to continue investments in the
services we provide. Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused delays, and increases the risk of further delays, in our provision of construction services due to delays in our ability to obtain
permits from government agencies. For further discussion of this matter, refer “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in Part I of this report.
Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated and the amounts as a percentage of contract revenues (totals may not add due to rounding)
(dollars in millions):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Contract revenues
$
3,199.2
100.0 % $
3,339.7
100.0 %
Expenses:
Costs of earned revenues, excluding depreciation and amortization
2,642.0
82.6
2,779.7
83.2
General and administrative
259.8
8.1
254.6
7.6
Depreciation and amortization
175.9
5.5
187.6
5.6
Goodwill impairment charge
53.3
1.7
—
Total
3,130.9
97.9
3,221.9
96.5
Interest expense, net
(29.7)
(0.9)
(50.9)
(1.5)
Gain (loss) on debt extinguishment
12.0
0.4
(0.1)
—
Other income, net
8.6
0.3
11.7
0.3
Income before income taxes
59.2
1.9
78.5
2.4
Provision for income taxes
24.9
0.8
21.3
0.6
$
34.3
1.1 % $
57.2
1.7 %
Net income
A comparison of our financial results for fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 can be found in the “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Results of Operations” section in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 25, 2020, filed on March 2, 2020.
Contract Revenues. Contract revenues were $3.199 billion during fiscal 2021 compared to $3.340 billion during fiscal 2020. Additionally, we earned $14.6 million and $4.7 million of contract
revenues from storm restoration services during fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively. Fiscal 2021 had 53 weeks of operations while fiscal 2020 had 52 weeks.
Excluding amounts generated from storm restoration services, contract revenues decreased by $150.4 million during fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020. Contract revenues decreased by
approximately $155.0 million for a large telecommunications customer improving its network and by approximately $126.7 million for a large telecommunications customer primarily for services for
fiber deployments. Additionally, contract revenues decreased by approximately $5.4 million for a large telecommunications customer primarily for decreases in services performed under existing
contracts. Partially offsetting these decreases, contract revenues increased by approximately $30.2 million for a leading cable multiple system operator from installation, maintenance and construction
services, including services to provision fiber to small and medium businesses, as well as network improvements. Contract revenues also increased by approximately $10.1 million for services

34

Table of Contents

performed for a telecommunications customer in connection with rural services. All other customers had net increases in contract revenues of $96.4 million on a combined basis during fiscal 2021
compared to fiscal 2020.
The percentage of our contract revenues by customer type from telecommunications, underground facility locating, and electric and gas utilities and other customers, was 89.1%, 7.2%, and 3.7%,
respectively, for fiscal 2021 compared to 90.8%, 6.1%, and 3.1%, respectively, for fiscal 2020.
Costs of Earned Revenues. Costs of earned revenues decreased to $2.642 billion, or 82.6% of contract revenues, during fiscal 2021 compared to $2.780 billion, or 83.2% of contract revenues,
during fiscal 2020. The primary components of the decrease were a $67.4 million aggregate decrease in direct labor and subcontractor costs, a $51.7 million decrease in direct materials, a $17.4
million decrease in equipment maintenance and fuel costs combined, and a $1.2 million decrease in other direct costs.
Costs of earned revenues as a percentage of contract revenues decreased 0.6% during fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020. As a percentage of contract revenues, direct materials decreased 1.2%
primarily as a result of our mix of work in which we provide materials for our customers. Equipment maintenance and fuel costs combined decreased 0.3% as a percentage of contract revenues during
fiscal 2021. Labor and subcontracted labor costs increased 0.6% and other direct costs increased 0.3% as a percentage of contract revenues on a combined basis.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased to $259.8 million, or 8.1% of contract revenues, during fiscal 2021 compared to $254.6 million, or 7.6% of
contract revenues, during fiscal 2020. The increase in total general and administrative expenses primarily resulted from increased performance based compensation and stock -based compensation.
Additionally total general and administrative expenses included a provision for bad debt expense of $0.4 million during fiscal 2021, compared to net recoveries of accounts receivable of $6.5 million
during fiscal 2020. Other general and administrative expenses decreased by $13.1 million as a result of declines in payroll costs, professional fees and travel expenses, offset in part by an increase in
software license and maintenance fees, and insurance cost.
Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation expense was $155.3 million, or 4.9% of contract revenues, during fiscal 2021, compared to $166.4 million, or 5.0% of contract revenues, during
fiscal 2020. The decrease in depreciation expense during fiscal 2021 was primarily due to the reduction in capital asset acquisitions in the last half of fiscal 2020 and throughout fiscal 2021.
Amortization expense was $20.6 million and $21.2 million during fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively.
Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net was $29.7 million and $50.9 million during fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively. Interest expense includes $7.4 million and $20.1 million for the
non-cash amortization of the debt discount associated with the 0.75% convertible senior notes due September 2021 (the “Notes”) during fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively. Excluding this
amortization, interest expense, net decreased to $22.2 million during fiscal 2021 from $30.7 million during fiscal 2020 as a result of lower outstanding borrowings.
Other Income, Net. Other income, net was $8.6 million and $11.7 million during fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively. The change in other income, net was primarily a function of the number
of assets sold and prices obtained for those assets during each respective period. Gain on sale of fixed assets was $10.0 million and $14.9 million during fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively.
Other income, net also reflects $2.1 million and $4.2 million of expense associated with the non-recourse sale of accounts receivable under a customer-sponsored vendor payment program during
fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, respectively.
Gain on Debt Extinguishment. Gain on debt extinguishment for fiscal 2021 of $12.0 million includes pre-tax charges related to the extinguishment of $401.7 million of our 0.75% convertible
senior notes (the “Notes”), including the write-off of deferred debt issuance costs on the Notes.
Income Taxes. The following table presents our income tax provision and effective income tax rate for fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 (dollars in millions):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Income tax provision
$
24.9
$
Effective income tax rate
42.0 %

21.3
27.1 %

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Stimulus Bills were signed into law and include tax provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, the deferral of employer’s social security
payments, and modifications to net operating loss
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(“NOL”) carryback provisions. During fiscal 2021, we recognized an income tax benefit of $2.6 million from a tax loss carryback technical correction under the CARES Act.
Fluctuations in our effective income tax rate were primarily attributable to the difference in income tax rates from state to state where work was performed, variances in non-deductible and nontaxable items, and the impact of the vesting and exercise of share-based awards during the periods. Additionally, during fiscal 2021, our effective tax rate was impacted by the $53.3 million goodwill
impairment charge which was mostly non-deductible for income tax purposes, and the benefit from the $2.6 million tax loss carryback technical correction under the CARES Act.
Net Income. Net income was $34.3 million for fiscal 2021 compared to $57.2 million for fiscal 2020.
Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is a Non-GAAP measure, as defined by Regulation G of the SEC. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, gain on sale of fixed assets, stock-based compensation expense, and certain non-recurring items. Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is a helpful measure for
comparing the Company’s operating performance with prior periods as well as with the performance of other companies with different capital structures or tax rates. The following table provides a
reconciliation of net income to Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA (dollars in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Net income
$
34,337
$
57,215
Interest expense, net
29,671
50,859
Provision for income taxes
24,880
21,321
Depreciation and amortization
175,897
187,556
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation & Amortization (“EBITDA”)
264,785
316,951
Gain on sale of fixed assets
(10,026)
(14,879)
Stock-based compensation expense
12,771
10,034
Charges for a wage and hour litigation settlement
2,254
—
Goodwill impairment charge
53,264
—
(Gain) loss on debt extinguishment
(12,046)
76
Recovery of previously reserved accounts receivable and contract assets
—
(10,345)
Q1-20 charge for warranty costs
—
8,200
$
311,002
$
310,037
Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA
Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA % of contract revenues

9.7 %

9.3 %

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We are subject to concentrations of credit risk relating primarily to our cash and equivalents, accounts receivable, and contract assets. Cash and equivalents primarily include balances on deposit
with banks and totaled $11.8 million as of January 30, 2021, compared to $54.6 million as of January 25, 2020. We maintain our cash and equivalents at financial institutions we believe to be of high
credit quality. To date, we have not experienced any loss or lack of access to cash in our operating accounts.
In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into privately-negotiated convertible note hedge transactions with certain counterparties. We are subject to counterparty risk with respect
to these convertible note hedge transactions. The hedge counterparties are financial institutions, and we are subject to the risk that they might default under the convertible note hedge transactions. To
mitigate that risk, we contracted with institutional counterparties who met specific requirements under our risk assessment process. Additionally, the transactions are subject to a netting arrangement,
which also reduces credit risk.
Sources of Cash. Our sources of cash are operating activities, long-term debt, equity offerings, bank borrowings, proceeds from the sale of idle and surplus equipment and real property, and stock
option proceeds. Cash flow from operations is primarily influenced by demand for our services and operating margins, but can also be influenced by working capital needs
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associated with the services that we provide. In particular, working capital needs may increase when we have growth in operations and where project costs, primarily associated with labor,
subcontractors, equipment, and materials, are required to be paid before the related customer balances owed to us are invoiced and collected. Our working capital (total current assets less total current
liabilities, excluding the current portion of debt) was $801.9 million as of January 30, 2021 compared to $957.8 million as of January 25, 2020.
Capital resources are used primarily to purchase equipment and maintain sufficient levels of working capital to support our contractual commitments to customers. We periodically borrow from
and repay our revolving credit facility depending on our cash requirements. We currently intend to retain any earnings for use in the business and other capital allocation strategies which may include
investment in acquisitions and share repurchases. Consequently, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Our level of capital expenditures can vary depending on the customer demand for our services, the replacement cycle we select for our equipment, and overall growth. We intend to fund these
expenditures primarily from operating cash flows, availability under our credit agreement, and cash on hand. We expect capital expenditures, net of disposals, to range from $150.0 million to $160.0
million during fiscal 2022 to support growth opportunities and the replacement of certain fleet assets.
Sufficiency of Capital Resources. We believe that our capital resources, including existing cash balances and amounts available under our credit agreement, are sufficient to meet our financial
obligations. These obligations include interest payments required on the Notes and outstanding term loan facility and revolver borrowings under our credit agreement, working capital requirements,
and the normal replacement of equipment at our expected level of operations for at least the next 12 months. Our capital requirements may increase to the extent we seek to grow by acquisitions that
involve consideration other than our stock, experience difficulty or delays in collecting amounts owed to us by our customers, increase our working capital in connection with new or existing
customer programs, or to the extent we repurchase our common stock, repay credit agreement borrowings, or redeem or convert the Notes. Changes in financial markets or other components of the
economy could adversely impact our ability to access the capital markets, in which case we would expect to rely on a combination of available cash and our credit agreement to provide short-term
funding. Management regularly monitors the financial markets and assesses general economic conditions for possible impact on our financial position. We believe our cash investment policies are
prudent and expect that any volatility in the capital markets would not have a material impact on our cash investments.
Net Cash Flows. The following table presents our net cash flows for fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 (dollars in millions):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
Net cash flows:
Provided by operating activities
Used in investing activities
Used in financing activities

$
$
$

January 25, 2020
381.8 $
(44.6) $
(383.4) $

58.0
(101.2)
(31.1)

Cash Provided By Operating Activities. Depreciation and amortization, goodwill impairment charge, non-cash lease expense, stock-based compensation, amortization of debt discount and debt
issuance costs, deferred income taxes, gain on sale of fixed assets, and bad debt recovery were the primary non-cash items in cash flows from operating activities during the current and prior periods.
During fiscal 2021, net cash provided by operating activities was $381.8 million. Changes in working capital (excluding cash) and changes in other long-term assets and liabilities provided
$113.3 million of operating cash flow during fiscal 2021. Working capital changes that used operating cash flow during fiscal 2021 included increases in accounts receivable of $41.8 million.
Changes that provided operating cash flow during fiscal 2021 included a decrease in contract assets, net; other current assets and inventories; income tax receivable; and other assets of $53.7 million,
$27.3 million, $7.5 million and $9.2 million, respectively. In addition, a net increase in accounts payable of $43.7 million and accrued liabilities of $13.6 million, each primarily as a result of the
timing of payments, provided operating cash flow during fiscal 2021.
Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) is calculated based on the ending balance of total current and non-current accounts receivable (including unbilled accounts receivable), net of the allowance for
doubtful accounts, and current contract assets, net of contract liabilities, divided by the average daily revenue for the most recently completed quarter. Long-term contract assets are excluded from the
calculation of DSO, as these amounts represent payments made to customers pursuant to long-term agreements and are recognized as a reduction of contract revenues over the period for which the
related services are provided to
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the customers. Including these balances in DSO is not meaningful to the average time to collect accounts receivable and current contract asset balances. Our DSO was 136 days as of January 30,
2021, compared to 130 days as of January 25, 2020. The increase in our DSO was primarily a result of the amount of work performed under a large customer program. This program consists of
multiple tasks which will be billed as the tasks are completed.
See Note 6, Accounts Receivable, Contract Assets, and Contract Liabilities, for further information on our customer credit concentration as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020 and Note
20, Customer Concentration and Revenue Information, for further information on our significant customers. We believe that none of our significant customers were experiencing financial difficulties
that would materially impact the collectability of our total accounts receivable and contract assets, net as of January 30, 2021 or January 25, 2020.
During fiscal 2020, net cash provided by operating activities was $58.0 million. Changes in working capital (excluding cash) and changes in other long-term assets and liabilities used $238.9
million of operating cash flow during fiscal 2020. Working capital changes that used operating cash flow during fiscal 2020 included increases in accounts receivable; contract assets, net; other
current assets and inventories; and accounts payable of $195.8 million, $35.9 million, $7.0 million and $2.1 million, respectively. In addition, a net decrease in accrued liabilities used $39.1 million of
operating cash flow primarily resulted from payments made related to operating lease liabilities and the timing of other payments. Changes that provided operating cash flow during fiscal 2020
included a net decrease in other assets of $41.1 million primarily as a result of collections of long-term accounts receivable and a reduction of long-term contract assets.
Cash Used in Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $44.6 million during fiscal 2021. During fiscal 2021, capital expenditures of $58.0 million, primarily as a result of
spending for new work opportunities and the replacement of certain fleet assets, were offset in part by proceeds from the sale of assets of $13.4 million.
Net cash used in investing activities was $101.2 million during fiscal 2020. During fiscal 2020, capital expenditures of $120.6 million, primarily as a result of spending for new work
opportunities and the replacement of certain fleet assets, were offset in part by proceeds from the sale of assets of $19.0 million.
Cash Used in by Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $383.4 million during fiscal 2021. During fiscal 2021, borrowings under our credit agreement, net of repayments,
were $82.5 million. We repurchased 1,324,381shares of our common stock in open market transactions, at an average price $75.51 per share, for $100.0 million. We also purchased $401.7 million of
our convertible senior notes (“Notes”) for $371.4 million, including interest and fees, resulting in a $30.8 million redemption discount on convertible debt. In connection with the purchase, we
unwound convertible note hedge transactions and warrants proportionally to the number of Notes. We received $7.2 million for the settlement of the convertible note hedges and paid $7.2 million for
the warrants. During fiscal 2021, we withheld shares and paid $0.7 million to tax authorities in order to meet the payroll tax withholding obligations on restricted share units that vested during the
period. Partially offsetting these uses, we received $5.7 million from the exercise of stock options during fiscal 2021.
Net cash used in financing activities was $31.1 million during fiscal 2020. During fiscal 2020, repayments under our credit agreement, net of borrowings, were $5.6 million. Additionally, during
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, we purchased, through open-market transactions, $25.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes for $24.3 million, leaving the principal amount of $460.0
million outstanding. This transaction resulted in cash provided of $0.7 million related to the redemption discount on the Notes and $0.4 million related to the settlement of a portion of the convertible
note hedge, partially offset by cash used of $0.3 million related to the purchase of a portion of the warrants. During fiscal 2020, we withheld shares and paid $1.7 million to tax authorities in order to
meet the payroll tax withholding obligations on restricted share units that vested during the period. Partially offsetting these uses, we received $0.5 million from the exercise of stock options during
fiscal 2020.
Compliance with Credit Agreement. On October 19, 2018, we amended and restated our existing credit agreement to extend its maturity date to October 19, 2023 and, among other things,
increase the maximum revolver commitment to $750.0 million from $450.0 million, and increase the term loan facility to $450.0 million. The credit agreement includes a $200.0 million sublimit for
the issuance of letters of credit.
The credit agreement provides us with the ability to enter into one or more incremental facilities, either by increasing the revolving commitments under the credit agreement and/or in the form of
term loans. These facilities can be increased up to the greater of $350.0 million or an amount that does not result in our consolidated senior secured net leverage ratio exceeding 2.25 to 1.00, after
giving effect to such incremental facilities on a pro forma basis (assuming that the amount of the incremental commitments are fully drawn and funded). Our consolidated senior secured net leverage
ratio is the ratio of our consolidated senior secured indebtedness reduced by unrestricted cash and equivalents in excess of $50.0 million to our trailing 12 month consolidated earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization, as defined by the credit agreement (“EBITDA”).
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Borrowings under the credit agreement are guaranteed by substantially all of our subsidiaries and secured by the equity interests of the substantial majority of our subsidiaries.
Under our credit agreement, borrowings bear interest at the rates described below based upon our consolidated net leverage ratio, which is the ratio of our consolidated total funded debt reduced
by unrestricted cash and equivalents in excess of $50.0 million to our trailing 12 month consolidated EBITDA, as defined by our credit agreement. In addition, we incur certain fees for unused
balances and letters of credit at the rates described below, also based upon our consolidated net leverage ratio:
Borrowings - Eurodollar Rate Loans
1.25% - 2.00% plus LIBOR
Borrowings - Base Rate Loans
0.25% - 1.00% plus administrative agent’s base rate(1)
Unused Revolver Commitment
0.20% - 0.40%
Standby Letters of Credit
1.25% - 2.00%
Commercial Letters of Credit
0.625% - 1.00%
(1)

The administrative agent’s base rate is described in our credit agreement as the highest of (i) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, (ii) the administrative agent’s prime rate, and (iii) the Eurodollar
rate plus 1.00%.
Standby letters of credit of approximately $52.2 million and $52.3 million, issued as part of our insurance program, were outstanding under our credit agreement as January 30, 2021 and
January 25, 2020, respectively.
The weighted average interest rates and fees for balances under our credit agreement as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020 were as follows:
Weighted Average Rate End of Period
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Borrowings - Term loan facility
1.63%
3.67%
Borrowings - Revolving facility(1)
2.14%
—%
Standby Letters of Credit
1.50%
2.00%
Unused Revolver Commitment
0.25%
0.40%
(1)

There were no outstanding borrowings under our revolving facility as of January 25, 2020.

Our credit agreement contains a financial covenant that requires us to maintain a consolidated net leverage ratio of not greater than 3.50 to 1.00, as measured at the end of each fiscal quarter, and
provides for certain increases to this ratio in connection with permitted acquisitions. The agreement also contains a financial covenant that requires us to maintain a consolidated interest coverage
ratio, which is the ratio of our trailing 12 month consolidated EBITDA to our consolidated interest expense, each as defined by our credit agreement, of not less than 3.00 to 1.00, as measured at the
end of each fiscal quarter. In addition, our credit agreement contains a minimum liquidity covenant that would become effective beginning 91 days before the maturity date of our 0.75% convertible
senior notes due September 2021 (the “Notes”) if the outstanding principal amount of the Notes were greater than $250.0 million, however, this covenant terminated on June 5, 2020 when the
outstanding principal amount of the Notes was reduced to $58.3 million. At January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, we were in compliance with the financial covenants of our credit agreement and
had borrowing availability under our revolving facility of $558.7 million and $287.0 million, respectively, as determined by the most restrictive covenant.
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Contractual Obligations. The following table sets forth our outstanding contractual obligations as of January 30, 2021 (dollars in thousands):

0.75% convertible senior notes due September 2021
Credit agreement – revolving facility
Credit agreement – term loan facility
Fixed interest payments on long-term debt(1)
Obligations under long-term operating leases(2)
Obligations under short-term operating leases(3)
Employment agreements
Deferral of tax payments(4)
Purchase and other contractual obligations(5)
Total

Less than 1 Year
$
58,264
—
25,312
437
28,159
719
18,754
18,600
34,291
$
184,536

Years 1 – 3
$

$

—
105,000
396,563
—
31,253
—
7,834
18,742
1,597
560,989

Years 3 – 5
$

$

—
—
—
—
9,647
—
1,392
—
—
11,039

Greater than 5
Years
$
—
—
—
—
2,178
—
—
—
—
$
2,178

Total
$

$

58,264
105,000
421,875
437
71,237
719
27,980
37,342
35,888
758,742

(1)

Includes interest payments on our $58.3 million principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes due 2021 outstanding and excludes interest payments on our variable rate debt. Variable rate
debt as of January 30, 2021 consisted of $421.9 million outstanding under our term loan facility and $105.0 million of revolver borrowings.
(2)

Amounts represent undiscounted lease obligations under long-term operating leases and exclude long-term operating leases that have not yet commenced of $1.7 million as of January 30, 2021.

(3)

Amounts represent lease obligations under short-term operating leases that are not recorded on our consolidated balance sheet as of January 30, 2021.

(4)

Amounts represent deferral of payroll tax payments, 50% of which are due by December 31, 2021 and the remainder of which are due by December 31, 2022, as permitted by the CARES Act.

(5)

We have committed capital for the expansion of our vehicle fleet in order to accommodate manufacturer lead times. As of January 30, 2021, purchase and other contractual obligations includes
approximately $32.9 million for issued orders with delivery dates scheduled to occur over the next 12 months.
We have excluded contractual obligations under the multi-employer defined pension plans that cover certain of our employees, as these obligations are determined based on our future union
employee payrolls, which cannot be reliably determined as of January 30, 2021. See Note 17, Employee Benefit Plans, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information regarding obligations under multi-employer defined pension plans.
Our consolidated balance sheet as of January 30, 2021 includes a long-term liability of approximately $70.2 million for accrued insurance claims. This liability has been excluded from the table
above as the timing of payments is uncertain.
The liability for unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions was approximately $5.9 million and $4.7 million, as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively, and is included
in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. This amount has been excluded from the contractual obligations table because we are unable to reasonably estimate the timing of the resolution
of the underlying tax positions with the relevant tax authorities.
Performance and Payment Bonds and Guarantees. We have obligations under performance and other surety contract bonds related to certain of our customer contracts. Performance bonds
generally provide a customer with the right to obtain payment and/or performance from the issuer of the bond if we fail to perform our contractual obligations. As of January 30, 2021 and January 25,
2020 we had $212.2 million and $156.1 million of outstanding performance and other surety contract bonds, respectively. The estimated cost to complete projects secured by our outstanding
performance and other surety contract bonds was approximately $111.1 million as of January 30, 2021. In addition to performance and other surety contract bonds, as part of our insurance program
we also provide surety bonds that collateralize our obligations to our insurance carriers. As of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, we had $20.9 million and $23.4 million, respectively, of
outstanding surety bonds related to our insurance obligations. Additionally, we have periodically guaranteed certain obligations of our subsidiaries, including obligations in connection with obtaining
state contractor licenses and leasing real property and equipment.
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Letters of Credit. We have standby letters of credit issued under our credit agreement as part of our insurance program. These letters of credit collateralize obligations to our insurance carriers in
connection with the settlement of potential claims. In connection with these collateral obligations, we had $52.2 million and $52.3 million outstanding standby letters of credit issued under our credit
agreement as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively.
Backlog. Our backlog is an estimate of the uncompleted portion of services to be performed under contractual agreements with our customers and totaled $6.810 billion and $7.314 billion at
January 30, 2021, and January 25, 2020, respectively. We expect to complete 40.9% of the January 30, 2021 total backlog during the next 12 months. Our backlog represents an estimate of services to
be performed pursuant to master service agreements and other contractual agreements over the terms of those contracts. These estimates are based on contract terms and evaluations regarding the
timing of the services to be provided. In the case of master service agreements, backlog is estimated based on the work performed in the preceding 12 month period, when available. When estimating
backlog for newly initiated master service agreements and other long and short-term contracts, we also consider the anticipated scope of the contract and information received from the customer
during the procurement process and, where applicable, other ancillary information. A significant majority of our backlog comprises services under master service agreements and other long-term
contracts.
In many instances, our customers are not contractually committed to procure specific volumes of services under a contract. Contract revenue estimates reflected in our backlog can be subject to
change due to a number of factors, including contract cancellations or changes in the amount of work we expect to be performed. In addition, contract revenues reflected in our backlog may be
realized in different periods from those previously reported due to these factors as well as project accelerations or delays due to various reasons, including, but not limited to, changes in customer
spending priorities, scheduling changes, commercial issues, such as permitting, engineering revisions, job site conditions and adverse weather, and the potential adverse effects of the COVID-19
pandemic. The amount or timing of our backlog can also be impacted by the merger or acquisition activity of our customers. Many of our contracts may be cancelled by our customers, or work
previously awarded to us pursuant to these contracts may be cancelled, regardless of whether or not we are in default. The amount of backlog related to uncompleted projects in which a provision for
estimated losses was recorded is not material.
Backlog is not a measure defined by United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, GAAP results.
Participants in our industry often disclose a calculation of their backlog; however, our methodology for determining backlog may not be comparable to the methodologies used by others. We utilize
our calculation of backlog to assist in measuring aggregate awards under existing contractual relationships with our customers. We believe our backlog disclosures will assist investors in better
understanding this estimate of the services to be performed pursuant to awards by our customers under existing contractual relationships.
Legal Proceedings
Refer to Note 21, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10‑K.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 3, Accounting Standards, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10‑K for a discussion of recent accounting standards and
pronouncements.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Interest Rate and Market Price Risk. We are exposed to market risks related to interest rates on our cash and equivalents and interest rates and market price sensitivity on our debt obligations. We
monitor the effects of market fluctuations on interest rates. We manage interest rate risks by investing in short-term cash equivalents that bear market rates of interest and by maintaining a mix of
fixed and variable rate debt obligations.
Our credit agreement permits borrowings at a variable rate of interest. On January 30, 2021, we had variable rate debt outstanding under our credit agreement of $421.9 million under our term
loan facility and $105.0 million of revolver borrowings. Interest related to these borrowings fluctuates based on LIBOR or the base rate of the bank administrative agent of our credit agreement. At
the current level of borrowings, for every 50 basis point change in the interest rate, interest expense associated with such borrowings would correspondingly change by approximately $2.6 million
annually.
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In September 2015, we issued $485.0 million principal amount of convertible senior notes (the “Notes”), which bear a fixed rate of interest of 0.75%. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, we
purchased, through open-market transactions, $25 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes for $24.3 million, leaving the principal amount of $460.0 million outstanding. After the write-off of
associated debt issuance costs, the net loss on extinguishment was $0.1 million for fiscal 2020. In fiscal 2021, we purchased $401.7 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes for $371.4
million, including interest and fees, leaving the principal amount of $58.3 million outstanding. The Notes were purchased through a tender offer as well as a portion in privately-negotiated
transactions. After the write-off of associated debt issuance costs, the net gain on extinguishment was $12.0 million for fiscal 2021.
The following table summarizes the carrying amount and fair value of the Notes, net of the debt discount and debt issuance costs. The fair value of the Notes is based on the closing trading price
per $100 of the Notes as of the last day of trading for the respective periods (Level 2), which was $104.50 and $97.25 as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively (dollars in thousands)
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Principal amount of Notes
$
58,264 $
460,000
Less: Debt discount and debt issuance costs
(1,854)
(37,474)
$
56,410 $
422,526
Net carrying amount of Notes
Fair value of principal amount of Notes
Less: Debt discount and debt issuance costs

$
$

Fair value of Notes

60,886 $
(1,854)
59,032 $

447,350
(37,474)
409,876

A hypothetical 50 basis point change in the market interest rates in effect would result in an increase or decrease in the fair value of the Notes of approximately $0.2 million, calculated on a
discounted cash flow basis as of January 30, 2021.
In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions with counterparties for the purpose of reducing the potential dilution to common stockholders
from the conversion of the Notes and offsetting any potential cash payments in excess of the principal amount of the Notes. In the event that shares or cash are deliverable to holders of the Notes upon
conversion at limits defined in the indenture governing the Notes, counterparties to the convertible note hedge will be required to deliver to us shares of our common stock or pay cash to us in a
similar amount as the value that we deliver to the holders of the Notes based on a conversion price of $96.89 per share. At inception of the convertible note hedge transactions, up to 5.006 million of
our shares could be deliverable to us upon conversion. After the Company settled a portion of the note hedge transactions during fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021in connection with the purchase of $25
million and $401.7 million, respectively, of the Notes, the number of shares that could be deliverable to us upon conversion was reduced to up to 0.601 million of our shares.
We also entered into separately negotiated warrant transactions with the same counterparties as the convertible note hedge transactions whereby we sold warrants to purchase, subject to certain
anti-dilution adjustments, up to 5.006 million shares of our common stock at a price of $130.43 per share. After the Company purchased a portion of the warrants during fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021 in
connection with the purchase of $25 million and $401.7 million, respectively, of the Notes, the remaining warrant transactions provide for up to 0.601 million shares. The warrants will not have a
dilutive effect on our earnings per share unless our quarterly average share price exceeds the warrant strike price of $130.43 per share. In this event, we expect to settle the warrant transactions on a
net share basis whereby we will issue shares of our common stock. See Note 14, Debt, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
discussion of these debt transactions.
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DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)
January 30, 2021
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable, net (Note 6)
Contract assets
Inventories
Income tax receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
$

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Current portion of debt
Contract liabilities
Accrued insurance claims
Operating lease liabilities
Income taxes payable
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt
Accrued insurance claims - non-current
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Deferred tax liabilities, net non-current
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

January 25, 2020

11,770
858,123
197,110
70,849
1,706
29,072
1,168,630
273,960
63,179
272,485
119,322
46,589
1,944,165

158,966
81,722
14,101
41,736
24,769
6,387
120,809
448,490

$

$

$

54,560
817,245
253,005
98,324
3,168
31,991
1,258,293
376,610
69,596
325,749
139,945
47,438
2,217,631

119,612
22,500
16,332
38,881
26,581
344
98,775
323,025

501,562
70,224
38,359
47,650
26,572
1,132,857

844,401
56,026
43,606
75,527
6,442
1,349,027

—

—

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 21)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share: 1,000,000 shares authorized: no shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, par value $0.33 1/3 per share: 150,000,000 shares authorized: 30,615,167 and 31,583,938 issued and outstanding,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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10,205
2,284
(1,769)
800,588
811,308
1,944,165 $

10,528
30,158
(1,781)
829,699
868,604
2,217,631
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DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts)
Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020

January 30, 2021
Contract revenues

$

Costs of earned revenues, excluding depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill impairment charge
Total
Interest expense, net
Gain (loss) on debt extinguishment
Other income, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

3,199,165

$

3,339,682

January 26, 2019
$

3,127,700

2,641,989
259,770
175,897
53,264
3,130,920

2,779,730
254,590
187,556
—
3,221,876

2,562,392
269,140
179,603
—
3,011,135

(29,671)
12,046
8,597
59,217

(50,859)
(76)
11,665
78,536

(44,369)
—
15,842
88,038

24,880

21,321

25,131

Net income

$

34,337

$

57,215

$

62,907

Earnings per common share:
Basic earnings per common share

$

1.08

$

1.82

$

2.01

Diluted earnings per common share

$

1.07

$

1.80

$

1.97

Shares used in computing earnings per common share:
Basic

31,665,183

31,498,474

31,250,376

Diluted

32,090,578

31,821,782

31,990,168

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Dollars in thousands)
January 30, 2021
$
34,337
12
$
34,349

Net Income
Foreign currency translation gains (losses), net of tax
Comprehensive income
See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020
January 26, 2019
$
57,215 $
62,907
(499)
(136)
$
56,716 $
62,771
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DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars in thousands)
Common Stock
Shares
31,185,669
82,235
3,122
159,005
—
—
31,430,031
45,258
2,803
105,846

Balances as of January 27, 2018
Stock options exercised
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of restricted stock, net of tax withholdings
Other comprehensive loss
Net income
Balances as of January 26, 2019
Stock options exercised
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of restricted stock, net of tax withholdings
Equity component of the settlement of 0.75% convertible senior
notes due 2021, net of taxes
Purchase of warrants
Settlement of convertible note hedges related to extinguishment of
convertible debt
Other comprehensive loss
Net income
Balances as of January 25, 2020
Cumulative effect from implementation of ASU 2016-13
Stock options exercised
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of restricted stock, net of tax withholdings
Equity component of the settlement of 0.75% convertible senior
notes due 2021, net of taxes
Purchase of warrants
Settlement of convertible note hedges related to extinguishment of
convertible debt
Repurchase of common Stock
Other comprehensive income
Net income
Balances as of January 30, 2021

$

$

Amount
10,395
27
1
54
—
—
10,477
15
1
35

Additional
Paid-in Capital
$
6,170 $
844
20,186
(4,711)
—
—
22,489
488
10,033
(1,733)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
(1,146) $
—
—
—
(136)
—
(1,282)
—
—
—

Retained
Earnings
709,577
—
—
—
—
62,907
772,484
—
—
—

$

Total
Equity
724,996
871
20,187
(4,657)
(136)
62,907
804,168
503
10,034
(1,698)

—
—

—
—

(1,206)
(301)

—
—

—
—

(1,206)
(301)

—
—
—
31,583,938
—
295,650
4,962
54,998

—
—
—
10,528
—
98
1
19

388
—
—
30,158
—
5,640
12,770
(747)

—
(499)
—
(1,781)
—
—
—
—

—
—
57,215
829,699
(471)
—
—
—

388
(499)
57,215
868,604
(471)
5,738
12,771
(728)

—
—

—
—

(8,976)
(7,176)

—
—

—
—

(8,976)
(7,176)

—
—
12
—
(1,769) $

—
(62,977)
—
34,337
800,588 $

—
(1,324.381)
—
—
30,615,167 $

—
(441)
—
—
10,205 $

7,197
(36,582)
—
—
2,284 $

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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7,197
(100,000)
12
34,337
811,308
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DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)

Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash lease expense
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision
Stock-based compensation
Provision for bad debt (recovery), net
Gain on sale of fixed assets
(Gain) loss on debt extinguishment
Amortization of debt discount
Amortization of debt issuance costs and other
Goodwill impairment charge
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net
Contract assets, net
Other current assets and inventories
Other assets
Income taxes receivable/payable
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities, insurance claims, operating lease liabilities, and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of assets
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Other investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings on senior credit agreement, including term loans
Principal payments on senior credit agreement, including term loans
Debt financing costs
Repurchase of common stock
Extinguishment of 0.75% senior notes
Redemption discount on convertible debt, net of costs
Settlement of convertible note hedges related to extinguished convertible debt
Purchase of warrants
Exercise of stock options
Restricted stock tax withholdings
48

January 30, 2021
$
34,337

Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020
$
57,215

175,897
31,828
(28,185)
12,771
406
(10,026)
(12,046)
7,441
2,797
53,264

187,556
30,043
9,261
10,034
(6,540)
(14,879)
76
20,112
4,023
—

179,603
—
8,523
20,187
17,071
(19,390)
—
19,103
3,686
—

(41,755)
53,664
27,316
9,178
7,505
43,747
13,638
381,777

(195,796)
(35,888)
(6,960)
41,068
(84)
(2,141)
(39,101)
57,999

(30,750)
(149,828)
(15,842)
(25,110)
10,357
20,064
23,866
124,447

(58,047)
13,419
—
—
(44,628)

(120,574)
19,045
—
306
(101,223)

(164,963)
22,949
(20,917)
1,576
(161,355)

1,056,000
(973,500)
—
(100,000)
(401,736)
30,761
7,197
(7,176)
5,738
(728)

475,000
(480,625)
—
—
(25,000)
675
388
(301)
503
(1,698)

423,188
(331,250)
(7,275)
—
—
—
—
—
871
(4,657)

$

January 26, 2019
62,907
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DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands)

January 30, 2021
(383,444)
(46,295)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period

Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020
(31,058)
(74,282)

59,869

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of other cash flow activities and non-cash investing and financing activities:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for taxes, net
Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable or other accrued liabilities at period end
See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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January 26, 2019
80,877
43,969

134,151

90,182

$

13,574

$

59,869

$

134,151

$
$
$

20,653
45,332
6,556

$
$
$

26,655
12,017
8,814

$
$
$

22,312
6,396
6,795
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Basis of Presentation
Dycom Industries, Inc. (“Dycom”, the “Company”, “we”, or “us”) is a leading provider of specialty contracting services throughout the United States. We provide program management,
engineering, construction, maintenance and installation services for telecommunications providers, underground facility locating services for various utilities, including telecommunications providers,
and other construction and maintenance services for electric and gas utilities.
Accounting Period. In September 2017, our Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from the last Saturday in July to the last Saturday in January. The change
better aligned our fiscal year with the planning cycles of our customers. For quarterly comparisons, there were no changes to the months in each fiscal quarter. We use a 52/53 week fiscal year ending
on the last Saturday in January. Fiscal 2021 consisted of 53 weeks and fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 consisted of 52 weeks of operations.
We refer to the period beginning January 26, 2020 and ending on January 30, 2021 as “fiscal 2021”, the period beginning on January 27, 2019 and ending on January 25, 2020 as “fiscal 2020”,
the period beginning on January 28, 2018 and ending January 26, 2019 as “fiscal 2019”, the period beginning July 30, 2017 and ending January 27, 2018 as the “2018 transition period”.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned, have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In the opinion of management, all adjustments
considered necessary for a fair presentation of such statements have been included. This includes all normal and recurring adjustments and elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions.
Segment Information. The Company operates in one reportable segment. Its services are provided by its operating segments on a decentralized basis. Each operating segment consists of a
subsidiary (or in certain instances, the combination of two or more subsidiaries), whose results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, the chief operating decision maker.
All of the Company’s operating segments have been aggregated into one reportable segment based on their similar economic characteristics, nature of services and production processes, type of
customers, and service distribution methods.
2. Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These key estimates include: the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost method of progress, accrued insurance claims, the allowance
for doubtful accounts, accruals for contingencies, stock-based compensation expense for performance-based stock awards, the fair value of reporting units for the goodwill impairment analysis, the
assessment of impairment of intangibles and other long lived assets, the purchase price allocations of businesses acquired, and income taxes. These estimates are based on our historical experience
and management’s understanding of current facts and circumstances. At the time they are made, we believe that such estimates are fair when considered in conjunction with the Company’s
consolidated financial position and results of operations taken as a whole. However, actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
Leases. Our leases are accounted for as operating leases, with lease expense recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease term may include options to extend or terminate the
lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. For leases with initial terms greater than 12 months, we record operating lease right-of-use assets and corresponding operating
lease liabilities. Operating lease right-of-use assets represent our right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent our obligation to make the related lease
payments. These assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use
our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are
not recorded on our consolidated balance sheet.
Revenue Recognition. We perform a majority of our services under master service agreements and other contracts that contain customer-specified service requirements. These agreements include
discrete pricing for individual tasks including, for example, the placement of underground or aerial fiber, directional boring, and fiber splicing, each based on a specific unit of
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measure. A contractual agreement exists when each party involved approves and commits to the agreement, the rights of the parties and payment terms are identified, the agreement has commercial
substance, and collectability of consideration is probable. Our services are performed for the sole benefit of our customers, whereby the assets being created or maintained are controlled by the
customer and the services we perform do not have alternative benefits for us. Revenue is recognized over time as services are performed and customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits we provide. Output measures such as units delivered are utilized to assess progress against specific contractual performance obligations for the majority of our services. The selection of the
method to measure progress towards completion requires judgment and is based on the nature of the services to be provided. For us, the output method using units delivered best represents the
measure of progress against the performance obligations incorporated within the contractual agreements. This method captures the amount of units delivered pursuant to contracts and is used only
when our performance does not produce significant amounts of work in process prior to complete satisfaction of the performance obligation. For a portion of contract items, units to be completed
consist of multiple tasks. For these items, the transaction price is allocated to each task based on relative standalone measurements, such as selling prices for similar tasks, or in the alternative, the cost
to perform the tasks. Revenue is recognized as the tasks are completed as a measurement of progress in the satisfaction of the corresponding performance obligation, and represented approximately
10% of contract revenues during fiscal 2021.
For certain contracts, representing less than 5% of contract revenues during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, we use the cost-to-cost measure of progress. These contracts are generally
projects that are completed over a period of less than 12 months and for which payment is received in a lump sum at the end of the project. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of
progress toward completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs. Contract costs include direct labor, direct materials, and subcontractor costs, as well as
an allocation of indirect costs. Contract revenues are recorded as costs are incurred. We accrue the entire amount of a contract loss, if any, at the time the loss is determined to be probable and can be
reasonably estimated.
There were no material amounts of unapproved change orders or claims recognized during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019.
Accounts Receivable, Net. We grant credit to our customers, generally without collateral, under normal payment terms (typically 30 to 90 days after invoicing). Generally, invoicing occurs within
45 days after the related services are performed. Accounts receivable represents an unconditional right to consideration arising from our performance under contracts with customers. Accounts
receivable include billed accounts receivable, unbilled accounts receivable, and retainage. The carrying value of such receivables, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, represents their estimated
realizable value. Unbilled accounts receivable represent amounts we have an unconditional right to receive payment for although invoicing is subject to the completion of certain processes or other
requirements. Such requirements may include the passage of time, completion of other items within a statement of work, or other contractual billing requirements. Certain of our contracts contain
retainage provisions whereby a portion of the revenue earned is withheld from payment as a form of security until contractual provisions are satisfied. The collectability of retainage is included in our
overall assessment of the collectability of accounts receivable. We expect to collect the outstanding balance of current accounts receivable, net (including trade accounts receivable, unbilled accounts
receivable, and retainage) within the next 12 months. We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts by evaluating specific accounts receivable balances based on historical collection trends, the
age of outstanding receivables, and the credit worthiness of our customers.
We participate in a customer-sponsored vendor payment program for one of our customers. All eligible accounts receivable from this customer are included in the program and payment is
received pursuant to a non-recourse sale to a bank partner of the customer. This program effectively reduces the time to collect these receivables as compared to that customer’s standard payment
terms. We incur a discount fee to the bank on the payments received that is reflected as an expense component in other income, net, in the consolidated statements of operations.
Contract Assets. Contract assets include unbilled amounts typically resulting from arrangements whereby complete satisfaction of a performance obligation and the right to payment are
conditioned on completing additional tasks or services.
Contract Liabilities. Contract liabilities consist of amounts invoiced to customers in excess of revenue recognized. Our contract assets and liabilities are reported in a net position on a contract by
contract basis at the end of each reporting period. As of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, the contract liabilities balance is classified as current based on the timing of when we expect to
complete the tasks required for the recognition of revenue.
Cash and Equivalents. Cash and equivalents primarily include balances on deposit in banks. We maintain our cash and equivalents at financial institutions we believe to be of high credit quality.
To date, we have not experienced any loss or lack of access to cash in our operating accounts.
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Inventories. Inventories consist of materials and supplies used in the ordinary course of business and are carried at the lower of cost (using the first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value.
Inventories also include certain job specific materials that are valued using the specific identification method. For contracts where we are required to supply part or all of the materials on behalf of a
customer, the loss of a customer or declines in contract volumes could result in an impairment of the value of materials purchased.
Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives (see Note 9, Property and Equipment, for the range of
useful lives). Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining lease term. Maintenance and repairs are expensed
as incurred and major improvements are capitalized. When assets are sold or retired, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is
included in other income. Capitalized software consists primarily of costs to purchase and develop internal-use software and is amortized over its useful life as a component of depreciation expense.
Property and equipment includes internally developed capitalized computer software at net book value of $15.6 million and $21.2 million as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed annually for impairment as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter of each year, or more
frequently if events occur that would indicate a potential reduction in the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. We perform our annual impairment review of goodwill at the reporting
unit level. Each of our operating segments with goodwill represents a reporting unit for the purpose of assessing impairment. If we determine the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill or other
indefinite-lived intangible assets is less than their carrying value as a result of an annual or interim test, an impairment loss is recognized and reflected in operating income or loss in the consolidated
statements of operations during the period incurred.
We review finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable.
Recoverability is determined based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of an asset and its eventual disposition. If an asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is
measured by comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying value. If we determine the fair value of an asset is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized in operating income
or loss in the consolidated statements of operations during the period incurred.
We use judgment in assessing whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired. Estimates of fair value are based on our projection of revenues, operating costs, and cash flows taking into
consideration historical and anticipated future results, general economic and market conditions, as well as the impact of planned business or operational strategies. We determine the fair value of our
reporting units using a weighing of fair values derived in equal proportions from the income approach and market approach valuation methodologies. The income approach uses the discounted cash
flow method and the market approach uses the guideline company method. Changes in our judgments and projections could result in significantly different estimates of fair value, potentially resulting
in impairments of goodwill and other intangible assets. The inputs used for fair value measurements of the reporting units and other related indefinite-lived intangible assets are the lowest level (Level
3) inputs. See Note 10, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, for additional information regarding our annual assessment of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets.
Business Combinations. We account for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. The purchase price of each business acquired is allocated to the tangible and
intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on information regarding their respective fair values on the date of acquisition. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the
separately identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwill. Management determines the fair values used in purchase price allocations for intangible assets based on
historical data, estimated discounted future cash flows, expected royalty rates for trademarks and trade names, as well as certain other information. The valuation of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed requires a number of judgments and is subject to revision as additional information about the fair value of assets and liabilities becomes available. Additional information, which existed as
of the acquisition date but unknown to us at that time, may become known during the remainder of the measurement period. This measurement period may not exceed 12 months from the acquisition
date. We will recognize any adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustments are determined. Additionally, in the
same period in which adjustments are recognized, we will record the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result of any change to the
provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting adjustment had been completed at the acquisition date. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. The results of operations of businesses
acquired are included in the consolidated financial statements from their dates of acquisition.
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Long-Lived Tangible Assets. We review long-lived tangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully
recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of an asset group and its eventual disposition. Measurement of an
impairment loss is based on the fair value of the asset compared to its carrying value. Long-lived tangible assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less
costs to sell.
Accrued Insurance Claims. For claims within our insurance program, we retain the risk of loss, up to certain limits, for matters related to automobile liability, general liability (including damages
associated with underground facility locating services), workers’ compensation, and employee group health. Additionally, within our aggregate coverage limits and above our base layer of third-party
insurance coverage, we have retained the risk of loss at certain levels of exposure. We have established reserves that we believe to be adequate based on current evaluations and our experience with
these types of claims. A liability for unpaid claims and the associated claim expenses, including incurred but not reported losses, is determined with the assistance of an actuary and reflected in the
consolidated financial statements as accrued insurance claims. The effect on our financial statements is generally limited to the amount needed to satisfy our insurance deductibles or retentions.
We estimate the liability for claims based on facts, circumstances, and historical experience. Even though they will not be paid until sometime in the future, recorded loss reserves are not
discounted. Factors affecting the determination of the expected cost for existing and incurred but not reported claims include, but are not limited to, the magnitude and quantity of future claims, the
payment pattern of claims which have been incurred, changes in the medical condition of claimants, and other factors such as inflation, tort reform or other legislative changes, unfavorable jury
decisions and court interpretations.
Per Share Data. Basic earnings per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, excluding unvested restricted share units.
Diluted earnings per common share includes the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period and dilutive potential common shares arising from our stock-based awards
(including unvested restricted share units), convertible senior notes, and warrants if their inclusion is dilutive under the treasury stock method. Common stock equivalents related to stock-based
awards, convertible senior notes, and warrants are excluded from diluted earnings per common share calculations if their effect would be anti-dilutive.
We adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU 2016-09”) on a prospective basis effective July 30, 2017, the first day of the 2018 transition period. Under the amended guidance, excess tax
benefits and tax deficiencies arising from the vesting and exercise of share-based awards are no longer included in the hypothetical proceeds used to repurchase shares when computing diluted
earnings per common share under the treasury stock method. See Note 4, Computation of Earnings Per Share, for additional information related to ASU 2016-09’s impact on per share data.
Stock-Based Compensation. We have stock-based compensation plans under which we grant stock-based awards, including stock options, time-based restricted share units (“RSUs”), and
performance-based restricted share units (“Performance RSUs”) to attract, retain, and reward talented employees, officers, and directors, and to align stockholder and employee interests. The resulting
compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, net of actual forfeitures, and is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations. This expense fluctuates over time as a result of the vesting periods of the stock-based awards and, for our Performance RSUs, the expected achievement of performance measures.
Compensation expense for stock-based awards is based on fair value at the measurement date. The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. This valuation is affected by our stock price as well as other inputs, including the expected common stock price volatility over the expected life of the options, the expected term of the
stock option, risk-free interest rates, and expected dividends, if any. Stock options vest ratably over a four-year period and are exercisable over a period of up to ten years. The fair value of RSUs and
Performance RSUs is estimated on the date of grant and is equal to the closing market price per share of our common stock on that date. RSUs generally vest ratably over a four-year period.
Performance RSUs vest ratably over a three-year period, if certain performance measures are achieved. Each RSU and Performance RSU is settled in one share of the Company’s common stock upon
vesting.
For Performance RSUs, we evaluate compensation expense quarterly and recognize expense only if we determine it is probable that the performance measures for the awards will be met. The
performance measures for target awards are based on our operating earnings (adjusted for certain amounts) as a percentage of contract revenues and our operating cash flow level (adjusted for certain
amounts) for the applicable four-quarter performance period. Additionally, certain awards include three-year performance measures that are more difficult to achieve than those required to earn target
awards and, if met, result in supplemental shares awarded. The performance measures for supplemental awards are based on three-year cumulative
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operating earnings (adjusted for certain amounts) as a percentage of contract revenues and three-year cumulative operating cash flow level (adjusted for certain amounts). In a period we determine it
is no longer probable that we will achieve certain performance measures for the awards, we reverse the stock-based compensation expense that we had previously recognized and associated with the
portion of Performance RSUs that are no longer expected to vest. The amount of the expense ultimately recognized depends on the number of awards that actually vest. Accordingly, stock-based
compensation expense may vary from period to period. For additional information on our stock-based compensation plans, stock options, RSUs, and Performance RSUs, see Note 19, Stock-Based
Awards.
Income Taxes. We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Our effective income tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to the
difference in income tax rates from state to state where work was performed, non-deductible and non-taxable items, and tax credits recognized. Additionally, during fiscal 2021, our effective tax rate
was impacted by the $53.3 million goodwill impairment charge which was mostly non-deductible for income tax purposes, and the benefit from the $2.6 million tax loss carryback technical
correction under the CARES Act. See Note 15, Income Taxes, for further information.
Measurement of our tax position is based on the applicable statutes, federal and state case law, and our interpretations of tax regulations. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets
and liabilities is recognized in income during the period that includes the enactment date. We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized.
In making such determination, we consider all relevant factors, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent
financial operations. In the event we determine that we would be able to realize deferred income tax assets in excess of their net recorded amount, we would adjust the valuation allowance, which
would reduce the provision for income taxes.
We recognize tax benefits in the amount that we deem, more likely than not, will be realized upon ultimate settlement of any tax uncertainty. Tax positions that fail to qualify for recognition are
recognized during the period in which the more-likely-than-not standard has been reached, when the tax positions are resolved with the respective taxing authority or when the statute of limitations
for tax examination has expired. We recognize applicable interest related to tax amounts in interest expense and penalties within general and administrative expenses.
We believe our provision for income taxes is adequate; however, any assessment would affect our results of operations and cash flows. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S.
federal, state and local, or Canadian income tax examinations for fiscal years ended 2016 and prior.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments primarily consist of cash and equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, income taxes receivable and payable, accounts
payable, certain accrued expenses, and long-term debt. The carrying amounts of these items approximate fair value due to their short maturity, except for the fair value of our long-term debt, which is
based on observable market-based inputs (Level 2). See Note 14, Debt, for further information regarding the fair value of such financial instruments. Our cash and equivalents are based on quoted
market prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1) as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020. During fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019 we had no material nonrecurring fair value
measurements of assets or liabilities subsequent to their initial recognition.
Taxes Collected from Customers. ASC Topic 606, Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities, addresses the income statement presentation of any taxes collected
from customers and remitted to a government authority and provides that the presentation of taxes on either a gross basis or a net basis is an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed. Our
policy is to present contract revenues net of sales taxes.
3. Accounting Standards
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
Financial Instruments. In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses
(Topic 326) (“ASU 2016-13”) as modified by subsequently issued ASUs 2019-04, 2019-05, 2019-11, and 2020-02. This ASU introduces a new accounting model, the Current Expected Credit Losses
model (CECL), which could result in earlier recognition of credit losses and additional disclosures related to credit risk. The CECL model utilizes a lifetime expected credit loss measurement
objective for the recognition of credit losses for financial instruments at the time the financial asset is originated or acquired. The financial instruments include accounts receivable and contract assets.
The expected credit losses are adjusted each period for changes in expected lifetime credit losses. This model replaces the multiple existing impairment models in current GAAP, which generally
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require that a loss be incurred before it is recognized. The new standard also applies to receivables arising from revenue transactions such as contract assets and accounts receivables. On January 26,
2020, the first day of fiscal 2021, we adopted ASU 2016-13. The standard was adopted utilizing a modified retrospective approach and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements as credit losses are not expected to be significant based on historical trends and the financial condition of our customers.
Goodwill. In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU 2017-04”). ASU 2017-04
simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment testing. An entity will no longer determine goodwill impairment by calculating the implied
fair value of goodwill by assigning the fair value of a reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if that reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. Instead, an entity should
perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount and recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the
carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. The loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. An entity still has the option to perform the
qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is necessary. On January 26, 2020, the first day of fiscal 2021, we adopted ASU 2017-04 and there was no
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as a result of adoption. See Note 10, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, for disclosure of events during the fiscal year ended January 30, 2021.
Intangibles. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40), Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs
Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract (“ASU 2018-15”). This ASU aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement
that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use
software license). ASU 2018-15 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those annual periods, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in
this ASU should be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. We adopted the provisions of this ASU in the first quarter of fiscal
2021 on a prospective basis. Adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
Codification Improvement. In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-10, Codification Improvements (“ASU 2020-10”). The amendments in this ASU represent changes to clarify the
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), correct unintended application of guidance, or make minor improvements to the ASC that are not expected to have a significant effect on current
accounting practice or create a significant administrative cost to most entities. ASU 2020-10 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within those annual
periods, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in this ASU should be applied retrospectively. We will adopt the provisions of this ASU in the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and do not expect
the adoption to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
Convertible Debt. In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s
Own Equity (Subtopic 815 - 40). The amendments in this ASU simplify the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments
and contracts on an entity’s own equity by removing major separation models required under current U.S. GAAP. The amendments also improve the consistency of diluted earnings per share
calculations. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no
earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The effect of the standard on our consolidated financial statements is still under
evaluation, and we do not expect the impact to be material.
Income Taxes. In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (Topic 740) (“ASU 2019-12”). ASU 2019-12 simplifies the
accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principals in Topic 740. The amendments also improve consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of
Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. We will adopt the provisions of this ASU in the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and do not expect the adoption to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.
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4. Computation of Earnings per Common Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
$
34,337 $
57,215
Net income available to common stockholders (numerator)
31,665,183

Weighted-average number of common shares (denominator)
$

Basic earnings per common share
Weighted-average number of common shares
Potential shares of common stock arising from stock options, and unvested restricted share units
Potential shares of common stock issuable on conversion of 0.75% convertible senior notes due 2021(1)

$

Anti-dilutive weighted shares excluded from the calculation of earnings per common share:
Stock-based awards
0.75% convertible senior notes due 2021(1) (2)
Warrants(1) (2)

1.07

233,988
1,715,972
1,715,972
3,665,932

Total

31,498,474
$

31,665,183
425,395
—
32,090,578

Total shares-diluted (denominator)
Diluted earnings per common share

1.08

$

1.82

31,250,376
$

31,498,474
323,308
—
31,821,782
$

1.80

253,000
4,747,706
4,747,706
9,748,412

January 26, 2019
62,907

2.01
31,250,376
555,993
183,799
31,990,168

$

1.97

130,779
4,821,935
5,005,734
9,958,448

(1)

Under the treasury stock method, the convertible senior notes will have a dilutive impact on earnings per common share if our average stock price for the period exceeds the $96.89 per share
conversion price. Our average stock price did not exceed the per share conversion price during fiscal 2021; therefore, there was no dilutive impact on earnings per common share for this period.
During the first and second quarter of fiscal 2019, our average stock price of $110.46 and $99.27 exceeded the conversion price. As a result, shares presumed to be issuable under the convertible
senior notes that were dilutive during each period are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2019. The warrants associated with our convertible senior notes will have a
dilutive impact on earnings per common share if our average stock price for the period exceeds the $130.43 per share warrant strike price. As our average stock price did not exceed the strike price
for the warrants for any of the periods presented, the underlying common shares were anti-dilutive as reflected in the table above.
(2)

In connection with the purchase of $401.7 million of the Notes in fiscal 2021 and $25.0 million in fiscal 2020, we unwound convertible note hedge transactions and warrants proportionately to the
number of Notes, resulting in a decrease in the number of excluded weighted shares.
In connection with the offering of the convertible senior notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions with counterparties for the purpose of reducing the potential dilution to
common stockholders from the conversion of the notes and offsetting any potential cash payments in excess of the principal amount of the notes. Prior to conversion, the convertible note hedge is not
included for purposes of the calculation of earnings per common share as its effect would be anti-dilutive. Upon conversion, the convertible note hedge is expected to offset the dilutive effect of the
convertible senior notes when the average stock price for the period is above $96.89 per share. See Note 14, Debt, for additional information related to our convertible senior notes, warrant
transactions, and hedge transactions.
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5. Acquisitions
Fiscal 2019. During March 2018, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of a provider of telecommunications construction and maintenance services in the Midwest and
Northeast United States for a cash purchase price of $20.9 million, less a working capital adjustment estimated to be $0.5 million. This acquisition expands our geographic presence within our
existing customer base.
Purchase Price Allocations
The purchase price allocation of the 2019 acquisition were completed within the 12-month measurement period from the date of acquisition. Adjustments to provisional amounts were recognized
in the reporting period in which the adjustments were determined and were not material.
The following table summarizes the aggregate consideration paid for businesses acquired in fiscal 2019 (dollars in millions):
2019
Assets
Accounts receivable
Inventories and other current assets
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets - customer relationships
Total assets

$

5.6
0.2
0.5
4.0
12.3
22.6

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Total liabilities

2.2
2.2
$

Net Assets Acquired

20.4

6. Accounts Receivable, Contract Assets, and Contract Liabilities
The following provides further details on the balance sheet accounts of accounts receivable, net; contract assets; and contract liabilities. See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies and
Estimates, for further information on our policies related to these balance sheet accounts, as well as our revenue recognition policies.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable, net classified as current, consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
Trade accounts receivable
Unbilled accounts receivable
Retainage
Total
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

$

$

Accounts receivable, net

January 30, 2021
352,501 $
492,324
14,974
859,799
(1,676)
858,123 $

January 25, 2020
355,805
453,353
12,669
821,827
(4,582)
817,245

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses on uncollected balances. The allowance for doubtful accounts changed as follows (dollars in thousands):
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January 30, 2021
Allowance for doubtful accounts at beginning of period
Cumulative effect from implementation of ASU 2016-13
Provision for bad debt (recovery)
Amounts charged against the allowance

$

Allowance for doubtful accounts at end of period

$

January 25, 2020
4,582 $
471
406
(3,783)
1,676 $

17,702
—
(6,540)
(6,580)
4,582

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities
Net contract assets consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
Contract assets
Contract liabilities

$

Contract assets, net

$

January 30, 2021
197,110
14,101
183,009

January 25, 2020
253,005
16,332
236,673

$
$

The decrease in contract assets, net, in fiscal 2021 from fiscal 2020 primarily resulted from reduced services performed and increased billings under contracts consisting of multiple tasks. There
were no other significant changes in contract assets during the period. During fiscal 2021, we performed services and recognized revenue related to all but an immaterial amount of our contract
liabilities that existed at January 25, 2020. See Note 7, Other Current Assets and Other Assets, for information on our long-term contract assets.
Customer Credit Concentration
Customers whose combined amounts of accounts receivable and contract assets, net exceeded 10% of total combined accounts receivable and contract assets, net as of January 30, 2021 or
January 25, 2020 were as follows (dollars in millions):
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Amount
% of Total
Amount
% of Total
Verizon Communications Inc.
$
389.9
37.4 % $
440.2
41.8 %
(1)
Lumen Technologies
$
173.5
16.6 % $
175.8
16.7 %
Comcast Corporation
$
131.7
12.6 % $
114.0
10.8 %
(1)

Formerly known as CenturyLink, Inc.

We believe that none of the customers above were experiencing financial difficulties that would materially impact the collectability of our total accounts receivable and contract assets, net, as of
January 30, 2021 or January 25, 2020. On April 14, 2020, Frontier Communications filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court
for the Southern District of New York, to implement a prearranged debt restructuring plan. As of January 30, 2021, the Company had prepetition outstanding receivables and contract assets in
aggregate of approximately $0.6 million with Frontier Communications. The Company has been identified as a critical vendor and expects to continue to provide service to Frontier Communications
pursuant to existing contractual obligations and be paid in full for prepetition and post-petition receivables and contract assets.
7. Other Current Assets and Other Assets
Other current assets consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
Prepaid expenses
Deposits and other current assets
Restricted cash
Receivables on equipment sales

$

$

Other current assets
Other assets consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
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January 30, 2021
14,849
12,817
1,372
34
29,072

$

$

January 25, 2020
12,769
17,447
1,556
219
31,991
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Long-term contract assets
Deferred financing costs
Restricted cash
Insurance recoveries/receivables for accrued insurance claims
Other non-current deposits and assets

$

$

Other assets

January 30, 2021
17,574
5,205
432
15,837
7,541
46,589

$

$

January 25, 2020
22,653
7,133
3,753
4,864
9,035
47,438

Long-term contract assets represent payments made to customers pursuant to long-term agreements and are recognized as a reduction of contract revenues over the period for which the related
services are provided to the customers.
See Note 11, Accrued Insurance Claims, for information on our Insurance recoveries/receivables.
8. Cash and Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Amounts of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in the consolidated statement of cash flows consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
January 30, 2021
Cash and equivalents
$
11,770
Restricted cash included in:
Other current assets
1,372
Other assets (long-term)
432
$
13,574
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

January 25, 2020
54,560

$

1,556
3,753
59,869

9. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
Estimated Useful
Lives (Years)
—
10-35
1-10
1-5
1-7
1-10
1-10

Land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Vehicles
Computer hardware and software
Office furniture and equipment
Equipment and machinery
Total
Less: accumulated depreciation

$

$

Property and equipment, net

January 30, 2021
3,796 $
11,169
17,030
626,809
144,989
13,293
300,143
1,117,229
(843,269)
273,960 $

January 25, 2020
4,024
12,934
17,151
626,307
149,600
13,557
312,244
1,135,817
(759,207)
376,610

Depreciation expense and repairs and maintenance expense were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Depreciation expense
Repairs and maintenance expense

$
$
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January 30, 2021
155,274
47,586

$
$

Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020
166,376
44,208

$
$

January 26, 2019
156,959
36,109
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10. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
There were no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during fiscal 2020. Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during fiscal 2021 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
Accumulated Impairment
Goodwill
Losses
Total
Balance as of January 25, 2020
$
521,516 $
(195,767) $
Fiscal 2021 Goodwill impairment charge
—
(53,264)
$
521,516 $
(249,031) $
Balance as of January 30, 2021

325,749
(53,264)
272,485

Our goodwill resides in multiple reporting units and primarily consists of expected synergies, together with the expansion of the our geographic presence and strengthening of our customer base
from acquisitions. Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed annually for impairment as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter of each year, or more frequently if events
occur that would indicate a potential reduction in the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The profitability of individual reporting units may suffer periodically due to downturns in
customer demand, increased costs of providing services, and the level of overall economic activity. Our customers may reduce capital expenditures and defer or cancel pending projects due to
changes in technology, a slowing or uncertain economy, merger or acquisition activity, a decision to allocate resources to other areas of their business, or other reasons. The profitability of reporting
units may also suffer if actual costs of providing services exceed the costs anticipated when the Company enters into contracts. Additionally, adverse conditions in the economy and future volatility in
the equity and credit markets could impact the valuation of our reporting units. The cyclical nature of our business, the high level of competition existing within our industry, and the concentration of
our revenues from a limited number of customers may also cause results to vary. These factors may affect individual reporting units disproportionately, relative to the Company as a whole. As a
result, the performance of one or more of the reporting units could decline, resulting in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets.
We evaluate current operating results, including any losses, in the assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets. The estimates and assumptions used in assessing the fair value of the
reporting units and the valuation of the underlying assets and liabilities are inherently subject to significant uncertainties. Changes in judgments and estimates could result in significantly different
estimates of the fair value of the reporting units and could result in impairments of goodwill or intangible assets of the reporting units. In addition, adverse changes to the key valuation assumptions
contributing to the fair value of our reporting units could result in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets.
During fiscal 2021 the economy of the United States was severely impacted by the nation’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Measures taken include travel restrictions, social distancing
requirements, quarantines, and shelter in place orders. As a result, businesses have been closed and certain business activities curtailed or modified. During the COVID-19 pandemic, our services
have generally been considered essential in nature and have not been materially interrupted. However, certain customers of one of the Company’s reporting units (“Broadband”) have decided to
restrict our technicians from entering third party premises. Furthermore, customers have modified their protocols to increase the self-installation of customer premise equipment by their subscribers.
Broadband generates a substantial portion of its revenue and operating results from installation services inside third party premises. The events following the onset of COVID-19 are expected to
result in a prolonged downturn in customer demand for installation services from Broadband. This is expected to have a direct, adverse impact on its revenue, operating results and cash flows. These
indicators represented a triggering event that warranted impairment testing of Broadband during the three months ended April 25, 2020.
The Broadband reporting unit includes the operations of Broadband Installation Services, Prince Telecom and certain other operations and generated revenue of less than 4% of the consolidated
contract revenue of Dycom in fiscal 2020. The Broadband reporting unit did not incur losses in fiscal 2020.
The fiscal 2021 interim impairment analysis for Broadband utilized the same valuation techniques used in the Company’s annual fiscal 2020 impairment analysis. The key assumptions used to
determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units during this interim impairment analysis were: (a) expected cash flow for a period of seven years; (b) terminal value based upon terminal
growth rates; and (c) a discount rate based on the Company’s best estimate of the weighted average cost of capital adjusted for risks associated with Broadband. Recent operating performance, along
with key assumptions for specific customer
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and industry opportunities, were used during the fiscal 2021 interim impairment analysis. The terminal growth rate used in the fiscal 2021 interim assessment was 1.5% as compared to 3.0% in the
fiscal 2020 assessment reflecting lower long-term demand levels. The discount rate used in the fiscal 2021 interim assessment was 12% compared to 10% in the fiscal 2020 assessment reflecting
increased risk associated with the outlook of Broadband.
The combination of lower expected operating results and cash flows from the reduction in revenue, as well as changes in valuation assumptions in the fiscal 2021 interim analysis resulted in a
substantial decline in the fair value of the Broadband reporting unit. In accordance with ASU 2017-04, the Company compared the estimated fair value of Broadband to its carrying amount. As a
result, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $53.3 million which is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the reporting unit’s fair value. After the impairment charge,
Broadband had $10.1 million of remaining goodwill as of April 25, 2020. The goodwill impairment charge did not affect the Company’s compliance with its financial covenants and conditions under
its revolving credit agreement.
The Company performs its annual goodwill assessment as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter of each fiscal year. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are required to be tested
for impairment between annual tests if events occur that would indicate a potential reduction in the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.
We performed our annual impairment assessment for fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, and concluded that no impairment of goodwill or the indefinite-lived intangible asset was indicated
at any reporting unit for any of the periods other than the first quarter of fiscal 2021 as described above. In each of these periods, qualitative assessments were performed on reporting units that
comprise a significant portion of our consolidated goodwill balance. A qualitative assessment includes evaluating all identified events and circumstances that could affect the significant inputs used to
determine the fair value of a reporting unit or indefinite-lived intangible asset for the purpose of determining whether it is more likely than not that these assets are impaired. We consider various
factors while performing qualitative assessments, including macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, financial performance of the reporting units, changes in market capitalization,
and any other specific reporting unit considerations. These qualitative assessments indicated that it was more likely than not that the fair value exceeded carrying value for those reporting units. For
the remaining reporting units, we performed the first step of the quantitative analysis described in ASC Topic 350 in each of these periods. When performing the quantitative analysis, we determine
the fair value of our reporting units using a weighing of fair values derived in equal proportions from the income approach and market approach valuation methodologies. Under the income approach,
the key valuation assumptions used in determining the fair value estimates of our reporting units for each annual test were: (a) a discount rate based on our best estimate of the weighted average cost
of capital adjusted for certain risks for the reporting units; (b) terminal value based on our best estimate of terminal growth rates; and (c) seven expected years of cash flow before the terminal value
based on our best estimate of the revenue growth rate and projected operating margin.
The table below outlines certain assumptions used in our annual quantitative impairment analyses for fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019:
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Terminal Growth Rate
3.0%
3.0%
Discount Rate
10.0%
10.0%

January 26, 2019
2.5% - 3.00%
11.0%

The discount rate reflects risks inherent within each reporting unit operating individually. These risks are greater than the risks inherent in the Company as a whole. Determination of discount
rates included consideration of market inputs such as the risk-free rate, equity risk premium, industry premium, and cost of debt, among other assumptions. The discount rate was consistent for fiscal
2021 and fiscal 2020. The decrease in the discount rate for fiscal 2020 from fiscal 2019 was mainly a result of a decrease in the cost of debt. We believe the assumptions used in the impairment
analysis each year are reflective of the risks inherent in the business models of our reporting units and our industry. Under the market approach, the guideline company method develops valuation
multiples by comparing our reporting units to similar publicly traded companies. Key valuation assumptions used in determining the fair value estimates of our reporting units rely on: (a) the
selection of similar companies and (b) the selection of valuation multiples as they apply to the reporting unit characteristics.
We determined that the fair values of each of the reporting units and the indefinite-lived intangible asset were in excess of their carrying values in the fiscal 2021 assessment. Management
determined that significant changes were not likely in the factors considered to estimate fair value, and analyzed the impact of such changes were they to occur. Specifically, if the discount rate
applied in the fiscal 2021 impairment analysis had been 100 basis points higher than estimated for each of the reporting units, and all other assumptions were held constant, the conclusion of the
assessment would remain unchanged and
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there would be no impairment of goodwill. Additionally, if there was a 25% decrease in the fair value of any of the reporting units due to a decline in their discounted cash flows resulting from lower
operating performance, the conclusion of the assessment would remain unchanged for all reporting units except for one. For this reporting unit with goodwill of $10.1 million, the excess of fair value
above its carrying value was 7.5% of the fair value. Recent operating performance, along with assumptions for specific customer and industry opportunities, were considered in the key assumptions
used during the fiscal 2021 impairment analysis. Management has determined the goodwill balance of this one reporting unit may have an increased likelihood of impairment if a prolonged downturn
in customer demand were to occur, or if the reporting unit was not able to execute against customer opportunities, and the long-term outlook for their cash flows were adversely impacted.
Furthermore, changes in the long-term outlook may result in a change to other valuation assumptions. Factors monitored by management which could result in a change to the reporting units’
estimates include the outcome of customer requests for proposals and subsequent awards, strategies of competitors, labor market conditions and levels of overall economic activity.
The Company determined that there were no events or changes in circumstances for the other reporting units or indefinite lived intangible assets during fiscal 2021 that would indicate a potential
reduction in their fair value below their carrying amounts. As of January 30, 2021, the Company continues to believe the remaining goodwill and the indefinite-lived intangible asset are recoverable
for all of its reporting units. However, if adverse events were to occur or circumstances were to change indicating that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable, the assets
would be reviewed for impairment and could be impaired. There can be no assurances that goodwill or the indefinite-lived intangible asset may not be impaired in future periods.
Intangible Assets
Our intangible assets consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
January 30, 2021

Customer relationships
Trade names, finite
Trade name, indefinite
Non-compete agreements

Weighted Average
Remaining Useful
Lives (Years)
9.3
8.1
—
—

Gross Carrying
Amount
$
312,017 $
10,350
4,700
—
$
327,067 $

January 25, 2020

Accumulated
Amortization
198,604
9,141
—
—
207,745

Intangible Assets, Gross Carrying
Net
Amount
$
113,413 $
312,017
1,209
10,350
4,700
4,700
—
200
$
119,322 $
327,267

$

$

Accumulated
Amortization
178,411
8,732
—
179
187,322

Intangible Assets,
Net
$
133,606
1,618
4,700
21
$
139,945

Amortization of our customer relationship intangibles is recognized on an accelerated basis as a function of the expected economic benefit. Amortization of our other finite-lived intangibles is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was $20.6 million, $21.2 million, and $22.6 million for fiscal 2021, fiscal
2020, and fiscal 2019.
As of January 30, 2021, total amortization expense for existing finite-lived intangible assets for the next five fiscal years and thereafter is as follows (dollars in thousands):
Amount
2022
$
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
$
Total

17,489
15,333
13,901
13,717
13,366
40,816
114,622

As of January 30, 2021, we believe that the carrying amounts of our intangible assets are recoverable. However, if adverse events were to occur or circumstances were to change indicating that
the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable, the assets would be reviewed for impairment and the assets could be impaired.
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11. Accrued Insurance Claims
For claims within our insurance program, we retain the risk of loss, up to certain annual stop-loss limits, for matters related to automobile liability, general liability (including damages associated
with underground facility locating services), workers’ compensation, and employee group health. Losses for claims beyond our retained risk of loss are covered by insurance up to our coverage
limits.
For fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2020 with regards to workers’ compensation losses, we retained the risk of loss up to $1.0 million on a per occurrence basis. This retention amount is applicable to all of
the states in which we operate, except with respect to workers’compensation insurance in two states in which we participate in state-sponsored insurance funds. With regard to automobile liability and
general liability losses, we retained risk of loss up to $1.0 million on a per-occurrence basis.
For fiscal 2021 with regard to workers’ compensation losses, our retention of risk remained the same as fiscal 2020. With regard to automobile liability and general liability losses we retained the
risk of loss up to $1.0 million on a per-occurrence basis for the first $5.0 million of insurance coverage. In addition, we also retained the risk of loss for automobile and general liability for the next
$5.0 million on a per-occurrence basis with aggregate loss limits of $11.5 million within this layer of retention.
For fiscal 2022 with regard to workers’ compensation losses, our retention of risk remains the same as fiscal 2021. With regard to automobile liability and general liability losses, our retention of
primary risk remains the same as fiscal 2021. In addition, we reduced our coverage limit and retained $10.0 million risk of loss on a per occurrence basis for losses above $30.0 million.
We are party to a stop-loss agreement for losses under our employee group health plan. For calendar year 2019, we retained the risk of loss, on an annual basis, up to the first $400,000 of claims
per participant, as well as an annual aggregate amount for all participants of $425,000. For the calendar year 2020, we retained the risk of loss on an annual basis, up to the first $450,000 of claims per
participant, as well as an annual aggregate amount for all participants of $475,000. For the calendar year 2021, we retained the risk of loss on an annual basis, up to the first $600,000 of claims per
participant. Amounts for total accrued insurance claims and insurance recoveries/receivables are as follows (dollars in thousands):
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Accrued insurance claims - current
$
41,736 $
38,881
Accrued insurance claims - non-current
70,224
56,026
$
111,960 $
94,907
Accrued insurance claims
Insurance recoveries/receivables:
Non-current (included in Other assets)

$
$

Insurance recoveries/receivables

15,837
15,837

$
$

4,864
4,864

Insurance recoveries/receivables represent the amount of accrued insurance claims that are covered by insurance as the amounts exceed the Company’s loss retention. During fiscal 2021, total
insurance recoveries/receivables increased approximately $11.0 million primarily due to additional claims that exceeded our loss retention. Accrued insurance claims increased by a corresponding
amount.
12. Leases
We lease the majority of our office facilities as well as certain equipment, all of which are accounted for as operating leases. These leases have remaining terms ranging from less than 1 year to
approximately 9 years. Some leases include options to extend the lease for up to 5 years and others include options to terminate.
The following table summarizes the components of lease cost recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 (dollars in thousands):

63

Table of Contents

Lease cost under long-term operating leases
Lease cost under short-term operating leases
Variable lease cost under short-term and long-term operating leases(1)

$

$

Total lease cost
(1)

Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
35,411 $
33,799
28,532
34,111
4,113
4,183
68,056 $
72,093

Variable lease cost primarily includes insurance, maintenance, and other operating expenses related to our leased office facilities.

Our operating lease liabilities related to long-term operating leases were $63.1 million and $70.2 million as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively. Supplemental balance sheet
information related to these liabilities is as follows:
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Weighted average remaining lease term
3.2 years
3.3 years
Weighted average discount rate
4.6 %
5.2 %
Supplemental cash flow information related to our long-term operating lease liabilities as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020 is as follows (dollars in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
$
33,313 $
30,888
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities
$
27,510 $
27,477
As of January 30, 2021, maturities of our lease liabilities under our long-term operating leases for the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Amount
$

Fiscal Year
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: imputed interest

$

Total

28,159
19,608
11,645
7,069
2,577
2,178
71,236
(8,108)
63,128

As of January 30, 2021, we had additional operating leases that have not yet commenced of $1.7 million. These leases will commence during the first quarter of fiscal 2022.
13. Other Accrued Liabilities
Other accrued liabilities consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
January 30, 2021
Accrued payroll and related taxes
Accrued employee benefit and incentive plan costs
Accrued construction costs
Other current liabilities

$

$

Other accrued liabilities
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43,593
32,988
22,972
21,256
120,809

January 25, 2020
$

$

27,959
23,340
27,690
19,786
98,775
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14. Debt
Our outstanding indebtedness consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
Credit Agreement - Revolving facility (matures October 2023)
Credit Agreement - Term loan facility (matures October 2023)
0.75% convertible senior notes, net (mature September 2021)

$

Less: current portion
$

Long-term debt

January 30, 2021
105,000
421,874

January 25, 2020
$

—
444,375

56,410
583,284
(81,722)
501,562 $

422,526
866,901
(22,500)
844,401

Senior Credit Agreement
On October 19, 2018, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries amended and restated its existing credit agreement with the various lenders party to the agreement. The maturity date of our
credit agreement was extended to October 19, 2023 and, among other things, the maximum revolver commitment was increased to $750.0 million from $450.0 million and the term loan facility was
increased to $450.0 million. Our credit agreement includes a $200.0 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit.
The credit agreement provides us with the ability to enter into one or more incremental facilities, either by increasing the revolving commitments under the credit agreement and/or in the form of
term loans. These facilities can be increased up to the greater of $350.0 million or an amount that does not result in our consolidated senior secured net leverage ratio exceeding 2.25 to 1.00, after
giving effect to such incremental facilities on a pro forma basis (assuming that the amount of the incremental commitments are fully drawn and funded). Our consolidated senior secured net leverage
ratio is the ratio of our consolidated senior secured indebtedness reduced by unrestricted cash and equivalents in excess of $50.0 million to our trailing 12 month consolidated earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization, as defined by the credit agreement (“EBITDA”). Borrowings under the credit agreement are guaranteed by substantially all of our subsidiaries and secured by
the equity interests of the substantial majority of our subsidiaries.
Under our credit agreement, borrowings bear interest at the rates described below based upon our consolidated net leverage ratio, which is the ratio of our consolidated total funded debt reduced
by unrestricted cash and equivalents in excess of $50.0 million to our trailing 12 month consolidated EBITDA, as defined by our credit agreement. In addition, we incur certain fees for unused
balances and letters of credit at the rates described below, also based upon our consolidated net leverage ratio.
Borrowings - Eurodollar Rate Loans
Borrowings - Base Rate Loans
Unused Revolver Commitment
Standby Letters of Credit
Commercial Letters of Credit

1.25%- 2.00% plus LIBOR
0.25% - 1.00% plus administrative agent’s base rate(1)
0.20% - 0.40%
1.25% - 2.00%
0.625% -1.00%

(1)

The administrative agent’s base rate is described in our credit agreement as the highest of (i) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, (ii) the administrative agent’s prime rate, and (iii) the Eurodollar
rate plus 1.00%.
Standby letters of credit of approximately $52.2 million and $52.3 million, issued as part of our insurance program, were outstanding under our credit agreement as of January 30, 2021 and
January 25, 2020, respectively.
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The weighted average interest rates and fees for balances under our credit agreement as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020 were as follows:
Weighted Average Rate End of Period
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Borrowings - Term loan facility
1.63%
3.67%
Borrowings - Revolving facility(1)
2.14%
—%
Standby Letters of Credit
1.50%
2.00%
Unused Revolver Commitment
0.25%
0.40%
(1)

There were no outstanding borrowings under our revolving facility as of January 25, 2020.

Our credit agreement contains a financial covenant that requires us to maintain a consolidated net leverage ratio of not greater than 3.50 to 1.00, as measured at the end of each fiscal quarter, and
provides for certain increases to this ratio in connection with permitted acquisitions. The agreement also contains a financial covenant that requires us to maintain a consolidated interest coverage
ratio, which is the ratio of our trailing 12 month consolidated EBITDA to our consolidated interest expense, each as defined by our credit agreement, of not less than 3.00 to 1.00, as measured at the
end of each fiscal quarter. In addition, our credit agreement contains a minimum liquidity covenant that would become effective beginning 91 days before the maturity date of our 0.75% convertible
senior notes due September 2021 (the “Notes”) if the outstanding principal amount of the Notes were greater than $250.0 million, however, this covenant terminated on June 5, 2020 when the
outstanding principal amount of the Notes was reduced to $58.3 million. At January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, we were in compliance with the financial covenants of our credit agreement and
had borrowing availability under our revolving facility of $558.7 million and $287.0 million, respectively, as determined by the most restrictive covenant.
0.75% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2021
On September 15, 2015, we issued 0.75% convertible senior notes due September 2021 in a private placement in the principal amount of $485.0 million. The Notes, governed by the terms of an
indenture between the Company and a bank trustee are unsecured obligations and do not contain any financial covenants or restrictions on the payments of dividends, the incurrence of indebtedness
or the issuance or repurchase of securities by the Company. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 0.75% per year, payable in cash semiannually in March and September, and will mature on
September 15, 2021, unless earlier purchased by the Company or converted. In the event we fail to perform certain obligations under the indenture, the Notes will accrue additional interest. Certain
events are considered “events of default” under the Notes, which may result in the acceleration of the maturity of the Notes, as described in the indenture. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, we
purchased, through open-market transactions, $25.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes for $24.3 million, leaving the principal amount of $460.0 million outstanding. After the write-off
of associated debt issuance costs, the net loss on extinguishment was $0.1 million for fiscal 2020. In fiscal 2021, we purchased $401.7 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes for $371.4
million, including interest and fees, leaving the principal amount of $58.3 million outstanding. The Notes were purchased through a tender offer as well as a portion in privately-negotiated
transactions. After the write-off of associated debt issuance costs, the net gain on extinguishment was $12.0 million for fiscal 2021.
Each $1,000 of principal of the Notes is convertible into 10.3211 shares of the Company’s common stock, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $96.89 per share.
The conversion rate is subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, including in connection with specified fundamental changes (as defined in the indenture). In addition, holders of the Notes have
the right to require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their notes on the occurrence of a fundamental change at a price of 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Prior to June 15, 2021, the Notes are convertible by the Note holder under the following circumstances: (1) during any fiscal quarter commencing after October 24, 2015 (and only during such
fiscal quarter) if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days period ending on the last
trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on such trading day ($125.96 assuming an applicable conversion price of
$96.89); (2) during the five consecutive business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes
for each trading day of such measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the applicable conversion rate on each such
trading day; or (3) upon the occurrence of specified corporate events. On or after June 15, 2021 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity
date, holders may convert all or a portion of their Notes at any time regardless of the foregoing circumstances. Upon conversion, the Notes will be settled, at the Company’s election, in
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cash, shares of the Company’s common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company intends to settle the principal amount of the Notes with cash.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, the closing price of the Company’s common stock did not meet or exceed 130% of the applicable conversion price of the Notes for at least 20 of the last
30 consecutive trading dates of the quarter. Additionally, no other conditions allowing holders of the Notes to convert have been met as of January 30, 2021. As a result, the Notes were not
convertible during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021 and are classified as debt.
Certain convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion are required to be accounted for as separate liability and equity components. The carrying amount of the liability
component is calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar instrument that does not have an associated convertible feature using an indicative market interest rate (“Comparable Yield”) as of the
date of issuance. The difference between the principal amount of the notes and the carrying amount represents a debt discount. The debt discount is amortized to interest expense using the
Comparable Yield (5.5% with respect to the Notes) using the effective interest rate method over the term of the Notes. We incurred $7.4 million, $20.1 million, and $19.1 million of interest expense
during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, respectively, for the non-cash amortization of the debt discount. The liability component of the Notes consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Liability component
Principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes due September 2021
$
58,264 $
460,000
Less: Debt discount
(1,665)
(33,744)
Less: Debt issuance costs
(189)
(3,730)
$
56,410 $
422,526
Net carrying amount of Notes
The equity component of the Notes was recognized at issuance and represents the difference between the principal amount of the Notes and the fair value of the liability component of the Notes
at issuance. The equity component approximated $112.6 million at the time of issuance and its fair value is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.
The following table summarizes the fair value of the Notes, net of the debt discount and debt issuance costs. The fair value of the Notes is based on the closing trading price per $100 of the Notes
as of the last day of trading for the respective periods (Level 2), which was $104.50 and $97.25 as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively (dollars in thousands).
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Fair value of principal amount of Notes
$
60,886 $
447,350
Less: Debt discount and debt issuance costs
(1,854)
(37,474)
$
59,032 $
409,876
Fair value of Notes
Convertible Note Hedge and Warrant Transactions
In connection with the offering of the Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions with counterparties for the purpose of reducing the potential dilution to common stockholders
from the conversion of the Notes and offsetting any potential cash payments in excess of the principal amount of the Notes. In the event that shares or cash are deliverable to holders of the Notes upon
conversion at limits defined in the indenture governing the Notes, counterparties to the convertible note hedge will be required to deliver to us shares of our common stock or pay cash to us in a
similar amount as the value that we deliver to the holders of the Notes based on a conversion price of $96.89 per share. At inception of the convertible note hedge transactions, up to 5.006 million of
our shares could be deliverable to us upon conversion. After the Company settled a portion of the note hedge transactions during fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021 in connection with the purchase of $25
million and $401.7 million, respectively, of the Notes, the number of shares that could be deliverable to us upon conversion was reduced to up to 0.601 million of our shares.
We also entered into separately negotiated warrant transactions with the same counterparties as the convertible note hedge transactions whereby we sold warrants to purchase, subject to certain
anti-dilution adjustments, up to 5.006 million shares of our common stock at a price of $130.43 per share. After the Company purchased a portion of the warrants during fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021 in
connection with the purchase of $25 million and $401.7 million, respectively, of the Notes, the remaining warrant transactions provide for to up to 0.601 million shares. The warrants will not have a
dilutive effect on our earnings per
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share unless our quarterly average share price exceeds the warrant strike price of $130.43 per share. In this event, we expect to settle the warrant transactions on a net share basis whereby we will
issue shares of our common stock.
Upon settlement of the conversion premium of the Notes, convertible note hedge, and warrants, the resulting dilutive impact of these transactions, if any, would be the number of shares necessary
to settle the value of the warrant transactions above $130.43 per share. The net amounts incurred in connection with the convertible note hedge and warrant transactions were recorded as a reduction
to additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets during fiscal 2016 and are not expected to be remeasured in subsequent reporting periods.
15. Income Taxes
The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows (dollars in thousands):
January 30, 2021
Current:
Federal
Foreign
State

$

Deferred:
Federal
Foreign
State
$

Provision for income taxes

42,794 $
(2)
10,273
53,065
(24,380)
—
(3,805)
(28,185)
24,880 $

Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020

January 26, 2019

8,389 $
(56)
3,727
12,060

9,507
2,204
4,897
16,608

7,257
568
1,436
9,261
21,321

8,706
(446)
263
8,523
25,131

$

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (“FFCR Act”) and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) were signed
into law on March 17, 2020 and on March 27, 2020, collectively the “Stimulus Bills.” The Stimulus Bills include tax provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, the deferral of employer’s
social security payments, and modifications to net operating loss (“NOL”) carryback provisions. During fiscal 2021, we recognized an income tax benefit of $2.6 million from a tax loss carryback
technical correction under the CARES Act.
Our effective income tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to the difference in income tax rates from state to state where work was performed, non-deductible and non-taxable
items, and tax credits recognized. Additionally, during fiscal 2021, our effective tax rate was impacted by the $53.3 million goodwill impairment charge which was mostly non-deductible for income
tax purposes, and the benefit from the $2.6 million tax loss carryback technical correction under the
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CARES Act. A reconciliation of the amount computed by applying our statutory income tax rate to pre-tax income to the total tax provision is as follows (dollars in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
January 26, 2019
Statutory rate applied to pre-tax income
$
12,436 $
16,495 $
18,488
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit
4,344
4,282
4,004
Tax Reform and related effects
(2,631)
1,093
—
Non-deductible goodwill impairment
10,411
—
—
Compensation limitation
2,632
82
884
Non-deductible and non-taxable items, net
808
1,351
1,549
Federal deficiency (benefit) of vesting and exercise of share-based awards
(436)
875
(200)
Tax credits
(3,145)
(2,801)
(1,835)
Change in accruals for uncertain tax positions
1,189
891
464
Change in valuation allowance
1
722
291
Effect of rates other than statutory
(4)
(197)
1,537
Other items, net
(725)
(1,472)
(51)
$
24,880 $
21,321 $
25,131
Provision for income taxes
During fiscal 2020 and 2019, our effective income tax rate differed from the statutory rate primarily as the result of the impact of non-deductible and non-taxable items, tax credits recognized,
certain tax effects from the vesting and exercise of share-based awards, and impacts from Tax Reform.
Deferred Income Taxes
The deferred tax provision represents the change in the deferred tax assets and the liabilities representing the tax consequences of changes in the amount of temporary differences and changes in
tax rates during the year. The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Deferred tax assets:
Insurance and other reserves
$
23,513 $
22,489
Leases
16,119
18,002
CARES Act tax deferral
9,588
—
Stock-based compensation
3,198
2,961
Allowance for doubtful accounts and reserves
1,615
2,342
Net operating loss carryforwards
1,401
1,487
Other
3,238
3,098
Total deferred tax assets
58,672
50,379
Valuation allowance
(1,139)
(1,126)
$
57,533 $
49,253
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
$
57,287 $
76,385
Goodwill and intangibles
30,395
29,563
Leases
16,310
17,856
Other
1,191
976
$
105,183 $
124,780
Deferred tax liabilities
$

Net deferred tax liabilities

69

47,650

$

75,527

Table of Contents

The valuation allowance above reduces the deferred tax asset balances to the amount that we have determined is more likely than not to be realized. The valuation allowance primarily relates to
immaterial foreign net operating loss carryforwards and immaterial state net operating loss carryforwards, which generally begin to expire in fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2023, respectively.
Uncertain Tax Positions
As of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, we had total unrecognized tax benefits of $5.9 million and $4.7 million, respectively, resulting from uncertain tax positions. Our effective tax rate
will be reduced during future periods if it is determined these unrecognized tax benefits are realizable. We had approximately $1.9 million and $1.7 million accrued for the payment of interest and
penalties as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, respectively. Interest expense related to unrecognized tax benefits for the Company was not material during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal
2019.
A summary of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (dollars in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
January 26, 2019
$
4,742 $
3,786 $
3,322
1,075
696
444
530
358
77
(407)
(98)
(57)
$
5,940 $
4,742 $
3,786

Balance at beginning of year
Additions based on tax positions related to the fiscal year
Additions based on tax positions related to prior years
Reductions related to the expiration of statutes of limitation
Balance at end of year
16. Other Income, Net
The components of other income, net, were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Gain on sale of fixed assets
Discount fee expense
Miscellaneous income, net
Write-off of deferred financing costs

$

$

Other income, net

January 30, 2021
10,026 $
(2,105)
676
—
8,597 $

Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020
14,879 $
(4,248)
1,034
—
11,665 $

January 26, 2019
19,390
(4,143)
751
(156)
15,842

We participate in a vendor payment program sponsored by one of our customers. Eligible accounts receivable from this customer are included in the program and payment is received pursuant to
a non-recourse sale to a bank partner. This program effectively reduces the time to collect these receivables as compared to that customer’s standard payment terms. We incur a discount fee to the
bank on the payments received that is reflected as discount fee expense in the table above and is included as an expense component in other income, net, in the consolidated statements of operations.
17. Employee Benefit Plans
We sponsor a defined contribution plan that provides retirement benefits to eligible employees who elect to participate (the “Dycom Plan”). Under the plan, participating employees may defer up
to 75% of their base pre-tax eligible compensation up to the IRS limits. We contribute 30% of the first 5% of base eligible compensation that a participant contributes to the plan and may make
discretionary matching contributions from time to time. Our contributions were $4.0 million, $4.1 million, and $3.5 million related to fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, respectively.
Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries contribute amounts to multiemployer defined benefit pension plans under the terms of collective bargaining agreements (“CBA”) that cover employees
represented by unions. Contributions are generally based on
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fixed amounts per hour per employee for employees covered by the plan. Participating in a multiemployer plan entails risks different from single-employer plans in the following aspects:
• assets contributed to the multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers;
• if a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be allocated to the remaining participating employers; and
• if the Company stops participating in the multiemployer plan, the Company may be required to pay the plan an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan. This payment is referred
to as a withdrawal liability.
The information available to us about the multiemployer plans in which we participate is generally dated due to the nature of the reporting cycle of multiemployer plans and legal requirements
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) as amended by the Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments Act. Based upon the most recently available annual reports, our
contribution to each of the plans was less than 5% of each plan’s total contributions. All plans are presented in the aggregate in the following table (dollars in thousands):
Company Contributions
Fiscal Year
Ended
2021
$
280

Fund
All Plans

Fiscal Year
Ended
2020
$
362

Fiscal Year
Ended
2019
$
726

Expiration Date of
CBA
Various

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016, one of the Company’s subsidiaries ceased operations. This subsidiary contributed to a multiemployer pension plan, the Pension, Hospitalization and
Benefit Plan of the Electrical Industry - Pension Trust Fund (the “Plan”). In October 2016, the Plan demanded payment for a claimed withdrawal liability of approximately $13.0 million. In
December 2016, the subsidiary submitted a formal request to the Plan seeking review of the Plan’s withdrawal liability determination. The subsidiary disputes the claim that it is required to make
payment of a withdrawal liability as demanded by the Plan as it believes that a statutory exemption under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) applies to its activities. The Plan
has taken the position that the work at issue does not qualify for that statutory exemption. The subsidiary has submitted this dispute to arbitration, as required by ERISA. There can be no assurance
that the Company’s subsidiary will be successful in asserting the statutory exemption as a defense in the arbitration proceeding. As required by ERISA, in November 2016, this subsidiary began
making payments of a withdrawal liability to the Plan in the amount of approximately $0.1 million per month. If the subsidiary prevails in disputing the withdrawal liability, all such payments are
expected to be refunded. Given the early stage of this action, it is not possible to estimate a range of loss that could result from either an adverse judgment or a settlement of this matter.
18. Capital Stock
Repurchases of Common Stock. The company made the following repurchases during fiscal 2021 (all shares repurchased have been canceled).We did not repurchase any of our common stock
during fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2019.
Total Consideration
Period
Number of Shares Repurchased
(In thousands)
Average Price Per Share
Fiscal 2021
1,324,381 $
100,000 $
75.51
Fiscal 2021. On August 24, 2020 the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a $100.0 million program to repurchase shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock
through February 2022 in open market or private transactions. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, we repurchased 1,324,381 shares of our common stock, at an average price of $75.51, for
$100.0 million.
Fiscal 2019. On August 29, 2018, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized a $150.0 million program to repurchase shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock through
February 2020 in open market or private transactions. No repurchases were made under this authorization, and, as of February 2020, the authorization expired.
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Restricted Stock Tax Withholdings. During fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, we withheld 19,081 shares, 36,426 shares, and 73,300 shares, respectively, totaling $0.7 million, $1.7 million,
and $4.7 million, respectively, to meet payroll tax withholding obligations arising from the vesting of restricted share units. All shares withheld have been canceled. Shares of common stock withheld
for tax withholdings do not reduce our total share repurchase authority.
Upon cancellation of shares repurchased or withheld for tax withholdings, the excess over par value is recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital until the balance is reduced to zero,
with any additional excess recorded as a reduction of retained earnings. During fiscal 2021, $63.0 million was charged to retained earnings related to shares canceled during the fiscal year.
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19. Stock-Based Awards
We have outstanding stock-based awards under our 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 2007 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan, 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan, and 2017 Non-Employee
Directors Equity Plan (collectively, the “Plans”). No further awards will be granted under the 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan or 2007 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan. As of January 30, 2021,
the total number of shares available for grant under the Plans was 838,212.
Stock-based compensation expense and the related tax benefit recognized during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
Stock-based compensation
$
12,771 $
10,034
Income tax effect of stock-based compensation
$
3,141 $
2,482

$
$

January 26, 2019
20,187
5,043

In addition, we realized approximately $0.5 million of net excess tax benefits during fiscal 2021, and $1.0 million of net tax deficiencies in fiscal 2020. We realized $0.2 million of net excess tax
benefits during fiscal 2019, related to the vesting and exercise of share-based awards.
As of January 30, 2021, we had unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options, RSUs, and target Performance RSUs (based on the Company’s expected achievement of
performance measures) of $1.6 million, $16.1 million, and $5.3 million, respectively. This expense will be recognized over a weighted-average number of years of 2.4, 2.6, and 1.1, respectively,
based on the average remaining service periods for the awards. As of January 30, 2021, we may recognize an additional $2.9 million in compensation expense in future periods if the maximum
number of Performance RSUs is earned based on certain performance measures being met.
The following table summarizes the valuation of stock options and restricted share units granted during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, and the significant valuation assumptions:
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
January 26, 2019
Weighted average fair value of RSUs granted
$
27.75
$
48.37
$
97.90
Weighted average fair value of Performance RSUs granted
$
25.15
$
45.94
$
106.19
Weighted average fair value of stock options granted
$
14.63
$
24.72
$
48.19
Stock option assumptions:
Risk-free interest rate
0.7 %
2.3 %
2.7 %
Expected life (in years)
9.4
8.4
6.3
Expected volatility
51.3 %
45.3 %
43.3 %
Expected dividends
—
—
—
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Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option award activity during fiscal 2021:

Outstanding as of January 25, 2020
Granted
Options exercised
Canceled
Outstanding as of January 30, 2021

Stock Options
Weighted Average Remaining
Weighted Average Exercise
Contractual Life
Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Shares
Price
(In years)
(In thousands)
577,309 $
36.85
63,304 $
25.15
(295,650) $
19.40
— $
—
344,963 $
49.66
5.8
$
11,656
233,070

Exercisable options as of January 30, 2021

$

52.58

4.4

$

7,075

The total amount of exercisable options as of January 30, 2021 presented above reflects the approximate amount of options expected to vest. The aggregate intrinsic values presented above
represent the total pre-tax intrinsic values (the difference between the Company’s closing stock price of $81.14 on the last trading day of fiscal 2021 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number
of in-the-money options) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on the last trading day of fiscal 2021. The amount of aggregate intrinsic
value will change based on the price of the Company’s common stock. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $8.1 million, $1.8 million, and $5.7 million for fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020,
and fiscal 2019, respectively. We received cash from the exercise of stock options of $5.7 million, $0.5 million, and $0.9 million during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, respectively.
RSUs and Performance RSUs
The following table summarizes RSU and Performance RSU award activity during fiscal 2021:
Restricted Stock
RSUs

$
$
$
$

Weighted Average Grant
Price
65.05
27.75
67.70
41.95

$

33.29

Share Units
Outstanding as of January 25, 2020
Granted
Share units vested
Forfeited or canceled
Outstanding as of January 30, 2021

174,917
557,838
(66,620)
(17,774)
648,361

Performance RSUs
Weighted Average Grant
Share Units
Price
639,738 $
62.60
65,538 $
25.15
(17,134) $
70.14
(262,798) $
66.64
425,344 $
54.03

The total number of granted Performance RSUs presented above consists of 32,769 target shares and 32,769 supplemental shares. During fiscal 2021, we canceled 167,095 target shares and
76,706 supplemental shares of Performance RSUs, as a result of performance criteria for attaining those shares being partially met for the applicable performance periods. Approximately 88,057
target shares and 74,024 supplemental shares outstanding as of January 30, 2021 will be canceled during the three months ending May 1, 2021 as a result of the fiscal 2021 performance period criteria
being partially met. The total amount of Performance RSUs outstanding as of January 30, 2021 consists of 281,877 target shares and 143,467 supplemental shares.
The total fair value of restricted share units vested during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019 was $3.1 million, $6.7 million, and $15.3 million, respectively.

74

Table of Contents

20. Customer Concentration and Revenue Information
Geographic Location
We provide services throughout the United States.
Significant Customers
Our customer base is highly concentrated, with our top five customers accounting for approximately 74.1%, 78.4%, and 78.4%, of our total contract revenues during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and
fiscal 2019, respectively. Customers whose contract revenues exceeded 10% of total contract revenues during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, as well as total contract revenues from all other
customers combined, were as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
January 30, 2021
January 25, 2020
January 26, 2019
Amount
% of Total
Amount
% of Total
Amount
% of Total
Verizon Communications Inc.
$
601.6
18.8 % $
728.2
21.8 % $
599.8
19.2 %
Lumen Technologies (1)
542.0
16.9 %
547.8
16.4 %
425.6
13.6 %
Comcast Corporation
533.9
16.7 %
503.2
15.1 %
650.2
20.8 %
AT&T Inc.
533.7
16.7 %
687.9
20.6 %
664.2
21.2 %
Total other customers combined
988.0
30.9 %
872.6
26.1 %
787.9
25.2 %
$
3,199.2
100.0%
$
3,339.7
100.0%
$3,127.7
100.0%
Total contract revenues
(1)

Formerly known as CenturyLink, Inc.

See Note 6, Accounts Receivable, Contract Assets, and Contract Liabilities, for information on our customer credit concentration and collectability of trade accounts receivable and contract
assets.
Customer Type
Total contract revenues by customer type during fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020, and fiscal 2019, were as follows (dollars in millions):

Telecommunications
Underground facility locating
Electrical and gas utilities and other
Total contract revenues

January 30, 2021
Amount
% of Total
$
2,851.6
89.1%
229.6
7.2%
118.0
3.7%
$
3,199.2
100.0%

Fiscal Year Ended
January 25, 2020
Amount
% of Total
$
3,031.9
90.8%
204.5
6.1%
103.3
3.1%
$
3,339.7
100.0%

January 26, 2019
Amount
% of Total
$
2,855.8
91.3%
182.7
5.8%
89.2
2.9%
$
3,127.7
100.0%

Remaining Performance Obligations
Master service agreements and other contractual agreements with customers contain customer-specified service requirements, such as discrete pricing for individual tasks. In most cases, our
customers are not contractually committed to procure specific volumes of services under these agreements.
Services are generally performed pursuant to these agreements in accordance with individual work orders. An individual work order generally is completed within one year. As a result, our
remaining performance obligations under the work orders not yet completed is not meaningful in relation to our overall revenue at any given point in time. We apply the practical expedient in
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and do not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have original expected
durations of one year or less.
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21. Commitments and Contingencies
On December 17, 2018 and May 8, 2020, shareholder derivative actions were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida against the Company, as nominal
defendant, and the members of its Board of Directors (and, in the second action, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer), alleging that the defendants breached fiduciary duties owed to the Company
and violated the securities laws by causing the Company to issue false and misleading statements regarding the Company’s financial condition and business operations, including those related to the
Company’s dependency on, and uncertainties related to, the permitting necessary for its large projects. On November 16, 2020, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint in which the
plaintiffs alleged the same breaches of fiduciary duty and violations of the securities laws as were alleged in the two consolidated lawsuits when they were initially filed. The consolidated amended
complaint names the Company as nominal defendant and asserts claims against seven current members of its Board of Directors and two former members of the Board. The Company believes the
allegations in the lawsuit are without merit and expects it to be vigorously defended. Based on the early stage of this matter, it is not possible to estimate the amount or range of possible loss that may
result from an adverse judgment or a settlement of this matter.
On December 1, 2017, one of the Company’s subsidiaries was named in a lawsuit alleging that its nonexempt employees performing utility locating services in California were not paid
appropriate minimum and overtime wages, provided required breaks, reimbursed for necessary business expenses, provided with accurate wage statements, and timely pay all wages at termination of
employment. The plaintiff seeks to pursue these allegations as a class action under the California Private Attorney General Act of 2004. Although the Company believes these claims are without
merit it has engaged in early settlement discussions and has reached a preliminary agreement to settle these claims on a class-wide basis for an aggregate settlement value of $2.1 million. This
preliminary agreement is subject to finalization by the parties and approval by the Court. If this preliminary settlement is not finalized, due to the early stage of this litigation, it is not possible to
estimate a range of loss that could result from either an adverse judgment or a later settlement of this matter.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016, one of the Company’s subsidiaries ceased operations. This subsidiary contributed to a multiemployer pension plan, the Pension, Hospitalization and
Benefit Plan of the Electrical Industry - Pension Trust Fund (the “Plan”). In October 2016, the Plan demanded payment for a claimed withdrawal liability of approximately $13.0 million. In
December 2016, the subsidiary submitted a formal request to the Plan seeking review of the Plan’s withdrawal liability determination. The subsidiary disputes the claim that it is required to make
payment of a withdrawal liability as demanded by the Plan as it believes that a statutory exemption under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) applies to its activities. The Plan
has taken the position that the work at issue does not qualify for that statutory exemption. The subsidiary has submitted this dispute to arbitration, as required by ERISA. There can be no assurance
that the Company’s subsidiary will be successful in asserting the statutory exemption as a defense in the arbitration proceeding. As required by ERISA, in November 2016, this subsidiary began
making payments of a withdrawal liability to the Plan in the amount of approximately $0.1 million per month. If the subsidiary prevails in disputing the withdrawal liability, all such payments are
expected to be refunded. Given the early stage of this action, it is not possible to estimate a range of loss that could result from either an adverse judgment or a settlement of this matter.
From time to time, we are party to other various claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While the resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, it
is the opinion of management, based on information available at this time, that the ultimate resolution of any such claims or legal proceedings will not, after considering applicable insurance coverage
or other indemnities to which we may be entitled, have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flow.
Commitments
Performance and Payment Bonds and Guarantees. We have obligations under performance and other surety contract bonds related to certain of our customer contracts. Performance bonds
generally provide a customer with the right to obtain payment and/or performance from the issuer of the bond if we fail to perform our contractual obligations. As of January 30, 2021 and January 25,
2020, we had $212.2 million and $156.1 million, respectively, of outstanding performance and other surety contract bonds. In addition to performance and other surety contract bonds, as part of our
insurance program, we also provide surety bonds that collateralize our obligations to our insurance carriers. As of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, we had $20.9 million and $23.4 million,
respectively, of outstanding surety bonds related to our insurance obligations. Additionally, the Company periodically guarantees certain obligations of its subsidiaries, including obligations in
connection with obtaining state contractor licenses and leasing real property and equipment.
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Letters of Credit. We have issued standby letters of credit under our credit agreement that collateralize our obligations to our insurance carriers. As January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, we
had $52.2 and $52.3 of outstanding standby letters of credit issued under our credit agreement, respectively.
22. Subsequent Event
On March 3, 2021 the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a new $150 million program to repurchase shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock through
August 2022 in open market or private transactions. As of March 5, 2021, the full $150 million of the new authorization was available for repurchases.
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23. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
In the opinion of management, the following unaudited quarterly financial data from fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals), which are
necessary to present a fair presentation of amounts shown for such periods. Our fiscal year consists of either 52 weeks or 53 weeks of operations with the additional week of operations occurring in
the fourth quarter. Fiscal 2021 consisted of 53 weeks of operation and fiscal 2020 consisted of 52 weeks of operations. The sum of the quarterly results may not equal the reported annual amounts due
to rounding (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts).
Quarter Ended
First Quarter (1)
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
Fiscal 2021
Contract revenues
$
814,322 $
823,921 $
810,256 $
750,665
Costs of earned revenues, excluding depreciation and amortization
$
680,206 $
657,953 $
658,355 $
645,476
Gross profit
$
134,116 $
165,968 $
151,901 $
105,189
Net income (loss)
$
(32,418) $
37,024 $
33,926 $
(4,195)
Earnings (loss) per common share - Basic
$
(1.03) $
1.17 $
1.06 $
(0.13)
Earnings (loss) per common share - Diluted
$
(1.03) $
1.15 $
1.05 $
(0.13)
Fiscal 2020
Contract revenues
Costs of earned revenues, excluding depreciation and amortization
Gross profit
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per common share - Basic
Earnings (loss) per common share - Diluted

$
$
$
$
$
$

First Quarter (2)
833,743
701,767
131,976
14,279
0.45
0.45

$
$
$
$
$
$

Quarter Ended
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
884,221 $
884,115
720,382 $
724,378
163,839 $
159,737
29,896 $
24,229
0.95 $
0.77
0.94 $
0.76

$
$
$
$
$
$

Fourth Quarter
737,603
633,203
104,400
(11,189)
(0.35)
(0.35)

(1)

During the first quarter of fiscal 2021, we recognized an impairment charge of $53.3 million which is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the reporting unit’s fair value.

(2)

During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, we recovered $10.3 million of the previously reserved accounts receivable and contract assets related to Windstream.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Dycom Industries, Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dycom Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 30, 2021, January 25, 2020, and January 26,
2019, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of January 30,
2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 30, 2021 and January 25, 2020, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 30, 2021, January 25, 2020, and January 26, 2019 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 30, 2021,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in the year ended January 25, 2020.
Basis for Opinions
The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
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company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the
audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments.
The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Goodwill Impairment Assessment - Reporting Units Subject to Quantitative Analysis
As described in Notes 2 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was $272.5 million as of January 30, 2021. Management conducts an
impairment test as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter of each year for each reporting unit, or more frequently if events occur that would indicate a potential reduction in the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying value. In the annual impairment test, management performs a qualitative assessment, and if it is not more likely than not that the fair value exceeds the carrying value
of the reporting unit, a quantitative assessment is performed. In the year ended January 30, 2021, qualitative assessments were performed on reporting units that comprise a significant portion of the
Company’s consolidated goodwill balance, and quantitative assessments were performed on the remaining reporting units. If management determines the fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is
less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized. When performing the quantitative analysis, the fair value is determined using a weighing of fair values derived in equal proportions from
the income approach and market approach valuation methodologies. The income approach uses the discounted cash flow method and the market approach uses the guideline company method. Under
the income approach, the key valuation assumptions were (a) the discount rate, (b) terminal growth rate, and (c) seven expected years of cash flow before the terminal value based on the Company’s
best estimate of the revenue growth rate and projected operating margin. Under the market approach, the guideline company method develops valuation multiples by comparing the Company’s
reporting units to similar publicly traded companies. Key market approach valuation assumptions were (a) the selection of similar companies and (b) the selection of valuation multiples as they apply
to the reporting unit characteristics.
The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment assessment for reporting units subject to quantitative analysis is a critical audit
matter are the significant judgment by management when developing the fair value measurement of each of the reporting units within the quantitative analysis. This in turn led to a high degree of
auditor judgment, subjectivity and audit effort in performing our audit procedures and in evaluating audit evidence relating to management’s cash flow projections and significant assumptions related
to the discount rate, terminal growth rate, revenue growth rate and projected operating margin used in the discounted cash flow method, and the selection of similar companies and valuation multiples
used in the guideline company method. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the
audit evidence obtained.
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures
included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s goodwill impairment assessment, including controls over the valuation of the Company’s reporting units subject to quantitative
analysis. These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimates; evaluating the appropriateness of the income and market approaches
and the related discounted cash flow and guideline company methods; testing the completeness, accuracy and relevance of the underlying data used in the discounted cash flow and guideline
company methods, and evaluating the significant assumptions used by management, including the discount rate, terminal growth rate, revenue growth rate, and projected operating margin used in the
discounted cash flow method, and the selection of similar companies and valuation multiples used in the guideline company method. Evaluating management’s assumptions related to the revenue
growth rate and projected operating margin involved evaluating whether the assumptions used were reasonable considering the current and past performance of the reporting units and considering
whether they were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit, including the evaluation of contractual agreements with customers and industry trends. Professionals with specialized
skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the valuation methodologies, the discount rate and terminal growth rate assumptions used in the discounted cash flow method, and the selection
of similar companies and valuation multiples used in the guideline company method.
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/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Hallandale Beach, Florida
March 5, 2021
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
There have been no changes in or disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosures within the meaning of Item 304 of Regulation S-K.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”)) as of January 30, 2021, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as
of
January 30, 2021, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files
or submits under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and (2)
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, in a manner that allows timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the Company’s fourth quarter of
fiscal 2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management of Dycom Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and
15(d)-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any
system of internal control, including the possibility of human error and overriding of controls. Consequently, an effective internal control system can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance,
with respect to reporting financial information. Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of January 30,
2021.
The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 30, 2021 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm. Their report, which is set forth in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 30, 2021.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
Information concerning directors and nominees of the Registrant and other information as required by this item are hereby incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A. The information set forth under the caption “Information About Our Executive Officers” in Part I,
Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Ethics
The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers, which is a code of ethics as that term is defined in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K and which applies to its Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, Controller, and other persons performing similar functions. The Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers is available on the
Company’s website at www.dycomind.com. If the Company makes any substantive amendments to, or a waiver from, provisions of the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers, it will disclose
the nature of such amendment, or waiver, on its website or in a report on Form 8-K. Information on the Company’s website is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by Item 11 regarding executive compensation is included under the headings “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report,” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A, and is incorporated herein
by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
Information concerning the ownership of certain of the Registrant’s beneficial owners and management and related stockholder matters is hereby incorporated by reference from the Company’s
definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence.
Information concerning relationships and related transactions is hereby incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Commission pursuant to
Regulation 14A.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
Information concerning principal accounting fees and services is hereby incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Commission pursuant to
Regulation 14A.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
1. Consolidated financial statements: the consolidated financial statements and the Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm are included in Part II, Item 8,
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial statement schedules: All schedules have been omitted because they are inapplicable, not required, or the information is included in the above referenced consolidated financial
statements or the notes thereto.
3. Exhibits furnished pursuant to the requirements of Form 10-K:
Exhibit Number
3(i)
3(ii)
4.1
4.2
4.3 +
10.1*
10.2*
10.3*
10.4*
10.5*
10.6*
10.7*
10.8*
10.9*
10.10*
10.11*
10.12*

Restated Articles of Incorporation of Dycom Industries, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on June 11,
2002).
Amended and Restated By-laws of Dycom Industries, Inc., as amended on September 28, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on September 30, 2016).
Indenture, dated as of September 15, 2015, among Dycom Industries, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Form of Global 0.75% Convertible Senior Note due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15,
2015).
Description of Common Stock Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 2, 2020).
2003 Long Term Incentive Plan, amended and restated effective as of September 19, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on September 23, 2011).
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 4, 2012).
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 4, 2012).
2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan, amended and restated effective as of November 21, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed
with the SEC on October 12, 2017).
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 20, 2012).
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 20, 2012).
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 20, 2012).
Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement under the 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 20, 2012).
2007 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan, amended and restated effective as of September 19, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 23, 2011).
Form of Non-Employee Director Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, under the 2007 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference
to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 4, 2012).
Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, under the 2007 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to
Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on September 4, 2012).
2017 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on October 12, 2017).
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10.13*

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2017 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s
Transition Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 2, 2018).

10.14*
10.15*

Employment Agreement for Steven E. Nielsen dated as of May 21, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 21, 2020).
Employment Agreement for Timothy R. Estes dated as of October 25, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on October 27, 2017).
Employment Agreement for Daniel S. Peyovich dated as of January 6, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on January 6, 2021).
Employment Agreement for H. Andrew DeFerrari dated as of July 23, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on July 24, 2015).
Employment Agreement for Scott P. Horton dated as of September 4, 2018. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on March 4, 2019).
Employment Agreement for Ryan F. Urness dated as of October 31, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC
on August 29, 2019).
2009 Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on October 17, 2013).
Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and executive officers of Dycom Industries, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the SEC on September 3, 2009).
Credit Agreement, dated as of December 3, 2012, among Dycom Industries, Inc., as the Borrower, the subsidiaries of Dycom Industries, Inc. identified therein, certain lenders
named therein, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender and L/C Issuer, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Wells Fargo Securities,
LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Managers, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agent, and SunTrust Bank, PNC Bank, National Association and
Branch Banking and Trust Company, as Co-Documentation Agents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 5, 2012).
First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2015, among Dycom Industries, Inc., as the Borrower, the subsidiaries of Dycom Industries, Inc. identified therein,
certain lenders named therein, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender and L/C Issuer, Bank of America Merrill Lynch and Wells Fargo Securities,
LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Managers, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agent, and SunTrust Bank, PNC Bank, National Association and
Branch Banking and Trust Company, as Co-Documentation Agents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on April 27, 2015).
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 9, 2015, among Dycom Industries, Inc., as the Borrower, the subsidiaries of Dycom Industries, Inc. identified
therein, certain lenders named therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2015).
Third Amendment to Credit Agreement and Additional Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2016, among Dycom Industries, Inc., as the Borrower, the subsidiaries of
Dycom Industries, Inc. identified therein, certain lenders named therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dycom
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 24, 2016).
Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2016, among Dycom Industries, Inc., as the Borrower, the subsidiaries of Dycom Industries, Inc. identified therein,
certain lenders named therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on June 22, 2016).
Lender Joinder Agreement, dated as of January 26, 2017, to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 3, 2012, by and among MUFG Union Bank N.A., as the New Lender,
Dycom Industries, Inc., as the Borrower, the subsidiaries of Dycom Industries, Inc. identified therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on March 3, 2017).
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2018, among Dycom Industries, Inc. as the Borrower, the subsidiaries of Dycom Industries, Inc. identified
therein, certain lenders named therein, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender and L/C Issuer, and other parties named therein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 22, 2018).
Base Bond Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 9, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Base Bond Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 9, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).

10.16*
10.17*
10.18*
10.19*
10.20*
10.21*
10.22

10.23

10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
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10.31

104 +

Base Bond Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 9, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Dycom
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Additional Bond Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 10, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Additional Bond Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 10, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Additional Bond Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 10, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Base Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 9, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Base Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 9, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Base Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 9, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Dycom
Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Additional Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 10, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Additional Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 10, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Dycom Industries,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Additional Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 10, 2015, between Dycom Industries, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Dycom Industries, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15, 2015).
Principal subsidiaries of Dycom Industries, Inc.
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
The following materials from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2021 formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance
Sheets; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity; (v)
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; and (vi) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

+
++
*

Filed herewith
Furnished herewith
Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC.
Registrant
Date:

March 5, 2021

/s/ Steven E. Nielsen
Name:
Steven E. Nielsen
Title:
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.
Name
Position
Date
/s/ Steven E. Nielsen
Steven E. Nielsen

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 5, 2021

/s/ H. Andrew DeFerrari
H. Andrew DeFerrari

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 5, 2021

/s/ Sharon R. Villaverde
Sharon R. Villaverde

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 5, 2021

/s/ Dwight B. Duke
Dwight B. Duke

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Jennifer M. Fritzsche
Jennifer M. Fritzsche

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Eitan Gertel
Eitan Gertel

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Patricia L. Higgins
Patricia L. Higgins

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Peter T. Pruitt, Jr.
Peter T. Pruitt, Jr.

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Richard K. Sykes
Richard K. Sykes

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Laurie J. Thomsen
Laurie J. Thomsen

Director

March 5, 2021
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Exhibit 4.3

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK REGISTERED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

General
The following is a description of our common stock, par value $0.33⅓ per share (“common stock”). The following summary is not meant to be complete and is qualified by reference to our Restated
Articles of Incorporation (the “Articles”) and our Third Amended and Restated By-Laws (the “By-Laws”), which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We have authorized the issuance of 150,000,000 shares of common stock and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $1.00 par value share (“preferred stock”).
Common Stock
The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders. Holders of common stock do not have cumulative voting rights. Therefore,
holders of more than 50% of the shares of common stock are able to elect all of our directors eligible for election in a given year. The holders of common stock are entitled to dividends and other
distributions out of assets legally available if and when declared by the board of directors. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of common stock are entitled to share pro rata
in the distribution of all of our assets remaining available for distribution after satisfaction of all liabilities, including any prior rights of any preferred stock which may be outstanding. There are no
redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock.
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “DY.”
Potential Issuances of Preferred Stock
Under the Articles, series of the preferred stock may be created and issued from time to time by our board of directors, with such rights and preferences as they may determine.
Although our board of directors has no intention at the present time of doing so, it could issue a class or series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of such class or series, impede
completion of a merger, tender offer or other takeover attempt that some, or a majority, of stockholders might believe to be in their best interests or in which stockholders might receive a premium for
their shares over the then-current market price of such shares.
Material Provisions of our Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws and Other Agreements
Classified Board. The Articles provide that the board of directors is divided into three classes, as nearly equal in number as possible, with one class of directors being elected each year for a threeyear term. The classification of the board may have the effect of delaying a change in a majority of the members of our board of directors.
Shareholder Approval. The Articles require approval of 80% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote in elections of directors for any merger with or into another corporation or
any sale or transfer of all or a substantial part of our assets to, or any sale or transfer to us or any subsidiary in exchange for our securities or any assets (except assets valued at less than $1,000,000)
of, any other corporation or person, if at the time such other corporation or person is the beneficial owner, or is affiliated with the beneficial owner, of more than 20% of the outstanding shares of our
capital stock entitled to vote in elections of directors. This requirement is not applicable to any such transaction with another corporation which was approved by our board of directors prior to the
time that such other corporation became a holder of more than 20% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock.
Change of Control Agreements. We have agreements with certain of our executive officers which provide for substantial compensation (in general terms, continuation of up to eighteen months the
officer’s base salary and vesting of all equity-based awards awarded to the officer pursuant to any of our long-term incentive plans), upon our termination of the officer’s employment without cause or
the officer’s resignation of his employment for good reason on or prior to the second anniversary following the consummation of a change of control in our company. A change of control is defined
as any person’s acquisition of more than 20% of our outstanding securities, the sale or transfer of substantially all of our assets to someone other than one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, or a
change of control of the board of directors.

Indemnification. Our By-Laws require us to indemnify each of our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by law and limits the liability of our directors and stockholders for monetary
damages in certain circumstances.
Anti-Takeover Effects of Florida Law
Control Shares. The Florida Business Corporation Act contains provisions eliminating the voting rights of “control shares,” which are defined as shares which give any person, directly or indirectly,
ownership of, or the power to direct the exercise of voting power with respect to, 20% or more of the outstanding voting power of an “issuing public corporation.” A corporation is an issuing public
corporation if it has at least 100 shareholders, its principal place of business, principal office or substantial assets are in Florida and either more than 10% of its shareholders reside in Florida, more
than 10% of its shares are owned by Florida residents or 1,000 shareholders reside in Florida. The voting rights of control shares are not eliminated if the articles of incorporation or the bylaws of the
corporation prior to the acquisition provide that the statute does not apply. Voting rights are restored to control shares if, subsequent to their acquisition, the corporation’s shareholders (other than the
holder of control shares, officers of the corporation and employee directors) vote to restore such voting rights.
Affiliated Transactions. The Florida Business Corporation Act also restricts “affiliated transactions” (mergers, consolidations, transfers of assets and other transactions) between “interested
shareholders” (the beneficial owners of 10% or more of the corporation’s outstanding shares) and the corporation or any subsidiary. Affiliated transactions must be approved by two-thirds of the
voting shares not beneficially owned by the interested shareholder or by a majority of the corporation’s “disinterested” directors. The statutory restrictions do not apply if the corporation has had
fewer than 300 shareholders of record for three years, the interested shareholder has been the beneficial owner of at least 80% of the outstanding shares for five years, the interested shareholder is the
beneficial owner of at least 90% of the corporation’s outstanding voting shares, exclusive of shares acquired directly from the corporation in a transaction not approved by a majority of the
disinterested directors, or certain consideration is paid to all shareholders.
The provisions of the Articles and By-Laws and the change of control agreements and the application of the anti-takeover provisions of the Florida Business Corporation Act could have the effect of
discouraging, delaying or preventing a change of control not approved by the board of directors which could affect the market price of our common stock.

DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. 2012 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (Amended and Restated Effective as of November 21, 2017) 1. Purposes of the Plan The purposes of the Plan are to aid the Company in (a) attracting, retaining and motivating highly qualified key employees and officers of the Company and its Subsidiaries, (b) promoting the long-term success of the Company and its Subsidiaries and (c) increasing stockholder value by providing eligible key employees and officers with incentives to contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of the Company through the grant of equity-based awards. 2. Definitions and Rules of Construction (a) Definitions. For purposes of the Plan, the following capitalized words shall have the meanings set forth below: “Amended Effective Date” means the date on which the Plan is approved by the stockholders of the Company at the 2017 annual meeting. “Award” means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of an Option, Restricted Share, Restricted Share Unit, Performance Share, Performance Share Unit, Stock Appreciation Right or Other Award. “Award Document” means an agreement, certificate or other type or form of document or documentation approved by the Committee which sets forth the terms and conditions of an Award. An Award Document may be in written, electronic or other media, may be limited to a notation on the books and records of the Company and, unless the Committee requires otherwise, need not be signed by a representative of the Company or a Participant. “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time. “Change in Control” means any of the following with respect to the Company: (i) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the
Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 20% of the total outstanding voting stock of the Company, excluding, however, (1) any acquisition directly from the Company, other than an acquisition by virtue of the exercise of a conversion privilege unless the security being so converted was itself acquired directly from the Company; (2) any acquisition by the Company; or (3) any acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any entity controlled by the Company; Exhibit 10.4*

2 (ii) the individuals who constitute the Board as of the Amended Effective Date (the “Incumbent Board”) cease to constitute a majority of the Board; provided, however, (1) that if the nomination or election of any new director of the Company was approved by a majority of the Incumbent Board, such new director shall be deemed a member of the Incumbent Board and (2) that no individual shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board if such individual initially assumed office as a result of either an actual or threatened “Election Contest” (as described in Rule 14a-11 promulgated under the Exchange Act) or as a result of a solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of any “person” or “group” identified in clause (i) above; (iii) a reorganization of the Company or the Company consolidates with, or merges with or into another person or entity or conveys, transfers, leases or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of its assets to any person or entity, or any person or entity consolidates with or merges with or into the Company; provided, however, that any such transaction shall not constitute a Change in Control if (1) the shareholders of the Company immediately before such transaction own, directly or indirectly, immediately following such transaction in excess of 50% of the combined voting power of the outstanding voting securities of the corporation or other person or entity resulting from such transaction, (2) no “person” or “group” owns 20% or more of the outstanding voting securities of the corporation or other person or entity resulting from such transaction, and (3) a majority of the Incumbent Board remains; or (iv) the approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company; provided, however, that if any Award is determined to constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code, to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code
with respect to such Award, an event shall not constitute a Change in Control unless such event also constitutes a change in the ownership of the Company, a change in the effective control of the Company, or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of a Company’s assets, in each case, within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code. “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable rulings and regulations promulgated thereunder. “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board, any successor committee thereto or any other committee appointed from time to time by the Board to administer the Plan, which committee shall meet the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code, Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act and the applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange; provided, however, that, if any Committee member is found not to have met the qualification requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code and Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, any actions taken or Awards granted by the Committee shall not be invalidated by such failure to so qualify.

3 “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, par value $0.333 per share, or such other class of share or other securities as may be applicable under Section 13(b) of the Plan. “Company” means Dycom Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation, or any successor to substantially all of its business. “Eligible Individual” means an individual described in Section 4(a) of the Plan. “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. “Fair Market Value” means, with respect to a share of Common Stock, the fair market value thereof as of the relevant date of determination, as determined in accordance with a valuation methodology established by the Committee in compliance with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code. In the absence of any alternative valuation methodology established by the Committee, the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall equal the closing price of a share of Common Stock as reported on the composite tape for securities listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or such other national securities exchange as may be designated by the Committee, or, in the event that the Common Stock is not listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange or such other national securities exchange but is regularly quoted on an automated system, in any such case on the valuation date (or, if there were no sales on the valuation date, the mean of the high bid and low quoted asked prices as reported on said composite tape or automated system for the most recent day during which such information exists) as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Committee deems reliable. “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 422 of the Code or any successor provision thereto. “Nonqualified Stock Option” means an Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option. “Option” means
an Incentive Stock Option, Nonqualified Stock Option or any other type of option granted pursuant to Section 7 of the Plan. “Original Effective Date” means November 21, 2012. “Other Award” means any form of Award other than an Option, Restricted Share, Restricted Share Unit, Performance Share, Performance Share Unit or Stock Appreciation Right granted pursuant to Section 11 of the Plan. “Participant” means an Eligible Individual who has been granted an Award under the Plan. “Performance Period” means the period established by the Committee and set forth in the applicable Award Document over which the attainment of Performance Targets are measured.

4 “Performance Share” means a right to receive a Target Number of shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to Section 9 of the Plan. “Performance Share Unit” means a right to receive a Target Number of shares of Common Stock (or cash equivalent, if applicable) granted pursuant to Section 9 of the Plan. “Performance Target” means the performance goals established by the Committee from among the performance measures provided in Annex A hereof and prescribed in the applicable Award Document. “Plan” means the Dycom Industries, Inc. 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended from time to time. “Plan Limit” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(a) of the Plan. “Repricing” means (i) amending the terms of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right after its grant date to reduce its exercise price or grant price; (ii) canceling an Option or Stock Appreciation Right at a time when its exercise price or grant price is equal to or greater than the Fair Market Value of the underlying Common Stock in exchange for another Option or Stock Appreciation Right; or (iii) any action that is treated as a repricing of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right under generally accepted accounting principles or any applicable laws, rules or regulations. “Restricted Share” means a share of Common Stock granted or sold pursuant to Section 8 of the Plan. “Restricted Share Unit” means a right to receive a share of Common Stock (or cash equivalent, if applicable) granted pursuant to Section 8 of the Plan. “Stock Appreciation Right” means a right to receive all or some portion of the appreciation on shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to Section 10 of the Plan. “Subsidiary” means (i) a domestic or foreign corporation or other entity with respect to which the Company, directly or indirectly, has the power, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, to elect at least a majority of the members of such corporation’s board of director
or analogous governing body, or (ii) any other domestic or foreign corporation or other entity in which the Company, directly or indirectly, has an equity or similar interest and which the Committee designates as a Subsidiary for purposes of the Plan. For purposes of determining eligibility for the grant of Incentive Stock Options under the Plan, the term “Subsidiary” shall be defined in the manner required by Section 424(f) of the Code. “Substitute Award” means any Award granted upon assumption of, or in substitution or exchange for, outstanding employee equity awards previously granted by a company or other entity acquired by the Company in connection with a corporate transaction or with which the Company combines pursuant to the terms of an equity compensation plan that was approved by the stockholders of such company or other entity.

5 “Target Number” means the target number of shares of Common Stock (or cash equivalent, if applicable) established by the Committee and prescribed in the applicable Award Document. “Vesting Period” shall mean the period of time specified by the Committee during which vesting restrictions for an Award are applicable. (b) Rules of Construction. The masculine pronoun shall be deemed to include the feminine pronoun and the singular form of a word shall be deemed to include the plural form, unless the context requires otherwise. Any determinations, approvals or actions that are performed or taken by the Board or the Committee (or its delegates) in connection with the Plan shall be deemed to be performed in the sole discretion of such entity or person. Unless the text indicates otherwise, references to sections are to sections of the Plan. 3. Administration (a) Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee, no member of which shall be eligible to participate in the Plan. (b) Powers and Responsibility. The Committee shall have full power and authority, subject to the express provisions hereof, to: (i) select the Participants from the Eligible Individuals; (ii) grant Awards in accordance with the Plan; (iii) determine the number of shares of Common Stock subject to each Award or the cash amount payable in connection with an Award; (iv) determine the terms and conditions of each Award, including, without limitation, those related to term, methods of exercise, vesting, forfeiture, payment, settlement, Performance Periods, Performance Targets and exercisability, and the effect or occurrence, if any, of a Participant’s termination of employment, separation from service or leave of absence with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or a Change in Control of the Company; (v) subject to Sections 20 and 23 of the Plan, amend the terms and conditions of an Award after the granting thereof; (vi) specify and approve the provisions of the Award
Documents delivered to Participants in connection with their Awards; (vii) make factual determinations in connection with the administration or interpretation of the Plan; (viii) establish, amend, waive and rescind administrative regulations, rules and procedures relating to the Plan;

6 (ix) employ such legal counsel, independent auditors and consultants as it deems desirable for the administration of the Plan and to rely upon any opinion or computation received therefrom; (x) correct any defects, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in any Award Document or the Plan; (xi) vary the terms of Awards to take account of tax, securities law and other regulatory requirements; and (xii) make all other determinations and take any other action desirable or necessary to interpret, construe or implement properly the provisions of the Plan or any Award Document. (c) Plan Construction and Interpretation. The Committee shall have full power and authority, subject to the express provisions hereof, to construe and interpret the Plan and any Award Document delivered under the Plan. (d) Determinations of Committee Final and Binding. All determinations by the Committee in carrying out and administering the Plan and in construing and interpreting the Plan shall be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes and upon all persons interested herein. (e) Delegation of Authority. To the extent not prohibited by applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Committee may, from time to time, delegate some or all of its authority under the Plan to a subcommittee or subcommittees thereof or other persons or groups of persons as it deems necessary, appropriate or advisable under such conditions or limitations as it may set at the time of such delegation or thereafter; provided, however, that the Committee may not delegate its authority (i) to make Awards to individuals (A) who are subject on the date of the Award to the reporting rules under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, (B) whose compensation for such fiscal year may be subject to the limit on deductible compensation pursuant to Section 162(m) of the Code or (C) who are officers of the Company who are delegated authority by the Committee hereunder, or (ii) pursuant to Section 20 of the
Plan. For purposes of the Plan, reference to the Committee shall be deemed to refer to any subcommittee, subcommittees, or other persons or groups of persons to whom the Committee delegates authority pursuant to this Section 3(e). (f) Liability of Committee. Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, no member of the Board or Committee, or any officer or employee of the Company to whom any duties or responsibilities are delegated hereunder shall be liable for any action or determination made in connection with the operation, administration or interpretation of the Plan and the Company shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each such person from any liability arising from or in connection with the Plan in the manner provided in the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation or any relevant indemnification agreement between the Company and such person. In the performance of its responsibilities with respect to the Plan, the Committee shall be entitled to rely upon information and/or advice furnished by the Company’s officers or employees, the Company’s accountants, the Company’s counsel and any other party the Committee deems

7 necessary, and no member of the Committee shall be liable for any action taken or not taken in reliance upon any such information and/or advice. (g) Action by the Board. Anything in the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, any authority or responsibility that, under the terms of the Plan, may be exercised by the Committee may alternatively be exercised by the Board. 4. Eligibility (a) Eligible Individuals. Only officers and employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any individual who has accepted an offer of employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as an officer or employee shall be eligible to participate in the Plan and to receive Awards under the Plan. Members of the Committee shall not be eligible to participate in the Plan. (b) Grants to Participants. The Committee shall have no obligation to grant any Eligible Individual an Award or to designate an Eligible Individual as a Participant solely by reason of such Eligible Individual having received a prior Award or having been previously designated as a Participant. The Committee may grant more than one Award to a Participant and may designate an Eligible Individual as a Participant for overlapping periods of time. 5. Common Stock Subject to the Plan (a) Plan Limit. Subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock which may be awarded for all purposes under the Plan shall be 3,865,000 shares (the “Plan Limit”). Shares of Common Stock to be issued under the Plan may be authorized and unissued shares, issued shares that have been reacquired by the Company (in the open market or in private transactions) and that are being held in treasury, or a combination thereof. All of the shares of Common Stock subject to the Plan Limit may be issued pursuant to Incentive Stock Options. (b) Rules Applicable to Determining Shares Available for Issuance. The
number of shares of Common Stock remaining available for issuance under the Plan will be reduced by the number of shares of Common Stock subject to outstanding Awards and, for Awards that are not denominated by shares, by the number of shares actually delivered upon settlement or payment of the Award; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the above, for every one share of Common Stock issued in respect of an award of (i) Restricted Shares, (ii) Restricted Share Units, (iii) Performance Shares, (iv) Performance Share Units or (v) Other Awards, the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under the Plan shall be reduced by one share. For purposes of determining the number of shares of Common Stock that remain available for issuance under the Plan, (i) the number of shares that are tendered by a Participant or withheld by the Company to pay the exercise price of an Award or to satisfy the Participant’s tax withholding obligations in connection with the exercise or settlement of an Award and (ii) all of the shares covered by a stock-settled Stock Appreciation Right to the extent exercised, will not be added back to the Plan Limit. In addition, for purposes of determining the number of shares of Common Stock that remain available for issuance under the Plan, the number of shares

8 corresponding to Awards under the Plan that are forfeited or cancelled or otherwise expire for any reason without having been exercised or settled or that are settled through issuance of consideration other than shares of Common Stock (including, without limitation, cash) shall be added back to the Plan Limit and again be available for the grant of Awards; provided, however, that this provision shall not be applicable with respect to (i) the cancellation of a Stock Appreciation Right granted in tandem with an Option upon the exercise of the Option or (ii) the cancellation of an Option granted in tandem with a Stock Appreciation Right upon the exercise of the Stock Appreciation Right. (c) Special Limits. Anything to the contrary in Section 5(a) of the Plan notwithstanding, but subject to Section 13(b) of the Plan, the following special limits shall apply to shares of Common Stock available for Awards under the Plan: (i) The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be subject to Awards, including, without limitation, Incentive Stock Options, granted to any Eligible Individual in any calendar year shall equal 400,000 shares, plus any shares which were available under this Section 5(c)(i) for Awards to such Eligible Individual in any prior calendar year but which were not covered by such Awards, and the maximum dollar amount of Awards denominated in cash that may be granted to any Eligible Individual in any calendar year is $3 million. (ii) In no event will the number of shares of Common Stock issued in connection with the grant of Awards exceed the Plan Limit, as in effect on the Amended Effective Date. (d) Substitute Awards. To the extent not prohibited by applicable laws, rules and regulations, any shares of Common Stock underlying Substitute Awards shall not be counted against the number of shares remaining for issuance and shall not be subject to Section 5(c) of the Plan. 6. Awards in General (a) Types of Awards. Awards under the
Plan may consist of Options, Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Units, Performance Shares, Performance Share Units, Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Awards. Any Award described in Sections 7 through 11 of the Plan may be granted singly or in combination or tandem with any other Awards, as the Committee may determine. Awards under the Plan may be made in combination with, in replacement of, or as alternatives to awards or rights under any other compensation or benefit plan of the Company, including the plan of any acquired entity. (b) Terms Set Forth in Award Document. The terms and conditions of each Award shall be set forth in an Award Document in a form approved by the Committee for such Award, which shall contain terms and conditions not inconsistent with the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Committee may accelerate (i) the vesting or payment of any Award, (ii) the lapse of restrictions on any Award or (iii) the date on which any Award first becomes exercisable. The terms of Awards may vary among Participants

9 and the Plan does not impose upon the Committee any requirement to make Awards subject to uniform terms. Accordingly, the terms of individual Award Documents may vary. (c) Termination of Employment; Change in Control. (i) The Committee shall specify at or after the time of grant of an Award the provisions governing the disposition of an Award in the event of a Participant’s termination of employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in connection with a Participant’s termination of employment, the Committee shall have the discretion to accelerate the vesting, exercisability or settlement of, eliminate the restrictions and conditions applicable to, or extend the post-termination exercise period of an outstanding Award. (ii) Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and any Award Document, the Committee shall have full authority to determine the effect, if any, of a Change in Control of the Company on the vesting, exercisability, settlement, payment or lapse of restrictions applicable to an Award, which effect may be specified in the applicable Award Document or determined at a subsequent time, including, without limitation, to (A) terminate or cancel any outstanding Award in exchange for a cash payment (including, if as of the date of the Change in Control, the Committee determines that no amount would have been realized upon the exercise of the Award, then the Award may be cancelled by the Company without payment of consideration) or (B) provide for the assumption, substitution, replacement or continuation of any Award by a successor or surviving entity (or a parent or subsidiary thereof) with cash, securities, rights or other property to be paid or issued, as the case may be, by the successor or surviving entity (or a parent or subsidiary thereof). (d) Minimum Vesting. Subject to Section 6(c) above, except with respect to Awards representing no more than five percent (5%)
of the total number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under the Plan, no portion of an Award may be scheduled to vest prior to the first anniversary of the date of grant. (e) Award Exercisable Only by Participant. During the lifetime of a Participant, an Award shall be exercisable only by the Participant. The grant of an Award shall impose no obligation on a Participant to exercise or settle the Award. (f) Rights of a Stockholder. A Participant shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to shares of Common Stock covered by an Award until the date the Participant or his nominee becomes the holder of record of such shares. No adjustment shall be made for dividends or other rights for which the record date is prior to such date, except as provided in Section 13(b) of the Plan. (g) Limitation on Exercise and Settlement. An Award may not be exercised or settled and no shares of Common Stock may be issued in connection with an Award unless the issuance of such shares has been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and qualified under applicable state “blue sky” laws, or the Company has determined that an exemption from registration and from qualification under such state “blue sky” laws is available. (h) Performance-Based Awards. (i) The Committee may determine whether any Award under the Plan is intended to be “qualified performance-based compensation” as

10 defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.162-27(e) or any successor provision. Any such Awards designated to be “qualified performance-based compensation” shall be conditioned on the achievement of one or more Performance Targets, to the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code. The Performance Targets will be comprised of specified levels of one or more of the performance measures set forth on Annex A hereto as the Committee deems appropriate. The Performance Targets may be described in terms of objectives that are related to the individual Participant or objectives that are Company-wide or related to a Subsidiary, division or business unit and may be measured on an absolute or cumulative basis or on the basis of percentage of improvement over time, and may be measured in terms of Company performance (or performance of the applicable Subsidiary, division or business unit) or measured relative to selected peer companies or a market index. At the time of grant, the Committee may provide for adjustments to the performance measures in accordance with Section 162(m) of the Code. In addition, for Awards not intended to qualify as “qualified performance-based compensation”, the Committee may establish performance goals based on other criteria as it deems appropriate. (ii) The Participants will be designated, and the applicable Performance Targets will be established, by the Committee within 90 days following the commencement of the applicable Performance Period (or such earlier or later date permitted or required by Section 162(m) of the Code). Any payment of an Award granted with Performance Targets shall be conditioned on the written certification of the Committee in each case that the Performance Targets and any other material conditions were satisfied. The Committee retains the right to reduce (but not to increase) the amount payable at a given level of performance to take into account additional factors that the
Committee may deem relevant to the assessment of individual or corporate performance for the Performance Period. (i) Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. The Committee may provide Participants with the right to receive dividends or payments equivalent to dividends with respect to an outstanding Award (other than an Option or a Stock Appreciation Right), which payments shall accrue and be paid or distributed only upon the vesting or subsequent settlement of an Award or shall be deemed to have been reinvested in shares of Common Stock (which shall be subject to the same forfeiture terms and vesting schedule as the corresponding Award), and can be made in shares, cash or a combination thereof, as the Committee shall determine; provided, however, that the terms of any payment or reinvestment of dividends must comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, including, without limitation, Section 409A of the Code. Dividend equivalent rights granted as a component of an Award which vests or is earned based upon the achievement of Performance Targets shall not vest unless such Performance Targets for the underlying Award are achieved. 7. Terms and Conditions of Options (a) General. The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Options to eligible Participants and shall determine whether such Options shall be Incentive Stock Options, Nonqualified Stock Options or any other type of Option which may exist from time to time. Each Option shall be evidenced by an Award Document that shall expressly identify the Option as an Incentive Stock Option or Nonqualified Stock Option (or other type of Option, as applicable), and be in such form and contain such provisions as the Committee shall from time to time deem appropriate. At the time of grant of an Option, the Committee shall, in its discretion, establish a

11 Vesting Period during which the forfeiture provisions may lapse. The Vesting Period may lapse over a period of time specified by the Committee in an Award Document; provided, however, that, subject to Section 6(c), such Vesting Period shall be not less than three years. (b) Exercise Price. The exercise price of an Option shall be fixed by the Committee at the time of grant or shall be determined by a method specified by the Committee at the time of grant. In no event shall the exercise price of an Option be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of grant; provided, however, that the exercise price of a Substitute Award granted as an Option shall be determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and may be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value. (c) Term. An Option shall be effective for such term as shall be determined by the Committee and as set forth in the Award Document relating to such Option, and the Committee may extend the term of an Option after the time of grant; provided, however, that the term of an Option may in no event extend beyond the 10th anniversary of the date of grant of such Option. (d) Exercise; Payment of Exercise Price. Options shall be exercised in whole or in part by delivery of a notice of exercise in a form approved by the Company. Subject to the provisions of the applicable Award Document, payment of the exercise price of an Option shall be made (i) in cash or cash equivalents, (ii) to the extent provided by the Committee at or after the time of grant, by actual delivery or attestation to ownership of freely transferable shares of Common Stock already owned and held by the Participant or in any combination of cash and shares held by the Participant, (iii) through net share settlement or similar procedure involving the withholding of shares of Common Stock subject to the Option with a value equal to the exercise price, or (iv) by such other means as the Committee
may authorize. Except in connection with a transaction or event described in Section 13(b) below, nothing in the Plan shall be construed as permitting the Company to reduce the exercise price of Options previously granted under the Plan or options previously granted under any other plan of the Company without stockholder approval. In accordance with the rules and procedures established by the Committee for this purpose, an Option may also be exercised through a “cashless exercise” procedure authorized by the Committee from time to time that permits Participants to exercise Options by delivering irrevocable instructions to a broker to deliver promptly to the Company the amount of sale or loan proceeds necessary to pay the exercise price and the amount of any required tax or other withholding obligations. (e) Incentive Stock Options. The exercise price per share of an Incentive Stock Option shall be fixed by the Committee at the time of grant or shall be determined by a method specified by the Committee at the time of grant, but in no event shall the exercise price of an Incentive Stock Option be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per share on the date of grant. No Incentive Stock Option may be issued pursuant to the Plan to any individual who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, unless (i) the exercise price determined as of the date of grant is at least 110% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant of the shares of Common Stock subject to such Incentive Stock Option, and (ii) the Incentive Stock Option is not exercisable more than five years from the date of grant thereof. No Participant shall be granted any Incentive Stock Option which would result in such Participant receiving a grant of Incentive Stock Options that would have an aggregate Fair Market Value in

12 excess of $100,000, determined as of the time of grant, that would be exercisable for the first time by such Participant during any calendar year. The terms of any Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan shall comply in all respects with the provisions of Section 422 of the Code, or any successor provision thereto, and any regulations promulgated thereunder. 8. Terms and Conditions of Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units (a) Restricted Shares. The Committee, in its discretion, may grant or sell Restricted Shares to Eligible Individuals. An Award of Restricted Shares shall consist of one or more shares of Common Stock granted or sold to an Eligible Individual, and shall be subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and the applicable Award Document. (b) Restricted Share Units. The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Restricted Share Units to Eligible Individuals. A Restricted Share Unit shall entitle a Participant to receive, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and applicable Award Document, one or more shares of Common Stock. If and when the forfeiture provisions lapse, the Restricted Share Units shall become shares of Common Stock owned by the corresponding Participant or, at the discretion of the Committee, cash, or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, with a value equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares at the time of payment. (c) Vesting Period. At the time of grant of a Restricted Share or Restricted Share Unit, the Committee shall, in its discretion, establish a Vesting Period during which the forfeiture provisions may lapse. The Vesting Period may lapse over a period of time specified by the Committee in an Award Document; provided, however, that, subject to Section 6(c), such Vesting Period shall be not less than three years. 9. Terms and Conditions of Performance Shares and Performance Share Units (a) Performance Shares. The Committee, in
its discretion, may grant Performance Shares to Eligible Individuals. Subject to Section 6(g) above, an Award of Performance Shares shall consist of a Target Number of shares of Common Stock granted to an Eligible Individual based on the achievement of Performance Targets over the applicable Performance Period, and shall be subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and the applicable Award Document. (b) Performance Share Units. The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Performance Share Units to Eligible Individuals. Subject to Section 6(h) above, a Performance Share Unit shall entitle a Participant to receive, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and applicable Award Document, a Target Number of shares of Common Stock or cash based upon the achievement of Performance Targets over the applicable Performance Period. At the discretion of the Committee, Performance Share Units shall be settled through the delivery of shares of Common Stock or cash, or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, with a value equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock as of the last day of the applicable Performance Period. (c) Performance Period. At the time of grant of a Performance Share Unit or Performance Share, the Committee shall, in its discretion, establish a Performance Period. The

13 Performance Targets applicable to each Performance Period shall be measured over a period of not less than one year. 10. Stock Appreciation Rights (a) General. The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Stock Appreciation Rights to Eligible Individuals. A Stock Appreciation Right shall entitle a Participant to receive, upon satisfaction of the conditions to payment specified in the applicable Award Document, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value on the exercise date of the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised, over the exercise price for such Stock Appreciation Right specified in the applicable Award Document. The exercise price per share of Common Stock covered by a Stock Appreciation Right shall be fixed by the Committee at the time of grant or, alternatively, shall be determined by a method specified by the Committee at the time of grant; but in no event shall the grant price of a Stock Appreciation Right be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of grant; provided, however, that the grant price of a Substitute Award granted as a Stock Appreciation Right shall be determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and may be less 100% of the Fair Market Value. At the discretion of the Committee, payments to a Participant upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right may be made in cash or shares of Common Stock, or in a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, having an aggregate Fair Market Value as of the date of exercise equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value on the exercise date of the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised over the grant price for such Stock Appreciation Right. (b) Stock Appreciation Rights in Tandem with Options. A Stock Appreciation Right granted in tandem with an Option may be granted either at the same time as
such Option or subsequent thereto. If granted in tandem with an Option, a Stock Appreciation Right shall cover the same number of shares of Common Stock as covered by the Option (or such lesser number of shares as the Committee may determine) and shall be exercisable only at such time or times and to the extent the related Option shall be exercisable, and shall have the same term and exercise price as the related Option. Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right granted in tandem with an Option, the related Option shall be canceled automatically to the extent of the number of shares covered by such exercise; conversely, if the related Option is exercised as to some or all of the shares covered by the tandem grant, the tandem Stock Appreciation Right shall be canceled automatically to the extent of the number of shares covered by the Option exercise. (c) Vesting Period. At the time of grant of a Stock Appreciation Right, the Committee shall, in its discretion, establish a Vesting Period during which the forfeiture provisions may lapse. The Vesting Period may lapse over a period of time specified by the Committee in an Award Document; provided, however, that, subject to Section 6(c), such Vesting Period shall be not less than three years. (d) Term. A Stock Appreciation Right shall be effective for such term as shall be determined by the Committee and as set forth in the Award Document relating to such Stock Appreciation Right, and the Committee may extend the term of a Stock Appreciation Right after the time of grant; provided, however, that the term of a Stock Appreciation Right may in no event extend beyond the 10th anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Appreciation Right.

14 11. Other Awards The Committee shall have the authority to specify the terms and provisions of other forms of equity-based or equity-related Awards not described above that the Committee determines to be consistent with the purpose of the Plan and the interests of the Company, which Awards may provide for cash payments based in whole or in part on the value or future value of shares of Common Stock, for the acquisition or future acquisition of shares of Common Stock, or any combination thereof. At the time of grant, the Committee shall, in its discretion, establish a Vesting Period during which the forfeiture provisions may lapse. The Vesting Period may lapse over a period of time specified by the Committee in an Award Document; provided, however, that, subject to Section 6(c), such Vesting Period shall not be less than three years. 12. Tax Withholding (a) Withholding Generally. Whenever shares of Common Stock are to be issued in satisfaction of an Award granted under the Plan, the Company or a Subsidiary may require the Participant to remit to the Company or a Subsidiary an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state and local withholding tax requirements prior to the delivery of book entry (or any certificate(s)) for the shares of Common Stock. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment of any kind otherwise due to the Participant. (b) Common Stock Withholding. Subject to approval by the Committee, and prior to the Company’s adoption of ASU 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) dated March 2016 (“ASU 2016-09”), the Company may allow a Participant to satisfy the minimum withholding tax obligation by electing to have the Company withhold from the shares of Common Stock to be issued that number of whole shares of Common Stock having a Fair Market Value that would satisfy the withholding amount due
(determined as of the date the amount of tax to be withheld is to be determined). Subject to approval by the Committee, and subsequent to the Company’s adoption of ASU 2016-09, the Company may allow a Participant to satisfy up to the lesser of (i) the maximum statutory rate in the Participant’s applicable jurisdiction or (ii) the amount required by applicable tax laws and regulations, by electing to have the Company withhold from the shares of Common Stock to be issued that number of whole shares of Common Stock having a Fair Market Value that would satisfy the withholding amount due (determined as of the date the amount of tax to be withheld is to be determined). 13. No Restriction on Right of Company to Effect Corporate Changes (a) Authority of the Company and Stockholders. The existence of the Plan, the Award Documents and the Awards granted hereunder shall not affect or restrict in any way the right or power of the Company or the stockholders of the Company to make or authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization or other change in the Company’s capital structure or business, any merger or consolidation of the Company, any issue of stock or of options, warrants or rights to purchase stock or of bonds, debentures, preferred or prior preference stocks whose rights are superior to or affect the Common Stock or the rights thereof or which are convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock, or the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a similar character or otherwise.

15 (b) Change in Capitalization. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan or any Award Document, the number and kind of shares authorized for issuance under Section 5 above, including the maximum number of shares available under the special limits provided for in Section 5(c), shall be equitably adjusted in the manner deemed necessary by the Committee in the event of a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, partial or complete liquidation, reclassification, consolidation, extraordinary dividend, split-up, spin-off, combination, separation, exchange of shares, warrants or rights offering to purchase Common Stock at a price substantially below Fair Market Value or other similar corporate event or distribution of stock or property of the Company affecting the Common Stock in order to preserve, but not increase, the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan. In addition, upon the occurrence of any of the foregoing events, the number of outstanding Awards and the number and kind of shares subject to any outstanding Award and the exercise price per share (or the grant price as the case may be), if any, under any outstanding Award shall be equitably adjusted in the manner deemed necessary by the Committee (including by payment of cash to a Participant) in order to preserve the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available to Participants. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, such adjusted Awards shall be subject to the same restrictions and vesting or settlement schedule to which the underlying Award is subject. 14. Application of Funds The proceeds received by the Company from the sale of Common Stock pursuant to Awards will be used for general corporate purposes. 15. Exchange Act Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan or any Award Document under the Plan to the contrary, if the consummation of any transaction under the Plan, o
the taking of any action by the Committee in connection with a Change in Control of the Company, would result in the possible imposition of liability on a Participant pursuant to Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, the Committee shall have the right, in its discretion, but shall not be obligated, to defer such transaction or the effectiveness of such action to the extent necessary to avoid such liability, but in no event for a period longer than 180 days. 16. No Right to Employment No person shall have any claim or right to receive Awards under the Plan. Neither the Plan, the grant of Awards under the Plan, nor any action taken or omitted to be taken under the Plan shall be deemed to create or confer on any Eligible Individual any right to be retained in the employ of the Company or any Subsidiary or other affiliate thereof, or to interfere with or to limit in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary or other affiliate thereof to terminate the employment of such Eligible Individual at any time. 17. Awards to Individuals Subject to Non-U.S. Jurisdictions To the extent that Awards under the Plan are awarded to individuals who are domiciled or resident outside of the United States or to persons who are domiciled or resident in the United States but who are subject to the tax laws of a jurisdiction outside of the United States,

16 the Committee may adjust the terms of the Awards granted hereunder to such person (i) to comply with the laws of such jurisdiction and (ii) to permit the grant of the Award not to be a taxable event to the Participant. The authority granted under the previous sentence shall include the discretion for the Committee to adopt, on behalf of the Company, one or more sub-plans applicable to separate classes of Eligible Individuals who are subject to the laws of jurisdictions outside of the United States. 18. Term of the Plan Unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 20 below, the Plan shall terminate on the 10th anniversary of the Amended Effective Date, except with respect to Awards then outstanding. No Awards may be granted under the Plan after the 10th anniversary of the Amended Effective Date. 19. Effective Date The Plan shall become effective on the Amended Effective Date; provided, however, that if the Plan is not approved by the stockholders upon submission to them for approval at the 2017 annual meeting, the Plan shall continue to operate as approved by the stockholders of the Company on the Original Effective Date. 20. Amendment and Termination (a) Amendment. Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Board or the Committee may at any time terminate or, from time to time, amend, modify or suspend the Plan; provided, however, that no termination, amendment, modification or suspension of the Plan (i) will be effective without the approval of the stockholders of the Company if such approval is required under applicable laws, rules and regulations, including the rules of the New York Stock Exchange and (ii) shall materially and adversely alter or impair the rights of a Participant in any Award previously made under the Plan without the consent of the holder thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board shall have broad authority to amend the Plan or any Award under the Plan without the consent of a Participant to the
extent it deems necessary or desirable to (x) comply with, take into account changes in, or interpretations of, applicable tax laws, securities laws, employment laws, accounting rules and other applicable laws, rules and regulations, (y) take into account unusual or nonrecurring events or market conditions (including, without limitation, the events described in Section 13(b) of the Plan), or (z) take into account significant acquisitions or dispositions of assets or other property by the Company (b) Repricings. The Committee may not effect a Repricing of any Option or Stock Appreciation Right granted under the Plan without the approval of the Company’s shareholders. In addition, no Option or Stock Appreciation Right may be repurchased or otherwise cancelled in exchange for cash or other property (except in connection with a change in the Common Stock or the capitalization of the Company as provided in Section 13(b) above) if the exercise price of the Option or the grant price of the Stock Appreciation Right is equal to or less than the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock at the time of such repurchase or exchange without the approval of the Company’s shareholders.

17 21. Transferability No Award shall be transferable other than by last will and testament or by the laws of descent and distribution or, except in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, pursuant to a domestic relations order. 22. Section 162(m) of the Code The Plan is intended to comply in all respects with Section 162(m) of the Code; provided, however, that in the event the Committee determines that compliance with Section 162(m) of the Code is not desired with respect to a particular Award, compliance with Section 162(m) of the Code will not be required. In addition, if any provision of this Plan would cause Awards that are intended to constitute “qualified performance-based compensation” as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.162-27(e) or any successor provision, to fail to so qualify, that provision shall be severed from, and shall be deemed not to be a part of, the Plan, but the other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect. 23. Section 409A of the Code To the extent applicable, the Plan and Award Documents shall be interpreted in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and interpretive guidance issued thereunder. If the Committee determines that any Award granted under the Plan is subject to Section 409A of the Code, the Award Document evidencing such Award shall incorporate the terms and conditions required by Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding any contrary provision in the Plan or an Award Document, if the Committee determines that any provision of the Plan or an Award Document contravenes any regulations or guidance promulgated under Section 409A of the Code or would cause an Award to be subject to additional taxes, accelerated taxation, interest and/or penalties under Section 409A of the Code, the Committee may modify or amend such provision of the Plan or Award Document without consent of the Participant in any manner it deems reasonable or appropriate. In making such modifications the
Committee shall attempt, but shall not be obligated, to maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the original intent of the applicable provision without contravening the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. Moreover, any discretionary authority that the Committee may have pursuant to the Plan shall not be applicable to an Award that is subject to Section 409A of the Code to the extent such discretionary authority would contravene Section 409A of the Code or the guidance promulgated thereunder. 24. Satisfaction of Obligations Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Company may apply any cash, shares of Common Stock, securities or other consideration received upon exercise or settlement of an Award to any obligations a Participant owes to the Company and the Subsidiaries in connection with the Plan or otherwise. 25. Recoupment Any Awards granted under the Plan shall be subject to any clawback or recoupment policies and procedures that are required under applicable law, rule or regulation or Company policy as enacted, adopted or modified from time to time.

18 26. Award Document In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Plan and any Award Document, the Plan shall govern and the Award Document shall be interpreted to minimize or eliminate any such conflict or inconsistency. 27. Governing Law Except as to matters of federal law, the Plan, the Award Document and all actions taken thereunder shall be construed in accordance with and shall be subject to the laws of the State of Florida.

ANNEX A 19 Financial Performance Measures Assets Net income Basic or diluted earnings per share Net income before asset impairment charges and certain other expenses Basic or diluted earnings per share growth Gross or Net revenue Basic or diluted earnings per share before asset impairment charges and certain other expenses Operating cash flow Basic or diluted earnings per share growth before asset impairment charges and certain other expenses Operating cash flow before certain other expenses Capital expenditures Operating income Cash flow Operating income growth Cash flow return on investment Operating margin Cash value added Operating income before asset impairment charges and certain other expenses Contract backlog Operating revenue Contract revenues Pre-tax income Days sales outstanding (accounts receivable) Pre-tax income before asset impairment charges and certain other expenses Days sales outstanding (accounts receivable and work in progress) Pre-tax operating income Debt-free working capital Return on assets Working capital Return on equity Debt level Return on invested capital Earnings before interest and taxes Return on investment Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization Return on net assets Earnings before interest and taxes, asset impairment charges and certain other expenses Return on tangible net assets Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, asset impairment charges and certain other expenses Return on tangible net worth Economic value added Revenue growth Cost of capital Share price Effective tax rate Tangible net assets Expense management Tangible net worth

ANNEX A 20 Free cash flow Gross margin Market capitalization Total shareholder return Non-Financial Performance Measures Customer or employee satisfaction Objective individual performance goals Development and execution of strategic initiatives Safety performance

AMENDMENT TO THE DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. 2012 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN, AS AMENDED AND RESTATED EFFECTIVE AS OF NOVEMBER 21, 2017 This Amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Dycom Industries, Inc. 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as Amended and Restated Effective as of November 21, 2017 (the “Plan”), is made effective as of the 21st day of May, 2019, by Dycom Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), subject to approval by the Company’s shareholders at the 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 1. Amendment to Section 5(a) of the Plan. The first sentence of Section 5(a) of the Plan is deleted and replaced with the following: (a) Plan Limit. Subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be awarded for all purposes under the Plan shall be 4,415,000 shares (the “Plan Limit”). 2. Continued Effect. Except as set forth herein, the Plan shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.

1 RESTRICTED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), dated as of May 21, 2020, is by and between Dycom Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), and Steven E. Nielsen (the “Executive”). WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive previously entered into an employment agreement, dated as of April 26, 2016 (the “Existing Employment Agreement”); WHEREAS, the Existing Employment Agreement will expire in accordance with its terms on May 31, 2020; and WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to provide for the continued employment of the Executive and to supersede the Existing Employment Agreement with this Agreement effective as of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 2); NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 1. Employment and Duties. (a) General. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Executive shall continue to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, reporting to the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company. The Executive shall have such duties and responsibilities commensurate with those typically provided by a President and Chief Executive Officer of a company that is required to file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (a “Public Company”), as may be assigned to the Executive from time to time by the Board. The Executive’s principal place of employment shall be the principal offices of the Company currently located in Palm Beach Gardens, Florida, subject to such reasonable travel as the performance of his duties and the business of the Company may require. (b) Exclusive Services. For so long as the Executive is employed by the Company, the Executive shall devote his full business working time to his duties hereunder, shall faithfully serve the Company, shall in al
respects conform to and comply with the lawful and good faith directions and instructions given to him by the Board and shall use his best efforts to promote and serve the interests of the Company. Further, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, render material services to any other person or organization without the consent of the Company pursuant to authority granted by the lead independent director of the Board or otherwise engage in activities that would interfere significantly with the faithful performance of his duties hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive may (i) serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards provided that, on and after the Effective Date hereof, the Executive provides the lead independent director of the Board, in writing, with a list of such boards and receives the consent of the lead independent director of the Board to serve on such boards and (ii) manage personal investments or engage in charitable activities, provided that such activity does not contravene the first sentence of this Section 1(b). Exhibit 10.14*

2 RESTRICTED 2. Term. (a) The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall commence as of May 31, 2020 (the “Effective Date”) and shall, subject to earlier termination of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement), continue until May 31, 2025 (the “Initial Term”). Unless a Final Non-Renewal Notice (as defined below) is given or the Executive’s employment is earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the period of the Executive’s employment shall, as of and following the expiration of the Initial Term, be automatically extended for additional 12 month periods (individually, and collectively, the “Renewal Term”). The period from the Effective Date until the termination of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement, including the Initial Term, and, if applicable, the CIC Term (as defined below), any Renewal Term or Post-CIC Renewal Term (as defined below), is referred to as the “Term.” (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Change in Control (as defined in Section 5 below) occurs prior to the termination of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement (including after providing a Final Non-Renewal Notice, which shall be deemed revoked and superseded by reason of the occurrence of the Change in Control), the Term shall end not earlier than the second anniversary of the consummation of the Change in Control unless the Executive experiences a termination of employment under this Agreement (the “CIC Term”). Unless a Final Non-Renewal Notice is given as herein provided or Executive’s employment is earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the period of Executive’s employment shall, as of and following the expiration of the CIC Term, be automatically extended for additional 12 month periods (individually, and collectively, the “Post-CIC Renewal Term”). The Company or the Executive may elect to terminate the automatic extension of the Term by giving
written notice of such election not less than (i) one-year prior to the end of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term, as applicable or (ii) 90 days prior to the end of the CIC Term or any Post-CIC Renewal Term, as applicable (the “Final Non-Renewal Notice”). 3. Compensation and Other Benefits. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Company shall pay and provide the following compensation and other benefits to the Executive during the Term as compensation for services rendered hereunder: (a) Base Salary. The Company shall pay to the Executive an annual salary at the rate of $1,050,000 (the “Base Salary”), payable in substantially equal installments at such intervals as may be determined by the Company in accordance with its ordinary payroll practices as established from time to time; provided that the Executive shall receive a reduced annual salary at the rate of $750,000 (the “Reduced Base Salary”) in accordance with and until such time provided for in that certain letter agreement regarding salary reduction dated March 27, 2020 (the “Salary Reduction Letter”). For the avoidance of doubt, any references to “Base Salary” in this Agreement (including in Section 3(b) with respect to the Executive’s bonus entitlements and in Section 4 relating to post-termination severance and other payments and benefits) shall refer to the highest annual rate of Base Salary approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board for the Executive as of and following the date of this Agreement and shall not refer to the Reduced Base Salary or any other reduced annual salary rate unless specifically agreed to by the Executive. During the Term, the Compensation Committee of the

3 RESTRICTED Board shall review the Executive’s Base Salary, not less often than annually, and may increase (but not decrease) the Executive’s Base Salary in its sole discretion. (b) Bonus. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in the Company’s annual incentive bonus plan in accordance with its terms as may be in effect from time to time and subject to such other terms as the Board may approve. For each fiscal year during the Term, the Executive shall be eligible to receive no less than (i) a target annual bonus opportunity of 105% of his Base Salary and (ii) an annual maximum bonus opportunity of 210% of his Base Salary. (c) Long-Term Incentive Plan. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in the Company’s long-term incentive plan in accordance with its terms that may be in effect from time to time and subject to such other terms as the Board, in its sole discretion, may approve. (d) Benefit Plans. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in all employee benefit plans or programs of the Company as are available to other senior executives of the Company, in accordance with the terms of the plans, as may be amended from time to time. (e) Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for reasonable travel and other business-related expenses incurred by the Executive in the fulfillment of his duties hereunder upon presentation of written documentation thereof, in accordance with the business expense reimbursement policies and procedures of the Company as in effect from time to time. In addition, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for the cost of an annual physical exam by a physician of the Executive’s choice upon presentation of written documentation thereof, in accordance with the applicable business expense reimbursement policies and procedures of the Company as in effect from time to time. Payments with respect to reimbursements of expenses shall be made consistent with the Company’s reimbursement
policies and procedures and in no event later than the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the relevant expense is incurred. (f) Vacation. The Executive shall be entitled to vacation time consistent with the applicable policies of the Company for other senior executives of the Company as in effect from time to time. 4. Termination of Employment. Subject to this Section 4, the Company shall have the right to terminate the Executive’s employment at any time, with or without Cause (as defined in Section 5 below), and the Executive shall have the right to terminate his employment at any time, with or without Good Reason (as defined in Section 5 below). (a) Termination due to Death or Disability. The Executive’s employment under this Agreement will terminate upon the Executive’s death and upon the Executive’s Disability (as defined in Section 5 below) may be terminated by the Company upon giving not less than 30 days’ written notice to the Executive. In the event of the Executive’s death or Disability, the Company shall pay to the Executive (or his estate, as applicable) the Executive’s accrued salary through and including the date of termination and any bonus earned,

4 RESTRICTED but unpaid, for the year prior to the year in which the Separation from Service (as defined in Section 4(b) below) occurs and any other amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided by law or under any plan, program, policy or practice of the Company (“Other Accrued Compensation and Benefits”), payable within 30 days of the Executive’s Separation from Service by reason of death or Disability. In addition, solely in the event the Executive’s employment under this Agreement terminates as a result of death or Disability after the Executive or the Company delivers a Final Non-Renewal Notice, the Executive shall be entitled to the following: (i) a pro rata bonus equal to (x) the annual bonus the Executive would have earned for the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs based on performance as determined by the Board, multiplied by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days worked during the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs and the denominator of which is 365, payable in a single lump sum upon certification to the Board of performance for such fiscal year; (ii) full acceleration of all outstanding stock options granted by the Company to the Executive pursuant to any of the Company’s long-term incentive plans, to the extent not already vested, which shall remain exercisable for the three-year period following the date of termination; (iii) with respect to all outstanding time and performance vesting restricted stock or restricted stock unit awards granted by the Company to the Executive pursuant to any of the Company’s long-term incentive plans, (1) in the case of death, full acceleration of such awards with any performance awards vesting at their respective target performance levels; or (2) in the case of Disability, continued vesting in accordance with the terms of such awards, with any performance vesting awards subject to the applicable performance conditions; and (iv) with
respect to any other outstanding equity awards, such awards will continue to vest in accordance with their terms, with any performance vesting awards subject to the applicable performance conditions. (b) Termination for Cause; Resignation without Good Reason. If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive incurs a “Separation from Service” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), by reason of the Company’s termination of the Executive’s employment for Cause or if the Executive resigns from his employment hereunder other than for Good Reason, the Executive shall only be entitled to payment of his Other Accrued Compensation and Benefits, payable in accordance with Company policies and practices and in no event later than 30 days after the Executive’s Separation from Service. The Executive shall have no further right to receive any other compensation or benefits after such termination or resignation of employment. (c) Termination without Cause; Resignation for Good Reason Prior to a Change in Control. If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive incurs a Separation from Service by reason of the Company’s termination of the Executive’s employment without Cause, or if the Executive resigns from his employment for Good Reason prior to a Change in Control the Executive shall receive the Other Accrued Compensation and Benefits and, subject to Section 4(f), shall be entitled to the following: (i) an amount equal to three times the sum of (1) his Base Salary (at the rate in effect on the date the Executive’s employment is terminated) plus (2) the greater of (x) the average amount of the annual bonus paid to him for each of the three fiscal years immediately prior to the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs or (y) target annual bonus for the fiscal year in which the Separation from

5 RESTRICTED Service occurs, payable in substantially equal monthly installments over a period of 18 months beginning 60 days following the Executive’s Separation from Service and shall be in the amount of one-ninth of the severance amount due to the Executive under this clause (i), and each of the remaining sixteen installments shall be in the amount of one-eighteenth of such severance amount due to the Executive; provided, however, that if a “change in the effective control of a corporation,” as such term is defined in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-3(i)(5), occurs with respect to the Company following the Executive’s Separation from Service, any unpaid amounts hereunder shall be paid in a single lump sum within five days following the consummation of such change in the effective control; and (ii) continued participation in the employee benefit plans of the Company (other than equity-based plans, 401(k) plans, bonus plans, or disability plans) applicable to other senior executives for a period of three years following the Executive’s Separation from Service or, in the event such participation is not permitted, a cash payment equal to the value of the benefit excluded, payable in three annual installments beginning 60 days following the Executive’s Separation from Service; provided, however, that in the event the Executive obtains other employment and is eligible to participate in the welfare benefit plans of his new employer, any benefits provided under the Company’s welfare benefit plans shall be secondary to the benefits provided under the welfare benefit plans of the Executive’s new employer. (d) Termination without Cause; Resignation for Good Reason on or Following a Change in Control. If, prior to the expiration of the CIC Term, the Executive incurs a Separation from Service on or following the consummation of a Change in Control by reason of the Company’s termination of the Executive’s employment without Cause, or if the Executive
resigns from his employment for Good Reason, the Executive shall receive the Other Accrued Compensation and Benefits and, subject to Section 4(f), shall be entitled to the following: (i) an amount equal to three times the sum of (i) his Base Salary (at the rate in effect on the date the Executive’s employment is terminated) plus (ii) the greater of (x) the average amount of the annual bonus paid to him for each of the three fiscal years immediately prior to the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs or (y) target annual bonus for the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs, payable in a single lump sum within five days; (ii) a pro rata bonus equal to (x) the greater of (i) the average amount of the annual bonus paid to the Executive for each of the three fiscal years immediately prior to the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs or (ii) the annual bonus the Executive would have earned for the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs based on performance as determined through the date of the Separation from Service, multiplied by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days worked during the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs and the denominator of which is 365 , payable in a single lump sum within five days; provided, however, that if such Separation from Service occurs in the same fiscal year as the Change in Control and the Executive is paid

6 RESTRICTED an annual bonus for such year in connection with the Change in Control, the fraction shall be adjusted so that the numerator reflects the number of days worked during the fiscal year following the Change in Control and the denominator reflects the number of days in the fiscal year following the Change in Control; (iii) continued participation in the employee benefit plans of the Company (other than equity-based plans, 401(k) plans, bonus plans, or disability plans) applicable to other senior executives for a period of three years following the Executive’s Separation from Service or, in the event such participation is not permitted, a cash payment equal to the value of the benefit excluded, payable in three annual installments beginning 60 days following the Executive’s Separation from Service; provided, however, that in the event the Executive obtains other employment and is eligible to participate in the welfare benefit plans of his new employer, any benefits provided under the Company’s welfare benefit plans shall be secondary to the benefits provided under the welfare benefit plans of the Executive’s new employer; and (iv) all outstanding equity-based awards, including but not limited to stock options, restricted stock, and restricted stock unit awards, granted by the Company to the Executive pursuant to any of the Company’s long-term incentive plans shall fully and immediately vest to the extent not already vested. In addition, all outstanding performance share, performance share unit, and other equivalent awards granted by the Company to the Executive pursuant to any of the Company’s long-term incentive plans shall immediately vest at their respective target performance levels to the extent not already vested. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any termination without Cause that occurs prior to a Change in Control but which the Executive reasonably demonstrates (x) was at the request of a third party, or (y)
arose in connection with or in anticipation of a Change in Control which actually occurs, shall constitute a termination without Cause occurring on such Change in Control for purposes of this Agreement. (e) Failure to Renew Agreement; Termination Due to Retirement. If the Executive or the Company delivers a Final Non-Renewal Notice, the Executive’s employment under this Agreement will terminate due to retirement at the end of the one-year notice period (or on such earlier date as may be mutually agreed by Mr. Nielsen and the Company). Upon a termination of employment due to the Executive’s retirement, the Executive shall receive the Other Accrued Compensation and Benefits and, subject to Section 4(f), he shall be entitled to the following: (i) a pro rata bonus equal to (x) the annual bonus the Executive would have earned for the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs based on performance as determined by the Board, multiplied by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days worked during the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs and the denominator of which is 365, payable

7 RESTRICTED in a single lump sum upon certification to the Board of performance for such fiscal year; and (ii) all outstanding equity awards granted to the Executive pursuant to any of the Company’s long-term incentive plans, shall be treated as follows: (i) all outstanding stock options shall continue to vest on their terms as if the Executive did not have a Separation from Service and remain exercisable until the original expiration date; (ii) all outstanding time vesting restricted stock or restricted stock unit awards shall continue vesting for the three-year period following the Executive’s Separation from Service; and (iii) all outstanding performance vesting restricted stock or restricted stock unit awards shall continue to vest for the two-year period following the Executive’s Separation from Service, with the number of shares earned based on actual performance determined by the Board at the end of the original performance period for each such performance vesting restricted stock or restricted stock unit award. Any other outstanding equity awards will continue to vest in accordance with their terms, with any performance vesting awards subject to the applicable performance conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the Executive’s death following the Executive’s Separation from Service, any time vesting awards will vest and any performance vesting awards will vest at their target performance levels. (iii) continued participation in the Company’s health plans for him and his spouse, on the same terms as immediately prior to the Separation from Service until such time that the Executive is eligible for Medicare. If the Company determines (in its sole discretion) at any time following the Executive’s Separation from Service that the Executive’s participation in the Company’s health plans is not or no longer permitted (whether through COBRA or otherwise) or that continued participation has a substantial risk of violating applicable law, then the
Company instead shall pay to the Executive, on a monthly basis, a cash payment equal to the cost of the Executive obtaining the same or substantially similar healthcare benefits until such time that both the Executive and his spouse are eligible for Medicare. (f) Execution and Delivery of Release. The Company shall not be required to make the payments and provide the benefits provided for under Section 4(c), 4(d), or 4(e), unless the Executive executes and delivers to the Company, within 60 days following the Executive’s Separation from Service, a general waiver and release of claims in a form substantially similar to the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and the release has become effective and irrevocable in its entirety. The Executive’s failure or refusal to sign the release (or his revocation of such release in accordance with applicable laws) shall result in the forfeiture of the payments and benefits under Sections 4(c), 4(d), and 4(e). (g) Notice of Termination. Any termination of employment by the Company or the Executive shall be communicated by a written “Notice of Termination” to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 25 of this Agreement, except that the Company may waive the requirement for such Notice of Termination by the Executive. In the event of a resignation by the Executive without Good Reason, the Notice of Termination shall

8 RESTRICTED specify the date of termination, which date shall not be less than 30 days after the giving of such notice, unless the Company agrees to waive any notice period by the Executive. (h) Resignation from Directorships and Officerships. The termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason shall constitute the Executive’s resignation from (i) any director, officer or employee position the Executive has with the Company and (ii) all fiduciary positions (including as a trustee) the Executive may hold with respect to any employee benefit plans or trusts established by the Company. The Executive agrees that this Agreement shall serve as written notice of resignation in this circumstance. 5. Definitions. (a) Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean the termination of the Executive’s employment because of: (i) the Executive’s indictment for any crime, whether such crime is a felony or misdemeanor, that materially impairs the Executive’s ability to function as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and such crime involves the purchase or sale of any security, mail or wire fraud, theft, embezzlement, moral turpitude, or Company property; provided, however, that if the Executive is found not guilty of the crime and does not enter a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to such crime or a lesser offense (based on the same operative facts), either before or after the date of the Executive’s Separation from Service, such indictment shall not be the basis for a termination for Cause, but will be a termination without Cause as of the date of the Executive’s Separation from Service; (ii) the Executive’s repeated willful neglect of his duties; or (iii) the Executive’s willful material misconduct in connection with the performance of his duties (including a willful material breach of Company policies regarding legal compliance, ethics or workplace conduct) or other willful material breach of this Agreement. provided, however, that no
act or omission on the Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” if it is done by him in good faith and with a reasonable belief that Executive’s conduct was in the best interest of the Company and provided further that no event or condition described in clause (ii) or (iii) shall constitute Cause unless (w) the Company gives the Executive written notice of termination of his employment for Cause and the grounds for such termination within 180 days of the Board first becoming aware of the event giving rise to such Cause, (x) such grounds for termination are not corrected by the Executive within 30 days of his receipt of such notice, (y) if the Executive fails to correct such event or condition, the Company gives the Executive at least 15 days’ prior written notice of a special Board meeting called to make a determination that the Executive should be terminated for Cause and the Executive and his legal counsel are given the opportunity to address such meeting prior to a vote of the Board, and (z) a determination that Cause exists is made and approved by 75% of the Board.

9 RESTRICTED (b) Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, “Change in Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 20% of the total outstanding voting stock of the Company, excluding, however, (1) any acquisition directly from the Company, other than an acquisition by virtue of the exercise of a conversion privilege unless the security being so converted was itself acquired directly from the Company; (2) any acquisition by the Company; or (3) any acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any entity controlled by the Company; (ii) the individuals who constitute the Board as of the Effective Date (the “Incumbent Board”) cease to constitute a majority of the Board; provided, however, (1) that if the nomination or election of any new director of the Company was approved by a majority of the Incumbent Board, such new director shall be deemed a member of the Incumbent Board and (2) that no individual shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board if such individual initially assumed office as a result of either an actual or threatened “Election Contest” (as described in Rule 14a-11 promulgated under the Exchange Act) or as a result of a solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of any “person” or “group” identified in clause (i) above; (iii) a reorganization of the Company or the Company consolidates with, or merges with or into another person or entity or conveys, transfers, leases or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of its assets to any person or entity, or any person or
entity consolidates with or merges with or into the Company; provided, however, that any such transaction shall not constitute a Change in Control if (1) the shareholders of the Company immediately before such transaction own, directly or indirectly, immediately following such transaction in excess of 50% of the combined voting power of the outstanding voting securities of the corporation or other person or entity resulting from such transaction, (2) no “person” or “group” owns 20% or more of the outstanding voting securities of the corporation or other person or entity resulting from such transaction, and (3) a majority of the Incumbent Board remains; or (iv) the approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company. (c) Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall be defined in the same manner as such term or a similar term is defined in the Company long-term disability plan applicable to the Executive.

10 RESTRICTED (d) Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean termination of employment by the Executive because of the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) a failure by the Company to pay compensation or benefits due and payable to the Executive in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; (ii) a material change in the duties or responsibilities performed by the Executive as Chief Executive Officer of a Public Company; (iii) a relocation of the Company’s principal office by more than 25 miles from Palm Beach Gardens, Florida without the Executive’s consent; or (iv) failure by the Company to obtain agreement by a successor to assume this Agreement in accordance with Section 17(b); provided, however, that no event or condition described in clause (i) or (ii) shall constitute Good Reason unless (x) the Executive gives the Company written notice of his intention to terminate his employment for Good Reason and the grounds for such termination within 180 days of the Executive first becoming aware of the event giving rise to such Good Reason and (y) such grounds for termination are not corrected by the Company within 30 days of its receipt of such notice. 6. Limitations on Severance Payment and Other Payments or Benefits. (a) Payments. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement, if any portion of the severance payments or any other payment under this Agreement, or under any other agreement with the Executive or plan or arrangement of the Company or its affiliates (in the aggregate, “Total Payments”), would constitute an “excess parachute payment” and would, but for this Section 6, result in the imposition on the Executive of an excise tax under Code Section 4999, then the Total Payments to be made to the Executive shall either be (i) delivered in full, or (ii) delivered in the greatest amount such that no portion of such Total Payment would be subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the
foregoing results in the receipt by the Executive of the greatest benefit on an after-tax basis (taking into account the Executive’s actual marginal rate of federal, state and local income taxation and the Excise Tax). (b) Determinations. Within 30 days following the Executive’s termination of employment or notice by one party to the other of its belief that there is a payment or benefit due the Executive that will result in an excess parachute payment, the Company, at the Company’s expense, shall select a nationally recognized certified public accounting firm (which may be the Company’s independent auditors) (“Accounting Firm”) reasonably acceptable to the Executive, to determine (i) the Base Amount (as defined below), (ii) the amount and present value of the Total Payments, (iii) the amount and present value of any excess parachute payments determined without regard to any reduction of Total Payments pursuant to Section 6(a), and (iv) the net after-tax proceeds to the Executive, taking into account the tax imposed under Code Section 4999 if (x) the Total Payments were reduced in accordance with Section 6(a), or (y) the Total Payments were not so reduced. If the Accounting Firm determines that Section 6(a)(ii) above applies, then the Termination Payment hereunder or any other payment or

11 RESTRICTED benefit determined by such Accounting Firm to be includable in Total Payments shall be reduced or eliminated so that there will be no excess parachute payment. In such event, payments or benefits included in the Total Payments shall be reduced or eliminated by applying the following principles, in order: (1) the payment or benefit with the later possible payment date shall be reduced or eliminated before a payment or benefit with an earlier payment date; and (2) cash payments shall be reduced prior to non-cash benefits; provided that if the foregoing order of reduction or elimination would violate Code Section 409A, then the reduction shall be made pro rata among the payments or benefits included in the Total Payments (on the basis of the relative present value of the parachute payments). (c) Definitions and Assumptions. For purposes of this Agreement: (i) the terms “excess parachute payment” and “parachute payments” shall have the meanings assigned to them in Code Section 280G and such “parachute payments” shall be valued as provided therein; (ii) present value shall be calculated in accordance with Code Section 280G(d)(4); (iii) the term “Base Amount” means an amount equal to the Executive’s “annualized includible compensation for the base period” as defined in Code Section 280G(d)(1); (iv) for purposes of the determination by the Accounting Firm, the value of any non-cash benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall be determined in accordance with the principles of Code Sections 280G(d)(3) and (4) and (v) the Executive shall be deemed to pay federal income tax and employment taxes at his actual marginal rate of federal income and employment taxation, and state and local income taxes at his actual marginal rate of taxation in the state or locality of the Executive’s domicile (determined in both cases in the calendar year in which the termination of employment or notice described in Section 6(b) above is given
whichever is earlier), net of the maximum reduction in federal income taxes that may be obtained from the deduction of such state and local taxes. The covenants set forth in Sections 7, 8 and 9 of this Agreement have substantial value to the Company and a portion of any Total Payments made to the Executive are in consideration of such covenants. For purposes of calculating the “excess parachute payment” and the “parachute payments”, the parties intend that an amount equal to not less than the Executive's highest annual base salary during the 12-month period immediately prior to his termination of employment shall be in consideration of the covenants in Sections 7, 8 and 9 below. The Accounting Firm shall consider all relevant factors in appraising the fair value of such covenants and in determining the amount of the Total Payments that shall not be considered to be a “parachute payment” or “excess parachute payment”. The determination of the Accounting Firm shall be addressed to the Company and the Executive and such determination shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive. (d) Amendment. This Section 6 shall be amended to comply with any amendment or successor provision to Sections 280G or 4999 of the Code. 7. Confidentiality. (a) Confidential Information. (i) The Executive agrees that during his employment with the Company for any reason and for a period of five years following his Separation from Service, he will not at any time, except with the prior written consent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates (collectively, the “Company Group”) or as required

12 RESTRICTED by law, directly or indirectly, reveal to any person, entity or other organization (other than any member of the Company Group or its respective employees, officers, directors, shareholders or agents) or use for the Executive’s own benefit any information deemed to be confidential by any member of the Company Group (“Confidential Information”) relating to the assets, liabilities, employees, goodwill, business or affairs of any member of the Company Group, including, without limitation, any information concerning customers, business plans, marketing data, or other confidential information known to the Executive by reason of the Executive’s employment by, shareholdings in or other association with any member of the Company Group; provided that such Confidential Information does not include any information which (x) is available to the general public or is generally available within the relevant business or industry other than as a result of the Executive’s action or (y) is or becomes available to the Executive after his Separation from Service on a non-confidential basis from a third-party source provided that such third-party source is not bound by a confidentiality agreement or any other obligation of confidentiality. Confidential Information may be in any medium or form, including, without limitation, physical documents, computer files or disks, videotapes, audiotapes, and oral communications. (ii) In the event that the Executive becomes legally compelled to disclose any Confidential Information, the Executive shall provide the Company with prompt written notice so that the Company may seek a protective order or other appropriate remedy. In the event that such protective order or other remedy is not obtained, the Executive shall furnish only that portion of such Confidential Information or take only such action as is legally required by binding order and shall exercise his reasonable efforts to obtain reliable assurance that
confidential treatment shall be accorded any such Confidential Information. The Company shall promptly pay (upon receipt of invoices and any other documentation as may be requested by the Company) all reasonable expenses and fees incurred by the Executive, including attorneys’ fees, in connection with his compliance with the immediately preceding sentence. (iii) The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Executive has the right under U.S. federal law to certain protections for cooperating with or reporting legal violations to the Securities and Exchange Commission and/or its Office of the Whistleblower, as well as certain other governmental entities. No provisions in this Agreement are intended to prohibit the Executive from disclosing this Agreement to, or from cooperating with or reporting violations to, the SEC or any other such governmental entity, and the Executive may do so without disclosure to the Company. The Company may not retaliate against the Executive for any of these activities. Further, nothing in this Agreement precludes the Executive from filing a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a like charge or complaint with a state or local fair employment practice agency.

13 RESTRICTED (iv) The Executive acknowledges that, pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, an individual may not be held liable under any criminal or civil federal or state trade secret law for disclosure of a trade secret (i) made in confidence to a government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii) in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal or (iii) made to his or her attorney or used in a court proceeding in an anti-retaliation lawsuit based on the reporting of a suspected violation of law, so long as any document containing the trade secret is filed under seal and the individual does not disclose the trade secret except pursuant to court order. (b) Exclusive Property. The Executive confirms that all Confidential Information is and shall remain the exclusive property of the Company Group. All business records, papers and documents kept or made by the Executive relating to the business of the Company Group shall be and remain the property of the Company Group. Upon the request and at the expense of the Company Group, the Executive shall promptly make all disclosures, execute all instruments and papers and perform all acts reasonably necessary to vest and confirm in the Company Group, fully and completely, all rights created or contemplated by this Section 7. 8. Noncompetition. The Executive agrees that during his employment with the Company and for a period commencing on the Executive’s Separation from Service and ending on the later of (i) the first anniversary of the Executive’s Separation from Service and, to the extent the Executive is entitled to any continued vesting under Section 4(a) or 4(e)(ii) of this Agreement, (ii) the duration of any such continued vesting period but only for so long as the applicable equity award remains unvested (the “Restricted Period”), the
Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly, and whether as principal or investor or as an employee, officer, director, manager, partner, consultant, agent or otherwise, alone or in association with any other person, firm, corporation or other business organization, carry on a business competitive with the Company in any geographic area in which the Company Group has engaged in business, or is reasonably expected to engage in business during such Restricted Period (including, without limitation, any area in which any customer of the Company Group may be located); provided, however, that nothing herein shall limit the Executive’s right to own not more than 1% of any of the debt or equity securities of any business organization. 9. Non-Solicitation. The Executive agrees that, during his employment and for the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, other than in connection with the proper performance of his duties in his capacity as an executive of the Company, (a) interfere with or attempt to interfere with any relationship between the Company Group and any of its employees, consultants, independent contractors, agents or representatives, (b) employ, hire or otherwise engage, or attempt to employ, hire or otherwise engage, any current or former employee, consultant, independent contractor, agent or representative of the Company Group in a business competitive with the Company Group, (c) solicit the business or accounts of the Company Group or (d) divert or attempt to direct from the Company Group any business or interfere with any relationship between the Company Group and any of its clients, suppliers, customers or other business relations. As used herein, the term “indirectly” shall include,

14 RESTRICTED without limitation, the Executive’s permitting the use of the Executive’s name by any competitor of any member of the Company Group to induce or interfere with any employee or business relationship of any member of the Company Group. 10. Assignment of Developments. The Executive previously entered into an Employee Invention, Proprietary Information and Copyright Agreement, dated September 19, 2007 (“Assignment of Developments Agreement”). The Executive agrees that the terms of such Assignment of Developments Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. 11. Full Settlement. Prior to the effective date of a Change in Control, in the event the Company believes that the Executive is in material breach or has materially breached a provision of this Agreement, the Company may withhold any further payment of amounts due and payable under this Agreement, provided that (x) the Company gives the Executive at least 15 days’ prior written notice of a special Board meeting called to make a determination that the Executive is in material breach or has materially breached a provision of this Agreement and the Executive and his legal counsel are given the opportunity to address such meeting prior to a vote of the Board and (y) a determination that the Executive is in material breach or has materially breached a provision of this Agreement is made and approved by 75% of the Board. Any such determination by the Board shall not be binding on an arbitrator or other trier of fact as to whether the Executive has breached this Agreement, and shall not limit or otherwise affect the rights or remedies available to the Executive or the Company in the event of a dispute under this Agreement. Except as provided above in this Section 11, the Company’s obligation to pay the Executive the amounts required by this Agreement shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstances, including, without
limitation, any offset, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which the Company may have against the Executive or anyone else. All payments and benefits to which the Executive is entitled under this Agreement shall be made and provided without offset, deduction, or mitigation on account of income that the Executive may receive from employment from the Company or otherwise. This Section 11 shall not be interpreted to otherwise limit the remedies available to the Company, whether at law or in equity, in the event the Executive breaches any provision of this Agreement. 12. Certain Remedies. (a) Injunctive Relief. Without intending to limit the remedies available to the Company Group, the Executive agrees that a breach of any of the covenants contained in Sections 7 through 10 of this Agreement may result in material and irreparable injury to the Company Group for which there is no adequate remedy at law, that it will not be possible to measure damages for such injuries precisely and that, in the event of such a breach or threat thereof, any member of the Company Group shall be entitled to seek a temporary restraining order or a preliminary or permanent injunction, or both, without bond or other security, restraining the Executive from engaging in activities prohibited by the covenants contained in Sections 7 through 10 of this Agreement or such other relief as may be required specifically to enforce any of the covenants contained in this Agreement. Such injunctive relief in any court shall be available to the Company Group in lieu of, or prior to or pending determination in, any arbitration proceeding.

15 RESTRICTED (b) Extension of Restricted Period. In addition to the remedies the Company may seek and obtain pursuant to this Section 12, the Restricted Period shall be extended by any and all periods during which the Executive shall be found by a court or arbitrator possessing personal jurisdiction over him to have been in violation of the covenants contained in Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement. 13. Section 409A of the Code. (a) General. This Agreement is intended to meet the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, and shall be interpreted and construed consistent with that intent. (b) Deferred Compensation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the extent that the right to any payment (including the provision of benefits) hereunder provides for the “deferral of compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code, the payment shall be paid (or provided) in accordance with the following: (i) If the Executive is a “Specified Employee” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code on the date of the Executive’s “Separation from Service” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code, then no such payment shall be made or commence during the period beginning on the date of the Executive’s Separation from Service and ending on the date that is six months following the Executive’s Separation from Service or, if earlier, on the date of the Executive’s death. The amount of any payment that would otherwise be paid to the Executive during this period shall instead be paid to the Executive on the fifteenth day of the first calendar month following the end of the period (“Delayed Payment Date”). If payment of an amount is delayed as a result of this Section 13(b)(i), such amount shall be increased with interest from the date on which such amount would otherwise have been paid to the Executive but for this Section 13(b)(i) to the day prior to the Delayed Payment Date. The rate of
interest shall be compounded monthly, at the prime rate as published by Citibank NA for the month in which occurs the date of the Executive’s Separation from Service. Such interest shall be paid on the Delayed Payment Date. (ii) Payments with respect to reimbursements of expenses shall be made in accordance with Company policy and in no event later than the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the relevant expense is incurred. The amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other calendar year. 14. Source of Payments. All payments provided under this Agreement, other than payments made pursuant to a plan which provides otherwise, shall be paid in cash from the general funds of the Company, and no special or separate fund shall be established, and no other segregation of assets shall be made, to assure payment. The Executive shall have no right, title or interest whatsoever in or to any investments which the Company may make to aid the Company in meeting its obligations hereunder. To the extent that any person acquires a right to

16 RESTRICTED receive payments from the Company hereunder, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured creditor of the Company. 15. Arbitration. Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement or otherwise in connection with the Executive’s employment by the Company that cannot be mutually resolved by the parties to this Agreement and their respective advisors and representatives shall be settled exclusively by arbitration in Palm Beach County, Florida in accordance with the commercial rules of the American Arbitration Association before one arbitrator of exemplary qualifications and stature, who shall be selected jointly by an individual to be designated by the Company and an individual to be selected by the Executive, or if such two individuals cannot agree on the selection of the arbitrator, who shall be selected by the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereon. 16. Attorney’s Fees. The Company shall, from time to time, pay or reimburse the Executive, on an after-tax basis, for all reasonable legal fees and expenses (including court costs) incurred by him as a result of any claim by him (or on his behalf) to enforce the terms of this Agreement or collect any payments or benefits due to the Executive hereunder. Payments with respect to such legal fees and expenses shall be made in advance of any final disposition and within ten business days after the Executive submits documentation of such fees to the Company in accordance with the Company’s business expense reimbursement policies and procedures. 17. Non-assignability; Binding Agreement. (a) By the Executive. This Agreement and any and all rights, duties, obligations or interests hereunder shall not be assignable or delegable by the Executive. (b) By the Company. This Agreement and all of the Company’s rights and obligations hereunder shall not be
assignable by the Company except as incident to a reorganization, merger or consolidation, or transfer of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets. If the Company shall be merged or consolidated with another entity, the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the entity surviving such merger or resulting from such consolidation. The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company, by agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Executive, to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken plan. The provisions of this paragraph shall continue to apply to each subsequent employer of the Executive hereunder in the event of any subsequent merger, consolidation, transfer of assets of such subsequent employer or otherwise. (c) Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto, any successors to or assigns of the Company and the Executive’s heirs and the personal representatives of the Executive’s estate.

17 RESTRICTED 18. Withholding. Any payments made or benefits provided to the Executive under this Agreement shall be reduced by any applicable withholding taxes or other amounts required to be withheld by law or contract. 19. Amendment; Waiver. This Agreement may not be modified, amended or waived in any manner, except by an instrument in writing signed by both parties hereto. The waiver by either party of compliance with any provision of this Agreement by the other party shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by such party of a provision of this Agreement. 20. Governing Law. All matters affecting this Agreement, including the validity thereof, are to be subject to, and interpreted and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Florida applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State. 21. Survival of Certain Provisions. The rights and obligations set forth in this Agreement that, by their terms, extend beyond the Term shall survive the Term. 22. Entire Agreement; Supersedes Previous Agreements. This Agreement, the Assignment of Developments Agreement, the Salary Reduction Letter, and any outstanding equity award agreements entered into prior to the Effective Date contain the entire agreement and understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the matters covered herein including, without limitation, the Existing Employment Agreement, and supersede all prior or contemporaneous negotiations, commitments, agreements and writings with respect to the subject matter hereof (including the Existing Employment Agreement), all such other negotiations, commitments, agreements and writings shall have no further force or effect, and the parties to any such other negotiation, commitment, agreement or writing shall have no further rights or obligations thereunder. 23. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by either of
the parties hereto in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 24. Headings. The headings of sections herein are included solely for convenience of reference and shall not control the meaning or interpretation of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 25. Notices. All notices or communications hereunder shall be in writing, addressed as follows: To the Company: 11780 US Highway 1, Suite 600 Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33408 Attention: General Counsel Email: ryan.urness@dycominc.com

18 RESTRICTED With a copy to: John J. Cannon III Shearman & Sterling LLP 599 Lexington Avenue New York, NY 10022 Email: jcannon@shearman.com To the Executive: Steven E. Nielsen c/o Dycom Industries, Inc. 11780 US Highway 1, Suite 600 Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33408 Email: steve.nielsen@dycominc.com With a copy to the Executive’s counsel: Harvey Koning, Esq. Varnum LLP 333 Bridge Street NW Grand Rapids, Michigan 49504 Email: hkoning@varnumlaw.com All such notices shall be conclusively deemed to be received and shall be effective (i) if sent by hand delivery, upon receipt or (ii) if sent by electronic mail or facsimile, upon receipt by the sender of confirmation of such transmission; provided, however, that any electronic mail or facsimile will be deemed received and effective only if followed, within 48 hours, by a hard copy sent by certified United States mail. [SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

19 RESTRICTED IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be signed by its officer pursuant to the authority of its Board, and the Executive has executed this Agreement, as of the day and year first written above. DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. By: Name: Ryan F. Urness Title: Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary EXECUTIVE Name: Steven E. Nielsen

A-1 RESTRICTED EXHIBIT A FORM OF WAIVER AND MUTUAL RELEASE This Waiver and Mutual Release, dated as of _____________, (this “Release”) by and between Steven E. Nielsen (the “Executive”) and Dycom Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”). WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company are parties to an Employment Agreement, dated May 21, 2020 (the “Employment Agreement”), which provided for the Executive’s employment on the terms and conditions specified therein; and WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 4(f) of the Employment Agreement, the Executive has agreed to execute and deliver a release and wavier of claims of the type and nature set forth herein as a condition to his entitlement to certain payments and benefits upon his termination of employment with the Company effective as of _____________ (the “Effective Date”). NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual promises herein contained and for other good and valuable consideration received or to be received in accordance with the terms of the Employment Agreement, the Executive and the Company agree as follows: 1. Return of Property. On or prior to the Effective Date, the Executive represents and warrants that he will return all property made available to him in connection with his service to the Company, including, without limitation, credit cards, any and all records, manuals, reports, papers and documents kept or made by the Executive in connection with his employment as an officer or employee of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates, all computer hardware or software, cellular phones, files, memoranda, correspondence, vendor and customer lists, financial data, keys and security access cards. 2. Executive Release. (a) In consideration of the payments and benefits provided to the Executive under the Employment Agreement and after consultation with counsel, the Executive and each of the Executive’s
respective heirs, executors, administrators, representatives, agents, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Executive Parties”) hereby irrevocably and unconditionally release and forever discharge the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates and each of their respective officers, employees, directors, shareholders and agents (“Company Parties”) from any and all claims, actions, causes of action, rights, judgments, obligations, damages, demands, accountings or liabilities of whatever kind or character (collectively, “Claims”), including, without limitation, any Claims under any federal, state, local or foreign law, that the Executive Parties may have, or in the future may possess, arising out of (i) the Executive’s employment relationship with and service as an employee, officer or director of the Company, and the termination of such relationship or service, and (ii) any event, condition, circumstance or obligation that occurred, existed or arose on or prior to the date hereof; provided, however, that the Executive does not release, discharge or waive (i) any rights to payments and benefits provided under the Employment Agreement that are contingent upon the

A-2 RESTRICTED execution by the Executive of this Release, (ii) any right the Executive may have to enforce this Release or the Employment Agreement, (iii) the Executive’s eligibility for indemnification in accordance with the Company’s certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other corporate governance document, or any applicable insurance policy, with respect to any liability he incurred or might incur as an employee, officer or director of the Company, or (iv) any claims for accrued, vested benefits under any long-term incentive, employee benefit or retirement plan of the Company subject to the terms and conditions of such plan and applicable law including, without limitation, any such claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. (b) Whistleblower Rights. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Executive has the right under U.S. federal law to certain protections for cooperating with or reporting legal violations to the Securities and Exchange Commission and/or its Office of the Whistleblower, as well as certain other governmental entities. No provisions in this Release are intended to prohibit the Executive from disclosing this Release to, or from cooperating with or reporting violations to, the SEC or any other such governmental entity, and the Executive may do so without disclosure to the Company. The Company may not retaliate against Executive for any of these activities. Further, nothing in this Release precludes the Executive from filing a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a like charge or complaint with a state or local fair employment practice agency. The Company may not retaliate against Executive for any of these activities, and nothing in this Release would require Executive to waive any monetary award or other payment that Executive might become entitled to from any such governmental entity. (c) DTSA. The Executive acknowledges that,
pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, an individual may not be held liable under any criminal or civil federal or state trade secret law for disclosure of a trade secret (i) made in confidence to a government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii) in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal or (iii) made to his or her attorney or used in a court proceeding in an anti-retaliation lawsuit based on the reporting of a suspected violation of law, so long as any document containing the trade secret is filed under seal and the individual does not disclose the trade secret except pursuant to court order. (d) Executive’s Specific Release of ADEA Claims. In further consideration of the payments and benefits provided to the Executive under the Employment Agreement, the Executive Parties hereby unconditionally release and forever discharge the Company Parties from any and all Claims that the Executive Parties may have as of the date the Executive signs this Release arising under the Federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (“ADEA”). By signing this Release, the Executive hereby acknowledges and confirms the following: (i) the Executive was advised by the Company in connection with his termination to consult with an attorney of his choice prior to signing this Release and to have such attorney explain to the Executive the terms of this Release, including, without limitation, the terms relating to the Executive’s release of claims arising under ADEA, and the Executive has in fact consulted with an attorney; (ii) the Executive was given a period of not fewer than 21 days to consider the terms of this Release and to consult with an attorney of his choosing with respect

A-3 RESTRICTED thereto; and (iii) the Executive knowingly and voluntarily accepts the terms of this Release. The Executive also understands that he has seven days following the date on which he signs this Release (the “Revocation Period”) within which to revoke the release contained in this paragraph, by providing the Company a written notice of his revocation of the release and waiver contained in this paragraph. No such revocation by the Executive shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the Executive and received by the Company prior to the expiration of the Revocation Period. 3. Company Release. The Company for itself and on behalf of the Company Parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally release and forever discharge the Executive Parties from any and all Claims, including, without limitation, any Claims under any federal, state, local or foreign law, that the Company Parties may have, or in the future may possess, arising out of (i) the Executive’s employment relationship with and service as an employee, officer or director of the Company, and the termination of such relationship or service, and (ii) any event, condition, circumstance or obligation that occurred, existed or arose on or prior to the date hereof, excepting any Claim which would constitute or result from conduct by the Executive that would constitute a crime under applicable state or federal law; provided, however, notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, nothing herein shall be deemed to release the Executive Parties from (A) any rights or claims of the Company arising out of or attributable to (i) the Executive’s actions or omissions involving or arising from fraud, deceit, theft or intentional or grossly negligent violations of law, rule or statute while employed by the Company and (ii) the Executive’s actions or omissions taken or not taken in bad faith with respect to the Company; and (B) the Executive or any other Executive Party’s obligations under
this Release or the Employment Agreement. 4. No Assignment. The parties represent and warrant that they have not assigned any of the Claims being released under this Release. 5. Proceedings. The parties represent and warrant that they have not filed, and they agree not to initiate or cause to be initiated on their behalf, any complaint, charge, claim or proceeding against the other party before any local, state or federal agency, court or other body relating to the Executive’s employment or the termination thereof, other than with respect to any claim that is not released hereunder including with respect to the obligations of the Company to the Executive and the Executive to the Company under the Employment Agreement (each, individually, a “Proceeding”), and each party agrees not to participate voluntarily in any Proceeding. The parties waive any right they may have to benefit in any manner from any relief (whether monetary or otherwise) arising out of any Proceeding. 6. Remedies. (a) Each of the parties understand that by entering into this Release such party will be limiting the availability of certain remedies that such party may have against the other party and also limiting such party’s ability to pursue certain claims against the other party. (b) Each of the parties acknowledge and agree that the remedy at law available to such party for breach of any of the obligations under this Release would be

A-4 RESTRICTED inadequate and that damages flowing from such a breach may not readily be susceptible to being measured in monetary terms. Accordingly, each of the parties acknowledge, consent and agree that, in addition to any other rights or remedies that such party may have at law or in equity, such party shall be entitled to seek a temporary restraining order or a preliminary or permanent injunction, or both, restraining the other party from breaching its obligations under this Release. Such injunctive relief in any court shall be available to the relevant party, in lieu of, or prior to or pending determination in, any arbitration proceeding. 7. Cooperation. From and after the Effective Date, the Executive shall cooperate in all reasonable respects with the Company and their respective directors, officers, attorneys and experts in connection with the conduct of any action, proceeding, investigation or litigation involving the Company, including any such action, proceeding, investigation or litigation in which the Executive is called to testify. 8. Unfavorable Comments. (a) Public Comments by the Executive. The Executive agrees to refrain from making, directly or indirectly, now or at any time in the future, whether in writing, orally or electronically: (i) any derogatory comment concerning the Company or any of their current or former directors, officers, employees or shareholders, or (ii) any other comment that could reasonably be expected to be detrimental to the business or financial prospects or reputation of the Company. (b) Public Comments by the Company. The Company agrees to instruct its directors and employees to refrain from making, directly or indirectly, now or at any time in the future, whether in writing, orally or electronically: (i) any derogatory comment concerning the Executive, or (ii) any other comment that could reasonably be expected to be detrimental to the Executive’s business or financial prospects or reputation. 9. Severability
Clause. In the event any provision or part of this Release is found to be invalid or unenforceable, only that particular provision or part so found, and not the entire Release, will be inoperative. 10. Nonadmission. Nothing contained in this Release will be deemed or construed as an admission of wrongdoing or liability on the part of the Company or the Executive. 11. Governing Law. All matters affecting this Release, including the validity thereof, are to be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Florida applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State. 12. Arbitration. Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Release shall be resolved in accordance with Section 15 of the Employment Agreement. 13. Notices. All notices or communications hereunder shall be made in accordance with Section 25 of the Employment Agreement:

A-5 RESTRICTED THE EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS READ THIS RELEASE AND THAT HE FULLY KNOWS, UNDERSTANDS AND APPRECIATES ITS CONTENTS, AND THAT HE HEREBY EXECUTES THE SAME AND MAKES THIS RELEASE AND THE RELEASES PROVIDED FOR HEREIN VOLUNTARILY AND OF HIS OWN FREE WILL. [SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

A-6 RESTRICTED IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Release as of the date first set forth above. DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. By: Name: Title: EXECUTIVE By: Name: Steven E. Nielsen

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT This employment agreement (this “Employment Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the 6th day of January, 2021, by and between Daniel S. Peyovich (the “Employee”) and Dycom Industries, Inc., a Florida Corporation (“Dycom” or the “Company”). WHEREAS, the Company and the Employee desire to provide for the employment of the Employee, effective as of the Effective Date; NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby expressly acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 1. Employment. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, effective on or about January 6, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), the Company hereby agrees to employ the Employee as the Executive Vice President of Operations of the Company. The Employee agrees to perform such specific duties and accept such responsibilities as the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) and the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time establish that are reasonably related and consistent with the Employee’s position as the Executive Vice President of Operations of the Company. The Employee shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer. The Employee hereby accepts employment by the Company as the Executive Vice President of Operations, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, and agrees to devote his full business time and attention to his duties hereunder, to the best of his abilities. On or about the date on which Timothy R. Estes no longer serves as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company (which shall occur no later than the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders), the Company agrees, subject to the Employee’s continued employment with the Company as of such date, to appoint the Employee as Chief Operating Officer (the “Transition Date”). Both parties agree that as of
the Transition Date, the Employee will no longer be the Executive Vice President of Operations and that all references to Executive Vice President of Operations herein shall refer to Chief Operating Officer. 2. Term of Employment. The Employee’s employment pursuant to this Employment Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of (i) termination pursuant to Section 4 hereof or (ii) the third anniversary of the Effective Date; provided, however, that the term of the Employee’s employment hereunder shall be automatically extended without further action of either party for additional one year periods, unless written notice of either party’s intention not to extend has been given to the other party hereto at least 60 days prior to the expiration of the then effective term. Notwithstanding anything in this Employment Agreement to the contrary, if a Change of Control (as defined in Section 4(f) hereof) occurs during term of the Employee’s employment hereunder, the Employee’s employment under this Employment Agreement shall be extended for 24 months following the consummation of the Change of Control and this Employment Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier of (x) the second anniversary of the consummation of the Change of Control and (y) the termination of the Employee’s employment under this Employment Agreement (the “Extended Term”). The period from the Effective Date until the termination of the Employee’s employment hereunder, including, if applicable, the Extended Term, is referred to as the “Employment Term.” Exhibit 10.16*

2 3. Compensation, Benefits and Expenses. Subject to the provisions of this Employment Agreement, the Company shall pay and provide the following compensation and other benefits to the Employee during the Term as compensation for services rendered hereunder: (a) Base Salary. For services rendered under this Employment Agreement, the Company will pay the Employee a base annual salary of $625,000 (such applicable annual rate referred to herein as the “Base Salary”), which shall be subject to review in May 2021. Payment will be made on the regularly scheduled pay dates of the Company, subject to all appropriate withholdings or other deductions required by applicable law or by the Company’s established policies applicable to employees of the Company. The Company may increase the Base Salary in its sole discretion but shall not reduce the Base Salary below the rate established by this Employment Agreement without the Employee’s written consent. (b) Annual Incentive Bonus. During the Employment Term, beginning with the fiscal year ending on January 29, 2022, the Employee shall be entitled to participate in the Company’s annual incentive plan, under which the Employee shall be eligible to receive an annual target bonus equal to eighty percent (80%) of Base Salary if certain performance criteria and measures are satisfied, as determined by and within the sole discretion of the Company. (c) Cash Sign-on Bonus. The Company shall pay the Employee a cash sign- on bonus in the amount of $900,000, less applicable withholdings, payable (i) with respect to fifty percent (50%) on the next regularly scheduled Company payroll date after the Effective Date and (ii) with respect to the other fifty percent (50%) on next regularly scheduled Company payroll date following the six (6)-month anniversary of the Effective Date, subject to the Employee’s continued employment on such date except as provided in Section 4 hereof. (d) Equity Sign
on Grant. On or about the Effective Date (the “Grant Date”), the Employee shall receive a grant of a number of time-based restricted stock units with (i) an aggregate grant date fair value equal to $1,200,000 based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the trading day immediately preceding the Grant Date and (ii) a vesting schedule of 25% annually on each of the first four anniversaries of the Grant Date, subject to Employee’s continued employment on the applicable vesting date (the “Initial RSUs”). The Initial RSUs shall be subject to the terms of the Dycom 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended (the “LTIP”) and the applicable award agreement, which shall be on a form substantially similar to the form the Company uses to make annual grants to other senior executives of the Company. Notwithstanding anything contained in the annual grant form of award agreement, any unvested portion of the Initial RSUs shall vest in full, and be promptly settled following vesting, in the event of either (i) a resignation by the Employee following the Company’s assignment to the Employee of duties or responsibilities that are fundamentally, manifestly and indisputably inconsistent with and inferior to those customarily assigned to a chief operating officer (provided that the Employee gives prompt written notice to the Company specifying in particular the circumstances he believes make this clause (i) applicable and the Company fails to remedy such circumstances within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice), or (ii) a termination of the Employee’s employment by the Company without Cause.

3 (e) Benefit Plans. During the Employment Term, in addition to the compensation payable to the Employee as described above, the Employee shall be entitled to participate in all the employee benefit plans or programs of the Company that are available to employees of the Company generally (“Employee Benefits”). (f) Long-Term Incentive Plan. The Employee shall be entitled to participate in the LTIP or a successor plan which may be in effect from time to time, with a potential target award opportunity of one hundred forty percent (140%) of Base Salary, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion. The target award opportunity for the Employee and other executives may be modified by the Company in its sole discretion from time to time, based on market checks and other factors it deems relevant. The Board reserves the right to determine eligibility and set or modify the terms of such a plan at any time within its sole discretion. (g) Expenses. During the Employment Term, the Company shall reimburse the Employee for such reasonable out-of-pocket expenses as he may incur from time to time for and on behalf of the furtherance of the Company’s business, provided that the Employee submits to the Company satisfactory documentation or other support for such expenses in accordance with the Company’s expense reimbursement policy. (h) Moving Expenses. The Company shall reimburse Employee’s actual expenses (upon submission of appropriate supporting documentation) incurred in connection with relocating from Seattle, WA to the Palm Beach Gardens, Florida area as follows: (i) the costs associated with two (2) house hunting trips for Employee and his spouse (including reasonable and customary travel and lodging costs), (ii) the following expenses incurred in connection with the sale of Employee’s primary residence in Seattle, WA: prevailing real estate commission, not to exceed 6%; legal fees, if required in the state or city; title
insurance if required by law to be paid by seller; state and local transfer taxes and fees; building inspection if required by law; and recording release and escrow closing fees; (iii) the reasonable costs associated with temporary lodging expenses, such as hotels and temporary rental units, for up to six (6) months; (iv) costs associated with transporting Employee and his immediate family and their household and personal property (including packing, unpacking and vehicles transportation); and (v) other reasonable and customary out-of-pocket expenses, directly related to relocation, which have been approved by the Chief Executive Officer, in writing, prior to being incurred (collectively, the “Moving Expenses”). To the extent that any of the reimbursements described in Section 3(h) are taxable as ordinary income, the Company shall also cover the taxes on such reimbursements. Notwithstanding anything in this Employment Agreement to the contrary, if the Employee’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined below) or if the Employee resigns for any reason, in each case prior to the first anniversary of the Effective Date, the Employee shall promptly repay the Company the full amount of the Moving Expenses, including any payment to cover the taxes on the Moving Expenses. (i) Vacation. The Employee shall be entitled to vacation time consistent with the applicable policies of the Company for other senior executives of the Company as in effect from time to time.

4 4. Termination. (a) Termination for Cause. The Company shall have the right to terminate the Employee’s employment at any time and for any reason. If the Employee is terminated for Cause (as defined in this Section 4(a)), the Company shall not have any obligation to pay the Employee any Base Salary or other compensation or to provide any employee benefits subsequent to the date of such Employee’s termination of employment (unless required by applicable law), including, without limitation, Severance Benefits and Continued Health Benefits (each as defined in Section 4(b) hereof). Termination for “Cause” shall mean termination of employment for any of the following reasons: (i) the Employee entering a plea of no-contest with respect to, or being convicted by a court of competent and final jurisdiction of, any crime, whether or not involving the Company, that constitutes a felony in the jurisdiction involved; (ii) any willful misconduct by the Employee that is materially injurious to the financial condition or business reputation of the Company; (iii) Employee materially breaches a duty of loyalty owed to the Company or, as a result of his gross negligence, materially breaches a duty of care owed to the Company; (iv) Employee’s willful misconduct in connection with the performance of his duties (including a willful material breach of Company policies regarding legal compliance, ethics, or workplace conduct); or (v) Employee materially breaches this Employment Agreement or fails or refuses to perform any of his material duties as required by this Employment Agreement in any respect, other than as already provided in Section 4(a)(i)-(iv), after Employee being given written notice of such breach, failure or refusal, and Employee’s failure to cure the same within 30 calendar days of receipt of such notice. (b) Termination without Cause. Subject to the provisions of Section 4(c), if, prior to the expiration of the Employment Term, the Company
terminates the Employee’s employment without Cause, the Company shall, subject to the Employee’s execution and non- revocation of a general release of claims against the Company in a form substantially similar to the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, provide the Employee with Severance Benefits and Continued Health Benefits. “Severance Benefits” means an amount equal to two (2) times the sum of (i) Base Salary (at the rate in effect on the date the Employee’s employment is terminated) plus (ii) Bonus (defined as the greater of (1) the average bonus amount paid to the Employee over the three fiscal years immediately preceding the year of termination and (2) 80% of Base Salary at the rate in effect on the date the Employee’s employment is terminated), paid over the twenty-four (24)-month period immediately following Employee’s termination of employment without Cause (such period being referred to hereunder as the “Severance Period”), at such intervals as the Employee would have received payments of Base Salary if he had remained in the active service of the Company; provided, however, that, in accordance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), and as described more fully in Section 25(b), payment of a portion of the Severance Benefits may be delayed until the six-month

5 anniversary of the Employee’s termination of employment. The Company shall also provide the Employee and his eligible dependents with group medical and life insurance after termination of the Employee’s employment without Cause (to the extent such eligible dependents were participating in the Company’s group medical and life insurance programs prior to the Employee’s termination of employment) or, in the event such participation is not permitted, a cash payment equal to the value of the benefit excluded, payable in equal monthly installments beginning 60 days following the Employee’s Separation from Service (as defined in Section 4(f) hereof) (the “Continued Health Benefits”) until the earlier of (x) the end of the Severance Period or (y) the Employee obtaining other employment and becoming eligible to participate in the medical and life insurance plans of his new employer. In addition, if the Company terminates the Employee’s employment without Cause prior to payment to the Employee of the second installment of the Cash Sign-on Bonus amount described in Section 3(c), the Company shall pay the Employee that installment on the next regularly scheduled Company payroll date following the execution and non-revocation of the general release of claims. Further, in accordance with Section 3(d), the vesting and settlement of any unvested Initial RSUs shall be accelerated. Any general release of claims against the Company required pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall be executed and (unless revoked) become irrevocable within sixty (60) days following the date of the Employee’s termination of employment. (c) Conditions Applicable to Severance Period. If, during the Severance Period, the Employee breaches any of his then applicable obligations under this Employment Agreement (including, but not limited to, Sections 6 through 8) or such other agreement between the Company and the Employee, the Company may, upon written notice
to the Employee terminate the Severance Period and cease to make any payments or provide any benefits, including, without limitation, Severance Benefits and Continued Health Benefits. (d) Resignation by the Employee. In the event the Employee resigns his employment with the Company, the Employee: (i) shall provide the Company with sixty (60) days prior written notice; (ii) shall not make any public announcements concerning his resignation prior to the resignation date without the written consent of the Company and (iii) shall continue to perform faithfully the duties assigned to him under this Employment Agreement (or such other duties as the Company or Board may assign to him) from the date of such notice until the termination date. In addition, in the event the Employee resigns his employment with the Company for any reason, the Company shall not have any obligation to pay the Employee any Base Salary or other compensation or to provide any employee benefits subsequent to the date of such Employee’s termination of employment (unless required by applicable law or as provided in Section 3(d)), including, without limitation, Severance Benefits or Continued Health Benefits. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 4(d) shall not apply in the event the Employee resigns his employment for Good Reason on or following a Change of Control pursuant to Section 4(f) hereof. (e) Termination Upon Death or Disability. Unless otherwise terminated earlier pursuant to the terms of this Employment Agreement, the Employee’s employment under this Employment Agreement shall terminate upon his death and may be terminated by the Company upon giving not less than thirty (30) days written notice to the Employee in the event that the Employee, because of physical or mental disability or incapacity, is unable (notwithstanding reasonable accommodations) to perform (or, in the opinion of a physician, is

6 reasonably expected to be unable to perform) his duties hereunder for an aggregate of one hundred eighty (180) days during any twelve-month period (“Disabled”). All questions arising with respect to whether the Employee is Disabled shall be determined by a reputable physician mutually selected by the Company and the Employee at the time such question arises. If the Company and the Employee cannot agree upon the selection of a physician within a period of seven (7) days after such question arises, then the Chief of Staff of Good Samaritan Hospital in Palm Beach County, Florida shall be asked to select a physician to make such determination. The determination of the physician selected pursuant to the above provisions of this Section 4(e) as to such matters shall be conclusively binding upon the parties hereto. (f) Termination without Cause or resignation for Good Reason on or following a Change of Control. (i) Subject to the execution, delivery and non-revocation of a general release of claims against the Company as provided under Section 4(b) hereof, if, prior to the expiration of the Employment Term, the Company terminates the Employee’s employment without Cause or the Employee resigns his employment for Good Reason on or prior to the second anniversary following the consummation of a Change of Control, the Employee shall receive: (1) the Severance Benefits (provided that the Severance Benefits shall be payable in a single lump sum within five days following such termination of employment); (2) the Continued Health Benefits; (3) full and immediate vesting, to the extent not already vested, of all outstanding equity-based awards, including but not limited to stock options, restricted stock, and restricted stock unit awards, granted by the Company to the Employee pursuant to any of the Company’s long-term incentive plans; in addition, all outstanding performance share, performance share unit, and other equivalent awards granted
by the Company to the Employee pursuant to any of the Company’s long-term incentive plans shall immediately vest at their respective target performance levels to the extent not already vested; and (4) a pro-rata bonus equal to (x) the greater of (i) the average amount of the annual bonus paid to the Employee for each of the three fiscal years immediately prior to the fiscal year in which the “Separation from Service” (as defined under Section 409A of the Code, “Section 409A”) occurs or (ii) the annual bonus the Employee would have earned for the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs based on performance as determined through the date of the Separation from Service, multiplied by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days worked during the fiscal year in which the Separation from Service occurs and the denominator of which is 365 (the “Pro-Rata Annual Bonus”), payable in a single lump sum within five days; provided, however, that if such Separation from Service occurs in the same fiscal year as the Change in Control and the Employee is paid an annual bonus for such year in connection with the Change in Control, the fraction shall be adjusted so that the numerator reflects the number of days worked during the fiscal year following the Change in Control and the denominator reflects the number of days in the fiscal year following the Change in Control. In addition, if the Company terminates the Employee’s employment without Cause or the Employee resigns from his employment for Good Reason on or following the consummation of a Change of Control prior to payment to the Employee of the second installment of the Cash Sign-on Bonus amount described in Section 3(c), the Company shall pay the Employee that installment on the next regularly scheduled Company payroll date following the execution and non-revocation of the general release of claims. (ii) A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have
occurred with respect to the Company upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

7 (A) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 20% of the total outstanding voting stock of the Company, excluding, however, (1) any acquisition directly from the Company, other than an acquisition by virtue of the exercise of a conversion privilege unless the security being so converted was itself acquired directly from the Company; (2) any acquisition by the Company; or (3) any acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any entity controlled by the Company; (B) the individuals who constitute the Board as of the Effective Date (the “Incumbent Board”) cease to constitute a majority of the Board; provided, however, (1) that if the nomination or election of any new director of the Company was approved by a majority of the Incumbent Board, such new director shall be deemed a member of the Incumbent Board and (2) that no individual shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board if such individual initially assumed office as a result of either an actual or threatened “Election Contest” (as described in Rule 14a-11 promulgated under the Exchange Act) or as a result of a solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of any “person” or “group” identified in clause (A) above; (C) a reorganization of the Company or the Company consolidates with, or merges with or into another person or entity or conveys, transfers, leases or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of its assets to any person or entity, or any person or entity consolidates with or merges with or into the Company; provided, however, that any such transaction shall not constitute a Change of Control if (1) the shareholders
of the Company immediately before such transaction own, directly or indirectly, immediately following such transaction in excess of 50% of the combined voting power of the outstanding voting securities of the corporation or other person or entity resulting from such transaction, (2) no “person” or “group” owns 20% or more of the outstanding voting securities of the corporation or other person or entity resulting from such transaction, and (3) a majority of the Incumbent Board remains; or (D) the approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company. (iii) Resignation for “Good Reason” shall mean termination of employment by the Employee because of the occurrence of any of the following events: (A) a failure by the Company to pay compensation or benefits due and payable to the Employee in accordance with the terms of this Employment Agreement; (B) a material adverse change in the assignment of duties or responsibilities inconsistent with those duties and responsibilities as set forth in Section 1 of this Employment Agreement; (C) a relocation of the Company’s principal office by more than 25 miles from Palm Beach Gardens, Florida without the Employee’s consent; (D) a failure by the Company to obtain agreement by a successor to assume this Employment Agreement in accordance with Section 10(b); or

8 (E) the Company’s material breach of this Agreement, after written notice by the Employee to the Company and the Company’s failure to cure such breach within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice. 5. Limitations on Severance Payment and Other Payments or Benefits. (a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Employment Agreement, if any portion of the severance payments or any other payment under this Employment Agreement, or under any other agreement with the Employee or plan or arrangement of the Company or its affiliates (in the aggregate, “Total Payments”), would constitute an “Excess Parachute Payment” (as defined in Section 5(c) hereof) and would, but for this Section 5, result in the imposition on the Employee of an excise tax under Code Section 4999 (the “Excise Tax”), then the Total Payments to be made to the Employee shall either be (i) delivered in full, or (ii) delivered in the greatest amount such that no portion of such Total Payment would be subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing results in the receipt by the Employee of the greatest benefit on an after-tax basis (taking into account the Employee’s actual marginal rate of federal, state and local income taxation and the Excise Tax). (b) Within thirty (30) days following the Employee’s termination of employment or notice by one party to the other of its belief that there is a payment or benefit due the Employee that will result in an Excess Parachute Payment, the Company, at the Company’s expense, shall select a nationally recognized certified public accounting firm (which will not be the Company’s independent auditors) (“Accounting Firm”) reasonably acceptable to the Employee, to determine (i) the Base Amount (as defined in Section 5(c) hereof), (ii) the amount and present value of the Total Payments, (iii) the amount and present value of any Excess Parachute Payments determined without regard to any reduction of Total Payments pursuant to Section
5(a), and (iv) the after-tax proceeds to the Employee, taking into account the tax imposed under Code Section 4999 if (x) the Total Payments were reduced in accordance with Section 5(a) or (y) the Total Payments were not so reduced. If the Accounting Firm determines that Section 5(a)(ii) above applies, then the payments hereunder or any other payment or benefit determined by such Accounting Firm to be includable in Total Payments shall be reduced or eliminated so that there will be no Excess Parachute Payment. In such event, payments or benefits included in the Total Payments shall be reduced or eliminated by applying the following principles, in order: (1) the payment or benefit with the later possible payment date shall be reduced or eliminated before a payment or benefit with an earlier payment date; and (2) cash payments shall be reduced prior to non-cash benefits, provided that if the foregoing order of reduction or elimination would violate Section 409A, then the reduction shall be made pro-rata among the payments or benefits included in the Total Payments (on the basis of the relative present value of the “Parachute Payments”, as defined in Section 5(c) hereof). (c) For purposes of this Employment Agreement: (i) the terms “Excess Parachute Payment” and “Parachute Payments” shall have the meanings assigned to them in Code Section 280G and such Parachute Payments shall be valued as provided therein; (ii) present value shall be calculated in accordance with Code Section 280G(d)(4); (iii) the term “Base Amount” means an amount equal to the Employee’s “annualized includible compensation for the base period” as defined in Code Section 280G(d)(1); (iv) for purposes of the determination by the Accounting Firm, the value of any noncash benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall

9 be determined in accordance with the principles of Code Sections 280G(d)(3) and (4) and (v) the Employee shall be deemed to pay federal income tax and employment taxes at his actual marginal rate of federal income and employment taxation, and state and local income taxes at his actual marginal rate of taxation in the state or locality of the Employee’s domicile (determined in both cases in the calendar year in which the termination of employment or notice described in Section 5(b) above is given, whichever is earlier), net of the maximum reduction in federal income taxes that may be obtained from the deduction of such state and local taxes. The covenants set forth in Sections 6, 7, and 8 of this Employment Agreement have substantial value to the Company and a portion of any Total Payments made to the Employee are in consideration of such covenants. For purposes of calculating the Excess Parachute Payment and the Parachute Payments, the parties intend that an amount equal to not less than the Employee’s highest annual base salary during the twelve (12) month period immediately prior to his termination of employment shall be in consideration of the covenants in Sections 6, 7, and 8 below. The Accounting Firm shall consider all relevant factors in appraising the fair value of such covenants and in determining the amount of the Total Payments that shall not be considered to be a Parachute Payment or Excess Parachute Payment. The determination of the Accounting Firm shall be addressed to the Company and the Employee and such determination shall be binding upon the Company and the Employee. (d) This Section 5 shall be amended to comply with any amendment or successor provision to Sections 280G or 4999 of the Code. 6. Confidentiality. (a) Confidential Information. (i) The Employee agrees that during his employment with the Company for any reason and for a period of five years following his Separation from Service, he will not
at any time, except with the prior written consent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates (collectively, the “Company Group”) or as required by law, directly or indirectly, reveal to any person, entity or other organization (other than any member of the Company Group or its respective employees, officers, directors, shareholders or agents) or use for the Employee’s own benefit any information deemed to be confidential by any member of the Company Group (“Confidential Information”) relating to the assets, liabilities, employees, goodwill, business or affairs of any member of the Company Group, including, without limitation, any information concerning customers, business plans, marketing data, or other confidential information known to the Employee by reason of the Employee’s employment by, shareholdings in or other association with any member of the Company Group; provided that such Confidential Information does not include any information which (x) is available to the general public or is generally available within the relevant business or industry other than as a result of the Employee’s action or (y) is or becomes available to the Employee after his Separation from Service on a non-confidential basis from a third-party source provided that such third-party source is not bound by a confidentiality agreement or any other obligation of confidentiality. Confidential Information may be in any medium or form, including, without limitation, physical documents, computer files or disks, videotapes, audiotapes, and oral communications.

10 (ii) In the event that the Employee becomes legally compelled to disclose any Confidential Information, the Employee shall provide the Company with prompt written notice so that the Company may seek a protective order or other appropriate remedy. In the event that such protective order or other remedy is not obtained, the Employee shall furnish only that portion of such Confidential Information or take only such action as is legally required by binding order and shall exercise his reasonable efforts to obtain reliable assurance that confidential treatment shall be accorded any such Confidential Information. The Company shall promptly pay (upon receipt of invoices and any other documentation as may be requested by the Company) all reasonable expenses and fees incurred by the Employee, including attorneys’ fees, in connection with his compliance with the immediately preceding sentence. (b) Exclusive Property. The Employee confirms that all Confidential Information is and shall remain the exclusive property of the Company Group. All business records, papers and documents kept or made by the Employee relating to the business of the Company Group shall be and remain the property of the Company Group. Upon the request and at the expense of the Company Group, the Employee shall promptly make all disclosures, execute all instruments and papers and perform all acts reasonably necessary to vest and confirm in the Company Group, fully and completely, all rights created or contemplated by this Section 6. (c) Protected Conduct. Nothing contained in this Employment Agreement or any other agreement between the Employee and the Company, shall limit the Employee’s ability to file a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any other federal, state, or local governmental
agency or commission (each, a “Government Agency”). Neither this Employment Agreement nor any other agreement between the Employee and the Company, shall limit the Employee’s ability to communicate with any Government Agency or otherwise participate in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Government Agency, including providing documents or other information to a Government Agency that is Confidential Information or a trade secret, without advance approval from or notice to the Company; provided, however, that any disclosure must be limited to only the information reasonably necessary to make reports and respond to any Government Agency. In addition, nothing in this Employment Agreement or any other agreement between the Employee and the Company shall be construed to prohibit the Employee from using Confidential Information to the extent necessary to exercise any legally protected whistleblower rights (including pursuant to Rule 21F under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) or to limit or eliminate the Employee’s right to receive an award from a Government Agency for information provided to a Government Agency, and the Company may not, and will not, retaliate against the Employee if the Employee chooses in good faith to notify, report to, or file a charge or complaint with, any Government Agency or otherwise participate in any investigation or proceeding. (d) DTSA. The Employee acknowledges that, pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, an individual may not be held liable under any criminal or civil federal or state trade secret law for disclosure of a trade secret (i) made in confidence to a government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii) in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit

11 or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal or (iii) made to his or her attorney or used in a court proceeding in an anti-retaliation lawsuit based on the reporting of a suspected violation of law, so long as any document containing the trade secret is filed under seal and the individual does not disclose the trade secret except pursuant to court order. 7. Noncompetition. The Employee agrees that during his employment with the Company and for a period commencing on the Employee’s Separation from Service and ending on the first anniversary of the Employee’s Separation from Service (the “Restricted Period”), the Employee shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly, and whether as principal or investor or as an employee, officer, director, manager, partner, consultant, agent or otherwise, alone or in association with any other person, firm, corporation or other business organization, carry on a business competitive with the Company in any geographic area in which the Company Group has engaged in business, or is reasonably expected to engage in business during such Restricted Period (including, without limitation, any area in which any customer of the Company Group may be located); provided, however, that nothing herein shall limit the Employee’s right to own not more than 1% of any of the debt or equity securities of any business organization. 8. Non-Solicitation. The Employee agrees that, during his employment and for the Restricted Period, the Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, other than in connection with the proper performance of his duties in his capacity as an executive of the Company, (a) interfere with or attempt to interfere with any relationship between the Company Group and any of its employees and, if they devote a substantial portion of their services to the Company Group, consultants and independent contractors, (b) employ, hire or otherwise engage, or attempt to employ, hire
or otherwise engage, any current or former employee and, if they devote a substantial portion of their services to the Company Group, consultant or independent contractor, of the Company Group in a business competitive with the Company Group, (c) solicit the business or accounts of the Company Group or (d) divert or attempt to direct from the Company Group any business or interfere with any relationship between the Company Group and any of its clients, suppliers, customers or other business relations. As used herein, the term “indirectly” shall include, without limitation, the Employee’s permitting the use of the Employee’s name by any competitor of any member of the Company Group to induce or interfere with any employee or business relationship of any member of the Company Group. 9. Reservation of Invention Rights. The Employee acknowledges notification that this Employment Agreement does not require the Employee to assign or offer to assign to the Company any of the Employee’s rights in any invention developed by the Employee entirely on the Employee’s own time without using the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information, except for those inventions that either (i) relate, at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention, to the Company’s business, or the Company’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; or (ii) result from any work performed by Employee for the Company. To the extent the Employee developed inventions prior to the Employee’s employment with the Company, the Employee has listed any such inventions on the attached Exhibit B, and expressly reserves the Employee’s rights in those such inventions.

12 10. Assignment and Succession. (a) The services to be rendered and obligations to be performed by the Employee under this Employment Agreement shall not be assignable or transferable. (b) This Employment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon and enforceable by the Company and the Employee and their respective successors, permitted assigns, heirs, legal representatives, executors, and administrators. If the Company shall be merged into or consolidated with another entity, the provisions of this Employment Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the entity surviving such merger or resulting from such consolidation. The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to expressly assume and agree to perform this Employment Agreement in the same manner that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. The provisions of this Section 10(b) shall continue to apply to each subsequent Company of the Employee hereunder in the event of any subsequent merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets of such subsequent Company. 11. Notices. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by delivery in person or by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 11): if to the Company: Dycom Industries, Inc. 11780 US Highway 1, Suite 600 Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33408 Attention: President if to the Employee: To Employee’s home address most recently communicated to the Company. 12. Waiver of Breach. (a) The waiver by the Company or the Employee of a breach of any provision of this
Employment Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver by such party of any subsequent breach. (b) The parties hereto recognize that the laws and public policies of various jurisdictions may differ as to the validity and enforceability of covenants similar to those set forth herein. It is the intention of the parties that the provisions hereof be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the laws and policies of each jurisdiction in which enforcement may be

13 sought, and that the unenforceability (or the modification to conform to such laws or policies) of any provisions hereof shall not render unenforceable, or impair, the remainder of the provisions hereof. Accordingly, if, at the time of enforcement of any provision hereof, an arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction holds that the restrictions stated herein are unreasonable under circumstances then existing, the parties hereto agree that the maximum period, scope or geographic area reasonable under such circumstances will be substituted for the stated period, scope or geographical area and that such arbitrator or court shall be allowed to revise the restrictions contained herein to cover the maximum period, scope and geographical area permitted by law. 13. Amendment. This Employment Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument signed by the parties hereto. 14. Full Settlement. The Company’s obligation to pay the Employee the amounts required by this Employment Agreement shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstances, including, without limitation, any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which the Company may have against the Employee or anyone else. All payments and benefits to which the Employee is entitled under this Employment Agreement shall be made and provided without offset, deduction, or mitigation on account of income that the Employee may receive from employment from the Company or otherwise. 15. Certain Remedies. (a) Injunctive Relief. Without intending to limit the remedies available to the Company Group, the Employee agrees that a breach of any of the covenants contained in Sections 6 through 9 of this Employment Agreement may result in material and irreparable injury to the Company Group for which there is no adequate remedy at law, that it will not be possible to measure damages for such injuries precisely and that, in the event of such a
breach or threat thereof, any member of the Company Group shall be entitled to seek a temporary restraining order or a preliminary or permanent injunction, or both, without bond or other security, restraining the Employee from engaging in activities prohibited by the covenants contained in Sections 6 through 9 of this Employment Agreement or such other relief as may be required specifically to enforce any of the covenants contained in this Employment Agreement. Such injunctive relief in any court shall be available to the Company Group in lieu of, or prior to or pending determination in, any arbitration proceeding. (b) Extension of Restriction Period. In addition to the remedies the Company may seek and obtain pursuant to this Section 15(b) the Restricted Period shall be extended by any and all periods during which the Employee shall be found by a court or arbitrator possessing personal jurisdiction over him to have been in violation of the covenants contained in Sections 7 and 8 of this Employment Agreement. 16. Other Severance. In consideration for the payments and benefits to be made to the Employee under this Employment Agreement, the Employee agrees to waive any and all rights to any payments or benefits under any other severance plan, program or arrangement of the Company.

14 17. Governing Law; Jurisdiction and Service of Process. This Employment Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State. 18. Partial Invalidity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision. 19. Withholding. The payment of any amount pursuant to this Employment Agreement shall be subject to applicable withholding and payroll taxes, and such other deductions as may be required under the Company’s employee benefit plans, if any. 20. Counterparts. This Employment Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instruments. 21. Entire Agreement. All prior negotiations and agreements between the parties hereto with respect to the matters contained herein are superseded by this Employment Agreement, and there are no representations, warranties, understandings or agreements other than those expressly set forth herein. The Company and the Employee acknowledge that the parties will enter into other agreements in connection with this Employment Agreement, including, without limitation, an indemnification agreement, a confidentiality and inventions agreement, and an equity award agreement. 22. Headings. The headings of sections herein are included solely for convenience of reference and shall not control the meaning or interpretation of any of the provisions of this Employment Agreement. 23. Arbitration. Subject to Section 15(a) hereof, any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Employment Agreement or otherwise in connection with the Employee’s employment by the Company that cannot be mutually resolved by the parties to this Employment Agreement and their respective advisors and representatives shall be settled exclusively
by arbitration in Palm Beach County, Florida in accordance with the commercial rules of the American Arbitration Association before one arbitrator of exemplary qualifications and stature, who shall be selected jointly by an individual to be designated by the Company and an individual to be selected by the Employee, or if such two individuals cannot agree on the selection of the arbitrator, who shall be selected by the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereon. 24. Survival of Certain Provisions. The rights and obligations set forth in this Employment Agreement that, by their terms, extend beyond the Term shall survive the Term. 25. Section 409A. (a) General. This Employment Agreement is intended to meet the requirements of Section 409A and shall be interpreted and construed consistent with that intent. (b) Deferred Compensation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Employment Agreement, to the extent that the right to any payment (including the provision of

15 benefits) hereunder provides for the “deferral of compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A(d)(1), the payment shall be paid (or provided) in accordance with the following: (i) Notwithstanding anything in this Employment Agreement to the contrary, if at the time of the Employee’s termination of employment, he is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409(A)(a)(2)(B)(i), as determined under the Company’s established methodology for determining “specified employees”, then no payments or amounts under this Employment Agreement shall be made or commence during the period beginning on the date of the Employee’s termination of employment and ending on the date that is six months following the Employee’s termination of employment or, if earlier, on the date of the Employee’s death, unless such payments or amounts are payable earlier under an applicable exemption to the six- month delay rule of Section 409A. The amount of any payment that would otherwise be paid to the Employee during this period and was not paid shall instead be paid to Employee on the fifteenth day of the first calendar month following the end of the period (“Delayed Payment Date”). If payment of an amount is delayed as a result of this Section 25(b)(i), such amount shall be increased with interest from the date on which such amount would otherwise have been paid to the Employee but for this Section 25(b)(i) to the day prior to the Delayed Payment Date. The rate of interest shall be compounded monthly, at the prime rate as published by Citibank NA for the month in which occurs the date of the Employee’s Separation from Service. Such interest shall be paid on the Delayed Payment Date. (ii) If any amount owed to the Employee under this Employment Agreement is considered for purposes of Section 409A to be owed to the Employee by virtue of his termination of employment, such amount shall be paid if and only if such termination
constitutes a Separation from Service with the Company, determined using the default provisions set forth in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-1(h) or any successor regulation thereto. (iii) Notwithstanding anything in this Employment Agreement to the contrary, payments with respect to reimbursements of expenses shall be made in accordance with Company policy and in no event later than the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the relevant expense is incurred. The amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other calendar year. (iv) For purposes of Section 409A, the Employee’s right to receive any installment payments pursuant to this Employment Agreement shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments. 26. Source of Payments. All payments provided under this Employment Agreement, other than payments made pursuant to a plan which provides otherwise, shall be paid in cash from the general funds of the Company, and no special or separate fund shall be established, and no other segregation of assets shall be made, to assure payment. The Employee shall have no right, title or interest whatsoever in or to any investments which the Company may make to aid the Company in meeting its obligations hereunder. To the extent that any person acquires a right to receive payments from the Company hereunder, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured creditor of the Company.

16 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Employment Agreement as of the date set forth above. EMPLOYEE Name: Daniel S. Peyovich DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. a Florida corporation By: Name: Steven E. Nielsen Title: President and CEO

EXHIBIT A FORM OF WAIVER AND MUTUAL RELEASE This Waiver and Mutual Release, dated as of _______________, (this “Release”) by and between Daniel S. Peyovich (the “Executive”) and Dycom Industries, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”). WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company are parties to an Employment Agreement, dated January 6, 2021 (the “Employment Agreement”), which provided for the Executive’s employment on the terms and conditions specified therein; and WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 4(b) and 4(f) of the Employment Agreement, the Executive has agreed to execute and deliver a release and waiver of claims of the type and nature set forth herein as a condition to his entitlement to certain payments and benefits upon his termination of employment with the Company effective as of _____________ (the “Effective Date”). NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual promises herein contained and for other good and valuable consideration received or to be received in accordance with the terms of the Employment Agreement, the Executive and the Company agree as follows: 1. Return of Property. On or prior to the Effective Date, the Executive represents and warrants that he will return all property made available to him in connection with his service to the Company, including, without limitation, credit cards, any and all records, manuals, reports, papers and documents kept or made by the Executive in connection with his employment as an officer or employee of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates, all computer hardware or software, cellular phones, files, memoranda, correspondence, vendor and customer lists, financial data, keys and security access cards. 2. Executive Release. (a) In consideration of the payments and benefits provided to the Executive under the Employment Agreement and after consultation with counsel, the Executive and each of the Executive’s
respective heirs, executors, administrators, representatives, agents, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Executive Parties”) hereby irrevocably and unconditionally release and forever discharge the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates and each of their respective officers, employees, directors, shareholders and agents (“Company Parties”) from any and all claims, actions, causes of action, rights, judgments, obligations, damages, demands, accountings or liabilities of whatever kind or character (collectively, “Claims”), including, without limitation, any Claims under any federal, state, local or foreign law, that the Executive Parties may have, or in the future may possess, arising out of (i) the Executive’s employment relationship with and service as an employee, officer or director of the Company, and the termination of such relationship or service, and (ii) any event, condition, circumstance or obligation that occurred, existed or arose on or prior to the date hereof; provided, however, that the Executive does not release, discharge or waive (i) any rights to payments and benefits

provided under the Employment Agreement that are contingent upon the execution by the Executive of this Release, (ii) any right the Executive may have to enforce this Release or the Employment Agreement, (iii) the Executive’s eligibility for indemnification in accordance with the Company’s certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other corporate governance document, or any applicable insurance policy, with respect to any liability he incurred or might incur as an employee, officer or director of the Company, or (iv) any claims for accrued, vested benefits under any long-term incentive, employee benefit or retirement plan of the Company subject to the terms and conditions of such plan and applicable law including, without limitation, any such claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. (b) Whistleblower Rights. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Executive has the right under U.S. federal law to certain protections for cooperating with or reporting legal violations to the Securities and Exchange Commission and/or its Office of the Whistleblower, as well as certain other governmental entities. No provisions in this Release are intended to prohibit the Executive from disclosing this Release to, or from cooperating with or reporting violations to, the SEC or any other such governmental entity, and the Executive may do so without disclosure to the Company. The Company may not retaliate against Executive for any of these activities. Further, nothing in this Release precludes the Executive from filing a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a like charge or complaint with a state or local fair employment practice agency. The Company may not retaliate against Executive for any of these activities, and nothing in this Release would require Executive to waive any monetary award or other payment that Executive might become entitled to from any such governmental entity.
(c) DTSA. The Executive acknowledges that, pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, an individual may not be held liable under any criminal or civil federal or state trade secret law for disclosure of a trade secret (i) made in confidence to a government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii) in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal or (iii) made to his or her attorney or used in a court proceeding in an anti-retaliation lawsuit based on the reporting of a suspected violation of law, so long as any document containing the trade secret is filed under seal and the individual does not disclose the trade secret except pursuant to court order. (d) Executive’s Specific Release of ADEA Claims. In further consideration of the payments and benefits provided to the Executive under the Employment Agreement, the Executive Parties hereby unconditionally release and forever discharge the Company Parties from any and all Claims that the Executive Parties may have as of the date the Executive signs this Release arising under the Federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (“ADEA”). By signing this Release, the Executive hereby acknowledges and confirms the following: (i) the Executive was advised by the Company in connection with his termination to consult with an attorney of his choice prior to signing this Release and to have such attorney explain to the Executive the terms of this Release, including, without limitation, the terms relating to the Executive’s release of claims arising under ADEA, and the Executive has in fact consulted with an attorney; (ii) the Executive was given a period of not fewer than 21 days to consider the terms of this Release and to consult with an attorney of his choosing with respec
thereto; and (iii) the

Executive knowingly and voluntarily accepts the terms of this Release. The Executive also understands that he has seven (7) days following the date on which he signs this Release (the “Revocation Period”) within which to revoke the release contained in this paragraph, by providing the Company a written notice of his revocation of the release and waiver contained in this paragraph. No such revocation by the Executive shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the Executive and received by the Company prior to the expiration of the Revocation Period. 3. Company Release. The Company for itself and on behalf of the Company Parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally release and forever discharge the Executive Parties from any and all Claims , including, without limitation, any Claims under any federal, state, local or foreign law, that the Company Parties may have, or in the future may possess, arising out of (i) the Executive’s employment relationship with and service as an employee, officer or director of the Company, and the termination of such relationship or service, and (ii) any event, condition, circumstance or obligation that occurred, existed or arose on or prior to the date hereof, excepting any Claim which would constitute or result from conduct by the Executive that would constitute a crime under applicable state or federal law; provided, however, notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, nothing herein shall be deemed to release the Executive Parties from (A) any rights or claims of the Company arising out of or attributable to (i) the Executive’s actions or omissions involving or arising from fraud, deceit, theft or intentional or grossly negligent violations of law, rule or statute while employed by the Company and (ii) the Executive’s actions or omissions taken or not taken in bad faith with respect to the Company; and (B) the Executive or any other Executive Party’s obligations under this Release or the Employment
Agreement. 4. No Assignment. The parties represent and warrant that they have not assigned any of the Claims being released under this Release. 5. Proceedings. The parties represent and warrant that they have not filed, and they agree not to initiate or cause to be initiated on their behalf, any complaint, charge, claim or proceeding against the other party before any local, state or federal agency, court or other body relating to the Executive’s employment or the termination thereof, other than with respect to any claim that is not released hereunder including with respect to the obligations of the Company to the Executive and the Executive to the Company under the Employment Agreement (each, individually, a “Proceeding”), and each party agrees not to participate voluntarily in any Proceeding. The parties waive any right they may have to benefit in any manner from any relief (whether monetary or otherwise) arising out of any Proceeding. 6. Remedies. (a) Each of the parties understand that by entering into this Release such party will be limiting the availability of certain remedies that such party may have against the other party and limiting also such party’s ability to pursue certain claims against the other party. (b) Each of the parties acknowledge and agree that the remedy at law available to such party for breach of any of the obligations under this Release would be inadequate and that damages flowing from such a breach may not readily be susceptible to being

measured in monetary terms. Accordingly, each of the parties acknowledge, consent and agree that, in addition to any other rights or remedies that such party may have at law or in equity, such party shall be entitled to seek a temporary restraining order or a preliminary or permanent injunction, or both, restraining the other party from breaching its obligations under this Release. Such injunctive relief in any court shall be available to the relevant party, in lieu of, or prior to or pending determination in, any arbitration proceeding. 7. Cooperation. From and after the Effective Date, the Executive shall cooperate in all reasonable respects with the Company and their respective directors, officers, attorneys and experts in connection with the conduct of any action, proceeding, investigation or litigation involving the Company, including any such action, proceeding, investigation or litigation in which the Executive is called to testify. 8. Unfavorable Comments. (a) Public Comments by the Executive. The Executive agrees to refrain from making, directly or indirectly, now or at any time in the future, whether in writing, orally or electronically: (i) any derogatory comment concerning the Company or any of their current or former directors, officers, employees or shareholders, or (ii) any other comment that could reasonably be expected to be detrimental to the business or financial prospects or reputation of the Company. (b) Public Comments by the Company. The Company agrees to use reasonable efforts to cause its directors and employees to refrain from making, directly or indirectly, now or at any time in the future, whether in writing, orally or electronically: (i) any derogatory comment concerning the Executive, or (ii) any other comment that could reasonably be expected to be detrimental to the Executive’s business or financial prospects or reputation. 9. Severability Clause. In the event any provision or part of this Release is found to be invalid or unenforceable,
only that particular provision or part so found, and not the entire Release, will be inoperative. 10. Nonadmission. Nothing contained in this Release will be deemed or construed as an admission of wrongdoing or liability on the part of the Company or the Executive. 11. Governing Law. All matters affecting this Release, including the validity thereof, are to be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Florida applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State. 12. Arbitration. Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Release shall be resolved in accordance with Section 23 of the Employment Agreement. 13. Notices. All notices or communications hereunder shall be made in accordance with Section 11 of the Employment Agreement:

THE EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS READ THIS RELEASE AND THAT HE FULLY KNOWS, UNDERSTANDS AND APPRECIATES ITS CONTENTS, AND THAT HE HEREBY EXECUTES THE SAME AND MAKES THIS RELEASE AND THE RELEASE AND RELEASES PROVIDED FOR HEREIN VOLUNTARILY AND OF HIS OWN FREE WILL. [remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Release as of the date first set forth above. DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC. By: Name: Title: EXECUTIVE Daniel S. Peyovich

EXHIBIT B Prior Inventions Disclosure. The following is a complete list of all inventions referenced in Section 9 of the Employment Agreement.

None.

See immediately below:

Exhibit 21.1

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC.
The following table sets forth the Registrant’s principal subsidiaries and the jurisdiction of incorporation of each. Each subsidiary is 100% owned by the Registrant or its subsidiaries.
Subsidiary
Jurisdiction
Ansco & Associates, LLC
Delaware
Blair Park Services, LLC
Delaware
Broadband Express, LLC
Delaware
C-2 Utility Contractors, LLC
Delaware
CableCom, LLC
Delaware
Cavo Broadband Communications, LLC
Delaware
CertusView Technologies, LLC
Delaware
Communications Construction Group, LLC
Delaware
Dycom Capital Management, Inc.
Delaware
Dycom Corporate Identity, Inc.
Delaware
Dycom Identity, LLC
Delaware
Dycom Investments, Inc.
Delaware
Engineering Associates, LLC
Georgia
Ervin Cable Construction, LLC
Delaware
Fiber Technologies Solutions, LLC
Delaware
Globe Communications, LLC
North Carolina
Golden State Utility Co.
Delaware
Ivy H. Smith Company, LLC
Delaware
Kanaan Communications, LLC
Delaware
Lambert’s Cable Splicing Company, LLC
Delaware
Locating, Inc.
Washington
NeoCom Solutions, LLC
Georgia
Nichols Construction, LLC
Delaware
Niels Fugal Sons Company, LLC
Delaware
North Sky Communications, LLC
Delaware
Parkside Site & Utility Company Corporation
Delaware
Parkside Utility Construction, LLC
Delaware
Pauley Construction, LLC
Arizona
Precision Valley Communications of Vermont, LLC
Delaware
Prince Telecom, LLC
Delaware
Professional Teleconcepts, LLC
Illinois
Professional Teleconcepts, LLC
New York
RJE Telecom, LLC
Delaware
Sage Telecommunications Corp. of Colorado, LLC
Colorado
Star Construction, LLC
Delaware
TCS Communications, LLC
Delaware
TelCom Construction, LLC
Minnesota
Tesinc, LLC
Delaware
Texstar Enterprises, LLC
Texas
Tjader & Highstrom Utility Services, LLC
Delaware
Trawick Construction Company, LLC
Florida
Triple-D Communications, LLC
Delaware
UtiliQuest, LLC
Georgia
VCI Construction, LLC
Delaware
VCI Utility Services, LLC
Delaware
White Mountain Cable Construction, LLC
Delaware

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3ASR (No. 333-248445) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-153345, 333-117445, 333-191198, 333-221730, 333221732) of Dycom Industries, Inc. of our report dated March 5, 2021 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form
10‑K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Hallandale Beach, Florida
March 5, 2021

Exhibit 31.1

DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC.
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
RULES 13A-14(A) OR 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Steven E. Nielsen, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dycom Industries, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date:
March 5, 2021
/s/ Steven E. Nielsen
Steven E. Nielsen
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2

DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC.
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
RULES 13A-14(A) OR 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, H. Andrew DeFerrari, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dycom Industries, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date:
March 5, 2021
/s/ H. Andrew DeFerrari
H. Andrew DeFerrari
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC.
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Dycom Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending January 30, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned hereby certifies that to the best of his knowledge:
1.
2.
Date:

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
March 5, 2021

/s/ Steven E. Nielsen
Steven E. Nielsen
President and Chief Executive Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, has
been provided to Dycom Industries, Inc. and will be retained by Dycom Industries, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This certification will not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 even if the document with which it is submitted to the Securities and
Exchange Commission is so incorporated by reference.

Exhibit 32.2

DYCOM INDUSTRIES, INC.
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Dycom Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending January 30, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned hereby certifies that to the best of his knowledge:
1.
2.
Date:

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
March 5, 2021

/s/ H. Andrew DeFerrari
H. Andrew DeFerrari
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, has
been provided to Dycom Industries, Inc. and will be retained by Dycom Industries, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This certification will not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 even if the document with which it is submitted to the Securities and
Exchange Commission is so incorporated by reference.

